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Highlights of the year
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H i g h l i g h t s  o f  t h e  y e a rH i g h l i g h t s  o f  t h e  y e a r

March 2007

Buy out of BAE Systems’ 50%
share in partnerships
Xchanging buys out BAE Systems’
share in the HR and procurement
business processing partnerships for
£57 million – proving the unique
Enterprise Partnership value 
creation lifecycle.

March 2007

The Oxford and Cambridge Boat Race
Xchanging renewed its commitment to
sponsor this world-class event for five 
more years. The intense rivalry and will 
to win captures the attention of millions
around the world.

November 2007

Xchanging Insurance Market Conference
Xchanging hosted the London Market’s
premier insurance conference for the seventh
consecutive year. Innovation to achieve 
world-class business processing is the
continuing theme.

April 2007

Xchanging floats and enters FTSE 250
Xchanging officially listed on the London Stock
Exchange in April 2007 and entered the 
FTSE 250 in June. Now we move forward with
the strength of public ownership backing us.

We have come a long way in eight years. Even in
our short history of rapid growth, 2007 has been
an exciting year for Xchanging…

November 2007

Partnership deal with Allianz Global
Investors
Xchanging won a €400 million, eight-year
contract to deliver business processing
services and cost savings to the German
business of one of the world’s top five asset
management groups.
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M e a s u r i n g  t h e  d r i v e r s  o f  o u r  b u s i n e s s

Measuring the drivers of our business

Key performance indicatorsl

1
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In our first year as a public company, we have continued to deliver
strong revenue growth while improving margins and maintaining 
strong cash flows. Due to the sizeable minority interests in our
Enterprise Partnerships, we track operating profits attributable to
Xchanging shareholders (XEBIT).

19.0%
Revenue growth

42.5%
XEBIT growth

+120 basis points

XEBIT margin growth

128%
Cash conversion

10.5p
Pro forma EPS ¥

2.0p
2007 dividend (per share)

Xchanging has a track record of rapid growth – the
compound annual growth rate of 37% since 2003
demonstrates clear out-performance of the underlying market.

We have achieved strong profit growth over the last few
years and XEBIT is up by 42.5% in 2007 over 2006.

XEBIT* (£ million)
CAGR (2004 – 07) 52%

Operating cash flow has been strong with cash 
generated from operations increasing by 68.9% 
to £49.7 million in 2007. 

Margin has increased by 120 basis points in 2007, through
productivity improvement, buying out the BAE Systems’
partnerships and leveraging administrative costs.

Cash generated from operations and 
cash conversion (£ million, %)©

XEBIT* margin (%)
(2004 – 07) +320 basis points

Revenue growth (£ million)
CAGR (2003 – 07) 37%

Footnotes
l A full reconciliation to the statutory numbers can be found on page 24.
* XEBIT represents the adjusted operating profit attributable to equity holders of the Group. Adjusted operating profit

excludes exceptional items (which primarily comprise costs related to listing the Group on the London Stock Exchange,
IFRS 2 charges for a share gift from the CEO from his own personal shares, to all qualifying employees) and certain 
non-cash items, which comprise share-based payment charges of £0.5m (2006: £0.5m) and amortisation of intangible
assets previously unrecognised by acquired entities. A detailed reconciliation to statutory operating profit is provided 
on page 24.

u Cash conversion ratio, calculated as cash generated from operations divided by the Group’s adjusted operating profit
(see footnote* above).

¥ Pro forma diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the Group’s adjusted earnings (based on XPAT) by the weighted average
number of shares had the Group’s post IPO capital structure been in place from the beginning of 2007. This pro forma
number of shares was also applied to 2006 for consistency.
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Chairman’s statement
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I am delighted to present to you Xchanging’s first Annual Report and
Accounts as a public company. It has been an exciting year and we have
delivered a good set of results.

The basis of success
Founded in 1999 by David Andrews, our 
Chief Executive Officer, Xchanging has needed
four vital components for our success to date:
• Leadership
• Commitment and enthusiasm
• A valid business model
• Supportive long-term financial backers

In David, we have a proven leader, who has
chosen his team with great care. From the 
early beginnings to the current over 4,250
employees, our people have demonstrated
commitment and enthusiasm for the
Xchanging Way and our customers have
supported the original business model. 
We are also profoundly grateful to General
Atlantic LLC, our original investors, for their
support, advice and encouragement.

Our performance in 2007
In 2007, revenues increased 19.0% to 
£468.2 million. Adjusted operating profit
attributable to Xchanging (XEBIT*) increased
42.5% to £31.6 million and XEBIT margin
increased to 6.8%. Cash generated from
operations increased by 68.9% to £49.7 million.

In early 2007, we bought out BAE Systems’
minority holdings in our procurement and HR
services Enterprise Partnerships for £57 million.

We successfully listed on the London Stock
Exchange in April at 240p, the top of the
quoted price range, and raised £75 million of
primary capital. In June, we joined the FTSE
250 and at the year end our share price was
280p, an increase of 17% since listing.

Our most significant sales success this year
was the signing of the Group’s seventh
Enterprise Partnership (EP), a retail investment
account management partnership with Allianz
Global Investors in Germany. We have also 

had a number of other significant wins with
blue-chip customers.

Dividend
The Board recommends the payment of a
dividend of 2.0 pence per share payable on 
30 May 2008 to all shareholders on the share
register at the record date (2 May 2008).

Board changes
Friedrich Carl Janssen retired from the
Xchanging Board in December 2007. He has
been an important member of the Board and
his European market and German banking
knowledge has been invaluable.

John Bramley will be retiring from the Board at
the AGM in May 2008. He worked closely with
David Andrews in the formation of Xchanging.
David Hodgson will also be retiring from the
Board at the AGM. We wish them both well for
the future and thank them for their significant
contributions over their years on the Board.

I will also be stepping down from the Board 
at the next AGM. I will handover the
Chairmanship to Nigel Rich, our current Deputy
Chairman, who brings a wealth of public
company and international experience. The
Company will take the opportunity during 2008
to add further new independent directors.

I would like to thank David, the Board, the
management team and the Xchanging
employees for a most enjoyable nine years as
Chairman. May I wish Xchanging the very best
success in the next stage of its journey as a
FTSE 250 company and beyond.

John Robins
Chairman, Xchanging plc

John Robins
Chairman

Footnotes
* XEBIT represents the adjusted operating profit attributable to equity holders of the Group. Adjusted operating profit

excludes exceptional items and certain non-cash items, which comprise share-based payment charges of £0.5m (2006:
£0.5m) and amortisation of intangible assets previously unrecognised by acquired entities. A detailed reconciliation to
statutory operating profit is provided on page 24.
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Our aim is the radical improvement of business processing. We are a
powerful force for change, bringing better service, cost savings and an
entrepreneurial culture to everything we do. Hence our motto
‘Xchanging cost for profit’.

Our strategy
Xchanging cost for profit – is a tough
challenge, because we work for some of the
world’s most highly regarded organisations,
who set high performance benchmarks.
Increasingly, blue-chip companies are 
turning to Xchanging for delivering radical
improvements in their business processing.

Xchanging’s strategy is based on rapid growth
and highly efficient production. Growth is vital
for economies of scale and an international
footprint. Efficient production is essential to
meet customers’ demands for lower costs and
better quality of service, whilst at the same
time generating a fair return.

Rapid growth
We have grown rapidly since our birth in 1999.
This trend continued in 2007 across all our
businesses. We have consolidated our position
internationally in seven major countries. In
2008, we expect to add volume in these
countries. We are also targeting growth into
new geographies when the opportunity arises.

Customer service innovation
Xchanging brings a distinctive partnering
proposition for handling business processing
complexity. That’s why Aon chose us to be
their service provider. Complementing our
Partnering offering are our Outsourcing,
Products, Straight Through Processing and
Business Support offerings. During 2007, 
we have introduced new services, such as

technology infrastructure, and in 2008 we 
will continue to bring service innovation to 
our customers.

Europe provides a significant opportunity
for expansion
Germany is an important market for
Xchanging. In 2007, we added the Allianz
Global Investors retail investment account
management partnership to our existing
securities processing platform. Germany is
Europe’s largest economy where Xchanging
has established a leading position in business
process outsourcing (BPO). Banking and
insurance consolidation coupled with a
pressure to reduce costs point to the need for
radical improvement of business processing
that Xchanging offers. Other Continental
European expansion is encouraging, building
on our securities processing, asset
administration processing and procurement
strengths. In particular, we expect further
expansion in France in 2008, in addition to
our recent acquisition in January 2008 of
Mercuris SA, a Paris-based procurement
outsourcing services company.

Increasing US and Asian presence
In 2007, we achieved the first US
implementation of our broking software
product at Collins. With an established base 
of over 20 software products customers
throughout the USA, we have a firm base
from which to extend into our other business
processing offerings in 2008. Our insurance

David Andrews
Chief Executive Officer
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products business also extended into China
during 2007. We see opportunities to extend
our presence further during 2008 in the
world’s fastest growing regional economy.

Leading the way in commercial insurance
Xchanging continues to build on its strong
position in commercial insurance. We are
leading the move from paper-based to electronic
processing in the London insurance market.
Xchanging is now processing over 50% of in
scope claims and premiums electronically, and
we will see this increase in 2008. Spearheading
global insurance market reform has led us as 
far afield as Shanghai and Bermuda in 2007.
This momentum will accelerate in 2008.

Biggest in procurement in Europe and
consolidating HR in the UK
The 2007 Everest survey* placed Xchanging 
as the largest indirect spend procurement
operator in Europe, with a 30% market 
share in this most rapidly growing business
processing segment. In addition we have
made significant strides in growing our 
HR and payroll offerings to the NHS.

Low cost production – at the heart of 
our strategy
Our aim is long-term competitiveness and
increased profitability, through low cost
production for a given standard of service. 
At the heart of our strategy is the creation 
of world-class processing centres, operating 
in a standard manner. These include nearshore
centres such as Preston and Chatham in 
the UK and Hof in Germany, together with
offshore centres in India and Malaysia.

Global production
In 2007, we have proved how to transfer
complex processing workloads across our
centres internationally. For instance, we have

successfully transferred complex banking
securities processing from Germany and
insurance processing for the London insurance
market to our processing centre in India. In
2008, our expertise in balancing workloads
will enable us to maximise capacity usage,
thereby reducing costs while at the same time
improving service.

Processing innovation
Xchanging is a pioneer in how to optimise 
and standardise production. We formalise 
our know-how into the Xchanging Way 
– a comprehensive methodology for better,
cheaper business processing. Working in
harness with the Judge Business School,
Cambridge University, we are constantly
developing a combination of software and
production techniques to achieve productivity
and quality improvement.

Technology innovation
Xchanging is at the centre of the electronic
processing for complex insurance markets. 
In 2007, we introduced a fully electronic
claims handling environment for the London
insurance market which complies with the
new global Accord standards. This has
required close co-operation with the 400
London market participants, regulators and
other suppliers.

Our people make it happen
Radical improvement only happens if people
want it. At the heart of our ability to improve
processing is the skill and commitment of 
all our people. We have an extraordinarily
motivated group of people internationally. 
To mark the success of becoming a public
company and to foster a true entrepreneurial
spirit, we wanted all our employees to have
Xchanging shares to participate as owners of
the business. As a result, each qualifying

Our strategy

•Grow existing
platforms

•Add new
platforms

•Low cost
producer

7 countries
Where Xchanging has 
processing centres

4,255
Number of employees

30%
European market share in indirect
spend procurement

£75 million
New capital raised

€400 million
EP deal with Allianz Global Investors

£57 million
Buy out of the BAE Systems’
shareholding in the HR and
procurement partnerships

Footnotes
* Source: Everest Research Institute (2007). The market share for Europe has been calculated based on the signing region

of multi-process procurement outsourcing contracts signed as of August 2006.

Chief Executive’s review – continued
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employee received 200 shares in the Company
from my personal shareholding. The scheme
was a real success with a 95% uptake across
the UK, Germany, India, the United States,
France, Australia and Malaysia.

Investing in leadership and skills training
In 2007, our people education programme 
has delivered over 40 courses, with 8,000 
days of education. In support of this, we 
have conducted self training and work-place
training. 2007 saw the first full year of our
graduate programme which we are expanding
in 2008. Our second leadership training for
success programme was launched in 2007 and
promises to develop equally strong leaders.

In 2008, we are instigating a programme for
experienced executives as part of our active
plan for succession to the most senior
positions in Xchanging. We will also be adding
a productivity improvement training module
for production supervisors in support of the
Xchanging Way. We plan to enhance our
Xchanging values education and awareness
across our broadening international footprint.
All this, to develop our most important long-
term asset – our people.

Outlook and 2008 emphasis
The market for BPO is still in its infancy.
The size of outsourcing arrangements are
increasing as customers gain confidence in
BPO. So, the market outlook is encouraging,
and we can therefore look forward to
sustainable growth as companies look for 
cost and service advantage.

Becoming a public company and entering the
FTSE 250 in June 2007 was an important step
in our journey to become the leading global
pure play business processor. With the
successful flotation under our belt, we will

drive forward our international position in
2008, for the benefit of our shareholders,
staff, customers, suppliers and the
communities we operate in.

In conclusion, may I thank John Robins for 
his expert guidance as Chairman since
Xchanging’s earliest days, John Bramley who
helped found Xchanging, David Hodgson who
has supported us from inception and Friedrich
Carl Janssen for his counsel in Germany. In so
many ways we will miss the unstinting service
they have given to Xchanging over the years. 
I am most grateful to them as highly valued
business colleagues and friends for seeing us
through to the FTSE 250.

David Andrews
Chief Executive Officer, Xchanging plc

Xchanging milestones

1999

Xchanging founded by David Andrews.

2001-2003

The first Enterprise Partnership (EP)
with BAE Systems for HR services.

10 year EP with Lloyd’s and the
International Underwriting
Association.

10 year EP with BAE Systems for
procurement.

10 year EP with Lloyd’s for claims
administration.

2004-2005

Acquired RebusIS.

12 year EP with Deutsche Bank in
securities processing.

Outsourcing contracts with United
Biscuits, Boots the Chemists, Citi and 
Sal. Oppenheim.

2006

10 year EP with Aon Limited.

Acquired Landmark Consulting and
Ferguson Snell & Associates Ltd.

Outsourcing contracts with National
Australia Group Europe, Liberata and
BAE Systems Australia.

Partnership with University Hospital
Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust for
HR services to the NHS.

2007

Purchased BAE Systems’ 50%
Enterprise Partnership interests for
£57 million.

Listed on the London Stock Exchange
and entered the FTSE 250.

Seventh EP contract with Allianz
Global Investors.

Outsourcing contracts with SELEX
GALILEO for HR services and a
number of NHS Trusts.

Expansion of Insurance sector to
China and further into the USA.
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We provide a range of complex industry-specific processing
services to the insurance and financial markets, as well 
as procurement, finance and accounting, human resources
and technology infrastructure services to customers 
across industries.

The following pages illustrate the market opportunity, 
our plans for growth and our approach as a low cost
producer. These elements work together through 
our business sectors to ensure we become the world’s
leading pure play BPO company.

Our market opportunity

Sustainable high growth
The combined value of the
human resources, finance and
accounting, and procurement
BPO markets globally was
estimated to be US$36 billion
in 2007. This is forecast to
grow at 14.3% over the 
next four years.

Footnotes
¥ Source: IDC, “Worldwide and U.S. Business Process Outsourcing 2007– 2011 Forecast: Market Opportunities by

Horizontal Business Process”, Doc#208290, September 2007. The graph shows total spend for HR, procurement, 
and finance and accounting in the Americas, EMEA, and Asia/Pacific.

2010 2011200920082007

48
.3

41
.7

36
.2

61
.8

54
.8

Projected worldwide BPO spending (US$ billion)¥

CAGR (2007 – 2011) 14.3%

The BPO opportunity is substantial and IDC predicts a 14.3% market growth rate to 2011. The
economic environment is constraining many companies’ growth, requiring them to focus more
attention and investment on their core business. At the same time, there is a compelling need 
to drive down costs and reduce investment in their back office processing against a background
of increased regulation. Many companies have already secured the more easily achievable back
office cost savings and their internal economies of scale have peaked.

Outsourcing resolves this conflict through guaranteed cost reductions, investment in shared
platforms and improved service quality. Service provision across geographic or functional boundaries
creates economies of scale. Due to our strong track record and international footprint, Xchanging 
is one of the few BPO companies able to deliver these benefits to customers.
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Growth

Xchanging addresses complex industry-specific business processing and cross-industry processing 
in human resources, finance and accounting, technology infrastructure and large-scale
procurement. Our Partnering offering is open book with profit sharing so that our interests 
are aligned with our partners.

Xchanging takes on business processes or categories of spend where we already have platforms
proving our capability and credibility. Through Outsourcing we scale up our platforms and deliver
services to an agreed specification and usage charge or cost baseline.

Xchanging supports essential parts of the business processing value chain with application
software, such as Genius for international insurance carriers. Our Products are long-term
strategic assets that can be tailored for customers’ specific needs. Products enable us to 
extend our reach both geographically and across the value chain.

Xchanging offers experts to support specific business activities and customer improvement
projects. Through Business Support, customers have access to Xchanging’s expertise and 
re-usable assets. Business Support includes services such as corporate immigration support,
resourcing, programme management and process improvement and Six Sigma training 
and support.

Xchanging extends the scope of the services delivered to customers, reducing the number of
interfaces and where possible automating them. These additional services extend the process 
flow that Xchanging is already operating and enable us to maximise the efficiency of the 
whole process as a result.

Xchanging is a pure play business process outsourcing company. Our go to market strategy is 
to provide a range of offerings to meet the varying needs of customers for outsourced services.
Our unique offering for dealing with complexity and scale is Partnering. On top of this we provide
four offerings – Outsourcing, Products, Straight Through Processing and Business Support, for
customer flexibility and repeatability. In short, a distinctive ‘1+ 4 Go to Market Strategy’.

… through our full suite of business process offerings
and a rigorous sales approach

Products

Straight Through Processing

Business Support

Outsourcing

Partnering
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“We offer participation in
profit and capital upside 
with our unique Partnering
proposition.”

Clive Buesnel,
Global Partnering Director,
Xchanging

We are committed to forming 
long-term Enterprise Partnerships

Partnering – maximising value together
Partnering is Xchanging’s unique approach to handling large and complex business processes.
We create a jointly owned company with our partner that we call an Enterprise Partnership (EP).
The resources and assets from the partner’s organisation are transferred into the EP as the basis
for creating a commercial business processing platform. Xchanging has day-to-day operational
and Board control of the EP and the partner has representation on the EP Board. Since its
inception, Xchanging has established seven EPs.

Explaining Xchanging – continued

Our partnerships
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Successful partnerships in action

“Aon is aligning around our
client needs and core areas of
expertise. By partnering with
Xchanging we will improve
the overall client experience;
delivering greater levels of
service and efficiency, while
offering our transferring
employees the opportunity 
to work with Xchanging.”

David Mead,
Chief Operating Officer,
Aon UK

“With this partnership we 
are offering exciting future
prospects for both Fondsdepot
Bank and the operations in
Hof. Moreover, we are leading
the way for the consolidation
of an essential part of the
asset management value-
added chain.”

Dr Thomas Wiesemann,
Chief Executive Officer,
Allianz Global Investors KAG

In September 2006 Xchanging and Aon Ltd, a
leading insurance broking and risk management
specialist, agreed an Enterprise Partnership with
an initial 10 year service contract to provide
claims processing and accounting and settlement
services. The ground-breaking arrangement
involves the outsourcing of Aon’s Client
Operations division. At the same time the
intention is radical improvement of the way Aon
conducts its business in the London insurance
market, connecting the value chain from the
broker right through to the underwriter. 

Nearly 500 employees transferred from Aon to
Xchanging with minimal disruption. At start-up,
the partnership was business as usual for Aon.
Xchanging immediately assumed operational
delivery risk, guaranteed savings to Aon and
mobilised an improvement programme. After
18 months the programme has implemented
service monitoring, production management,
quality control, transferred over 180 roles to
India and consolidated operations into two 
sites from four.

Benefits for Aon through Partnering
• Cost savings and efficiencies in the

retained organisation
• Guaranteed service levels with measurable

improvements
• Building a broker processing partnership

that others can join
• Future share of the scale benefits from

third party revenues
• Exciting new career opportunities and

training for transferring employees

In November 2007, Xchanging assumed
operational control of Fondsdepot Bank 
GmbH from Allianz Global Investors. Based 
in Hof, Germany, Fondsdepot Bank has 
more than 450 employees providing retail
investment account management services. 
The goal of the partnership is to create a
neutral provider of retail investment account
management services that can generate 
third party sales from other members of the
German asset management community.

Xchanging has started to employ its low 
cost production approach to optimise the
existing processes and deliver productivity
improvements. This will enhance the
performance of Fondsdepot Bank’s services to
Allianz Global Investors and will provide a cost-
effective solution for other asset managers.

This exciting new Enterprise Partnership
extends Xchanging’s reach in the European
Financial Markets sector and provides the 
scale to give customers high quality retail
investment account management services in
addition to those offered by Xchanging in
securities processing.

Benefits for Allianz Global Investors
through Partnering
• Guaranteed cost savings
• Clearly defined service targets
• Operational stability during the 

transition phase
• Early mover advantage in consolidation 

of asset management value chain
• Share of benefits from customer growth 

in the third party market

Hof, Germany
Xchanging’s offices in Hof will be 
a platform for further expansion 
in retail investment account
management and other services 
in Germany.

Romford, UK
Xchanging’s offices in Romford
provide the cornerstone for our
broking utility platform.
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Explaining Xchanging – continued

Offerings

We’re growing our platforms
through…
Outsourcing... Products... STP... Business Support...

“Xchanging Claims Services 
are an important catalyst for
change in the Lloyd’s market.
They play a critical role in
improving claims management
performance and recruiting
and developing technical
claims resource.”

Kent Chaplin,
Head of Claims, Lloyd’s
Franchise Performance
Directorate

Xchanging provides four distinctive offerings in addition to Partnering. These offerings drive
economies of scale, processing breadth, product depth and know-how across our businesses.

The Xchanging offerings of Outsourcing, Products, Straight Through Processing (STP) and
Business Support together form a broad portfolio of compelling value propositions for our
partners and customers.

Outsourcing delivers our customers better and cheaper processing and procurement spend. 
Products supplies customers with improved solutions for business processes and information
requirements. STP extends the scope of existing services to customers and secures additional
processing and spend efficiencies for them. Business Support provides experts and re-useable
assets to support specific improvement activities in a customer’s processing operations.

It is this suite of offerings that enables us to be flexible in meeting the changing needs of 
our customers as they seek to improve the performance of their back office functions.
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Outsourcing – guaranteeing sustainable
savings
Compelling price for a specified service
quality… Xchanging provides a range of
business processing and procurement spend
Outsourcing offerings to customers.

We use our processing platforms, re-useable
assets and necessary resources transferred from
the customer to deliver Outsourcing services.
This offering swaps a fixed cost of resources
for a more variable use of a priced service for
non-core functions, business processes and
specific spend categories. We offer economies
of scale and service quality advantages beyond
the reach of the customer internally.

Xchanging’s Outsourcing customers include HR
outsourcing to SELEX GALILEO; procurement
Outsourcing for United Biscuits and National
Australia Group Europe; securities processing
Outsourcing for Citi, Sal. Oppenheim and
Sparda-Banken; and insurance Outsourcing
services for AIG, Tokio Marine and QBE.

Straight Through Processing – 
optimising the value chain
Entrepreneurial spirit that anticipates new
requirements… Straight Through Processing
generates additional value by extending the
scope and nature of the services to encompass
more of the customers’ business processes. 

Xchanging invests in mapping processes and
procedures beyond the existing scope of
services provided to Partnering and Outsourcing
customers to identify additional process
improvement opportunities. These process
extensions allow Xchanging to standardise and
optimise more of the process work flow,
automate interfaces and reduce costs.

For example, in Insurance, we are automating
the broking and underwriting interfaces to
streamline the insurance value chain. In
addition, through our STP offering, we are
managing procurement of additional
temporary contract labour to BAE Systems and
providing revised taxation reporting services
for Deutsche Bank.

Products – delivering the best solution
Innovative, lasting and cost-effective…
Xchanging’s Product offerings support
essential parts of the business processing value
chain. We strive to be the supplier of choice
with attractive solutions to maximise value for
money to our customers in the sectors and
platforms we cover.

We leverage our expertise, resources and re-
useable assets to provide highly cost-effective
and repeatable product solutions. We supply,
implement and operate a product support
relationship to assure customer satisfaction.

Our offerings include:
• Genius, Elgar, Brokasure and IRIS to the

commercial insurance sector internationally,
where the installed base is over 
100 customers 

• Central Price Service, which provides 
prices for financial products and derivatives
to the German banking and fund manager
community.

For example, in 2007, our Insurance sector
successfully implemented its Brokasure
software solution at Collins, one of the world’s
largest re-insurance intermediaries. This is a
significant step in establishing Brokasure in the
US intermediaries market.

Business Support – applying know-how
for results
Operational problem solving and infrastructure
enhancement… Xchanging’s Business Support
offering delivers technical expertise and re-
usable assets to customers. It includes
providing experts for improving activities in the
business processing value chain, as well as
specific technical services on a transaction by
transaction basis. Examples include:
• policies and insurance claims review
• IT implementation support and 

programme management
• permanent and temporary recruitment
• UK corporate immigration services.

In 2007, providing corporate immigration
support to Tech Mahindra is a prime example
of a Business Support customer success.

“We have worked together for
six years, taking the provision
of HR services to a new level.
With this partnership we have
the ability to deliver an even
better level of service to a
very demanding customer
base in what is an incredibly
fast-moving business.”

Darren Bartholomew,
HR Manager for Shared
Services, SELEX GALILEO

“Xchanging acted like a 
true partner, understanding
our needs and delivering a
large, complex enterprise
application that will help 
us serve clients in multiple
business segments.”

Vibhu Sharma,
Executive Vice President 
and Chief Operating Officer,
Collins

IT Services and Telecom Solutions

“The staff at Xchanging 
have been very proactive 
and helpful in all our
interactions with them. 
Their professionalism 
and speed of response 
make it a pleasure to 
deal with them.”

Kevin Collaco,
Senior HR Manager, 
Tech Mahindra 
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Pipeline visibility
The Xchanging pipeline has four distinct business development phases – Interest, Shaping,
Validation and Conclusion. At each of the four pipeline stages an increasing probability is
assigned to the opportunity. The pipeline enables the Group to estimate new sales revenue for
the current and prospective year. The pipeline is updated once a month and reviewed by the
Xchanging Sales Committee.

Creating the best solution for the customer
Each sales opportunity is tracked through the pipeline phases with clearly defined checkpoints.
The aim always is to help the sales team achieve a successful outcome by identifying issues that
could affect the opportunity and to ensure that resource is focused on the opportunities with
the greatest chance of success. Rigorous tracking enables us to provide a winning solution for
the customer and Xchanging.

“Tracking sales is about
discipline and accuracy. Our
rigorous approach enables us
to predict new sales revenue
with a high degree of
confidence and gives us full
visibility. The checkpoints
ensure that resource is directed
where there are the best
chances of success.“

Adele Browne, 
Executive Director of Sales and
Commercial, Xchanging

Growth through our rigorous 
sales approach

Explaining Xchanging – continued

Sales approach

E x p l a i n i n g  X c h a n g i n g  – G r o w t h
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We map the throughput of work at the summary level, then mapping continues at subsequent
levels of detail. The detailed process flows identify non value-added processing and re-work
loops, which we gradually eliminate to reach an optimised process flow – from the summary 
to the detailed level. 

We group the multiple tasks in a set of work packages, which have a measurable set of inputs,
clearly identified data and tools to complete the tasks, and a measurable set of outputs. Then
we gradually eliminate work package variability across process flows and also within the same
process flow.

We bring the Optimised Process Flows, the associated Standard Work Packages and the planned
capacity utilisation together and track the actual volume of work moving through the process.
Work Flow Control predicts bottlenecks, backlogs and re-routes work to avoid service 
non-compliance and to maximise efficiency.

We predict workload, based on historical throughput patterns and estimate resources to handle 
the required throughput to meet the agreed service time delivery standards. The capacity schedule
plans the future workload throughput, records the actual workload processed, measures the
resource utilisation and calculates efficiency.

We identify and implement productivity improvement opportunities. The Production Resource
Control Committee assesses the cost savings potential and monitors implementation progress. 
It measures performance improvements and focuses investment to achieve the greatest 
EBIT improvement.

Strategically, we take advantage of labour cost differentials, high levels of education and 
the availability of larger pools of relevant skilled people around the world. Tactically, Global
Balancing matches relevant spare capacity with capacity shortfalls to optimise the use of
available resources. 

Low cost producer
… through productivity improvement, Global
Balancing and performance measurement

As a pure play business processor, Xchanging focuses on operational efficiency. Our production
directors work together, generating a constant pipeline of opportunities to lower costs and raise
production quality. We have seven types of production assets for achieving and maintaining best
practice across our operations internationally. In summary, our strategy for low cost production
best practice encompasses: 

We establish the baseline of resources and sources of supply to achieve a given result. 
The baseline identifies how the production is delivered and measured, together with the
associated cost. The As-Is baseline is the documented foundation against which productivity
improvement opportunities are considered and from which the Should-Be target is agreed.

Production Definition – for baselining productivity

Optimised Process Flows – for reducing cycle times

Standard Work Packages – for eliminating duplication

Capacity Scheduling – for maximising resource usage

Work Flow Control – for managing throughput effectively

Global Balancing – for driving cost efficiency 

Improvement Pipeline – for enhancing EBIT
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Improvement Pipeline
The Improvement Pipeline provides
visibility over key productivity
improvement initiatives. The
Production Directors Committee
conducts monthly progress reviews
against preset criteria giving a
consistent view of how initiatives
are progressing.

Explaining Xchanging – continued

Improving productivity 
“The Xchanging Way is unique.

Coming from a banking back
office environment at Citi 
and Deutsche Bank, it has
helped me to raise production
performance, increase service
delivery quality and absorb
new business volume.”

Thomas Runge, 
Production Director,
Xchanging

Improving productivity…
the Xchanging Way

Radical improvement is at the heart of the Xchanging business proposition. It requires defining
and delivering a high quality of service and at the same time improving the underlying
production. It needs the flexibility to adapt to changes in our customers’ businesses over time.
Furthermore, it has to be capable of exploiting economies of scale through additional volumes.
The Xchanging Way is our standardised approach to service, productivity improvement, scaling
the platform and performance measurement.
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Standard Work Packages
In Germany, Xchanging has
documented over 800 work
packages across the Financial
Markets sector. Standardisation 
of these packages is underway,
generating efficiencies and 
cost savings.

Xchanging transaction bank (Xtb)
The Xtb partnership officially began in June
2004. It embraced the Deutsche Bank
securities processing, undertaken by the
European Transaction Bank, a former wholly-
owned subsidiary of Deutsche Bank. The
implementation of the partnership with
Xchanging started in early 2004 by baselining
of the costs and outputs, resulting in the
Production Definition for resources and 
the Service Definition for customer delivery.
These definitions were the starting point for 
a 12 month re-alignment change programme.
During this programme:
• Six Sigma methodology was introduced

with intensive training and a series of
improvement projects

• The working environment was upgraded
to an open plan arrangement allowing
consolidation of the 800 staff into one
building – the Sossenheim office complex

• The performance hub was established for
interactive video-connection with the other
Xchanging global processing centres in the
UK and India

• The functional organisation was re-aligned
into the standard Xchanging performance
management functions – Service,
Production, Quality, Sales, Relations and
Implementation.

Following the re-alignment change programme,
the journey continued with a 24 month
streamlining phase to attain low cost producer

status. In particular, Xtb focused on Process
Flow Optimisation, mapping over 1,000 process
flows and running improvement projects.
Capacity Scheduling and Work Flow Control
were introduced to maximise staff resource
usage and to re-allocate work among teams.

Since then, the journey has moved to
continuous improvement with an emphasis on
Global Balancing. Work has gradually been
transferred from Germany to India. Today, over
170 Xchanging employees in India support
Xtb, many of whom are fluent German
speaking graduates from the Goethe-Institut
in Delhi. In 2008, our new facility at Hof on
the German/Czech border will give an added
dimension to low cost production through
Global Balancing for German-speaking
processing and service requirements.

In line with the Xchanging objective of 
re-deploying spare capacity, Xchanging has
invested in selling Xtb business processing
services to new customers. Examples include:
• Outsourcing service offering to Citi and

Sal. Oppenheim for retail securities
processing

• STP service offerings to Deutsche Bank,
such as staff share programme processing
for institutional customers

• Central Price Service Product sales to
German banks.

Radical improvement

“We appreciate working with
Xchanging as we make a
joint and constant effort to
meet and exceed the
requirements and high
expectations of our clients.”

Dr. Michael Welker,
COO Private Wealth
Management, Deutsche Bank 

“In Xchanging we have found
an extremely strong strategic
partner. The flexibility and
good service they provide are
critical to us, add value to our
business and help strengthen
our position as an integrated
asset management and
investment bank with an
international focus.”

Siegfried Grohs, 
Managing Director,
Head of Operations and IT,
Sal. Oppenheim jr. & Cie.
KGaA
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Explaining Xchanging – continued

Global Balancing

London, UK

Low cost production 
through balancing operations
internationally

To offer customers the most efficient, tailored solutions possible, Xchanging offers a mix of 
on-site, near-shore and offshore facilities – collectively these facilities are our Global Balancing
production asset. This balanced approach allows Xchanging to retain processes that are critical
to the customer on-site, while transferring other processing to near-shore or offshore facilities
where we can maximise the benefits of aggregating processes and of arbitrage through lower
cost resources.

“Our Global Balancing
approach to delivery allows
customers to share in the
efficiency benefits. Combining
London, Chatham and India,
we are delivering the most
cost-effective service by
balancing lower cost locations
with critical processing near
to the customer.”

Steven Beard,
Sector Director Commercial
Insurance, Xchanging

Capacity Scheduling
In Romford, we have implemented
the first phase of our Capacity
Scheduling toolset (methods,
training, software), rapidly achieving
a 10% improvement in operational
productivity in the trial areas.
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“As a company, Xchanging 
is well positioned to deliver
significant value to customers
with our offshore operational
capabilities. India is very
important in the Group’s
overall growth and low 
cost producer strategies as 
it frees up valuable 
resources onshore.“

Nipun Bhatia, 
Country Managing Director 
for India, Xchanging

Employees in 
our operations 
in Gurgaon, India

Global Balancing
Xchanging supports its Insurance customers
with a globally balanced combination of
processing locations including the City of
London, Chatham, Folkestone, Basildon and
Romford, in conjunction with offshore facilities
in Kuala Lumpur and India. Our approach is to
transfer workloads over time from customer
premises to one of our processing centres 
off-site, such as Chatham.

Then, as work packages are standardised and
processes optimised we transfer workloads
offshore to our Indian processing centres.
Today about 30% of our insurance processing
is handled in India. This processing work
includes insurance policy and premium
processing, claims handling, software
development and broking back office services.

The Global Balancing of our insurance
processing means that Xchanging can
genuinely offer services that meet best practice
for low cost production. We have moved over
50% of our insurance processing to an
electronic basis in 2007 and this is set to rise
during 2008. We can continue to take
advantage of Global Balancing for reaching low
cost producer status in our core processes, by:
• securing the benefits of labour arbitrage

by processing workloads in lower 
cost locations

• re-deploying spare capacity at onshore 
sites for processing work that cannot
immediately be taken offshore

• introducing Capacity Scheduling and Work
Flow Control to ensure that the service
delivery continues to meet and exceed
customer requirements.

Lloyd’s Building
Xchanging runs operations and
serves customers from offices
located in the heart of the London
insurance market.

Work Flow Control
As insurance administration moves
from paper-based to electronic,
Xchanging has invested in
Standard Work Flow across 
our onshore (UK) and offshore
(India) processing centres allowing
instantaneous re-routing of work 
to where there is capacity.
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Explaining Xchanging – continued

Performance measurement

Performance measurement is at the heart of the Xchanging Way. We measure performance for
each of our functions in the same way across the whole of our business. Specifically, we define
the what, the who and the how. For these we set empirical and perception performance criteria.
We are transparent to our staff and to our customers in our performance against these criteria, 
so everyone has a shared view of how we measure up to world-beating standards of service,
production, implementation, quality, relations and sales.

Measuring and improving
Each month the Xchanging Performance Committee meets to review every aspect of the
performance of the sectors and the Group. The CFO and CEO attend the meetings, together
with Group and sector management. We look at over 6,000 items of performance to 
ensure that we are delivering what we promised to our customers, staff, shareholders and 
other stakeholders. Our aim is to improve our performance continuously and to ensure that 
we can react quickly to business circumstances as they arise.

“Xchanging’s approach to
measuring and reviewing
performance is unique. 
Not only are all areas of
performance systematically
measured using both
objective and perception
metrics, but also Xchanging’s
most senior management
then devote a day each
month to reviewing this,
providing them with an
unrivalled understanding 
of how the business is
performing.”

Neil Watkinson, 
Group Performance Director,
Xchanging Unrelenting performance

measurement of…
Service… Production… Implementation… 
Quality… Relations… Sales

E x p l a i n i n g  X c h a n g i n g  – L o w  c o s t  p r o d u c e r



E x p l a i n i n g  X c h a n g i n g  –  O u r  b u s i n e s s  s e c t o r s 19

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  &  A C C O U N T S  2 0 0 7

Business Lines

“The buy out of the minority
shareholdings in the HR and
procurement partnerships 
by Xchanging validates 
our strategy to look for
innovation and value in the
way we operate and in the
partnerships that we form.
We constantly look for ways
to improve our business
operations in all aspects, 
both in the front line and 
in administrative support
functions. We are delighted
that the partnerships with
Xchanging have been 
so successful.”

Mike Turner, 
Chief Executive, 
BAE Systems 

14
3.

9

83
.7

17
6.

1 21
5.

8

20052004 2006 2007

Business Lines*

Revenue for the sector
2004 – 2007 (£ million)

Our Business Lines platforms cover cross-
industry processing services in the areas of
human resources, procurement, finance and
accounting and technology infrastructure.
Business Lines primary customers across
several industry sectors include BAE Systems,
National Australia Group Europe, United
Biscuits and the NHS.

Wide range of services provided
Human resources
Business Lines provides general human
resources and payroll processing services 
and support to 1.5 million staff and their
dependants across multiple locations and
countries. Through the Ferguson Snell and
Associates acquisition in 2006, Xchanging
offers corporate immigration services in the
UK including assistance with visas, work
permits, residence permits and naturalisation 
to a wide range of FTSE companies.

Procurement spend management
Xchanging provides spend management
services for a range of indirect procurement
spend categories. Xchanging acts either as an
agent between the customer and the supplier
or as the principal with the supplier, selling the
goods or services directly to the customer.

Finance and accounting
We provide procure-to-pay services for 
all processing aspects of the procurement
supply chain. These include requisitions,
purchase orders and invoices, supplier
payments, administration of travel and
expense reports, purchasing cards, and
maintenance of buying data.

Technology infrastructure
During 2007, Business Lines has provided
technology infrastructure services to a number
of blue-chip customers and has also supported
the real-time electronic processing
requirements for Insurance and Financial
Markets. In 2008, Xchanging will continue to
enhance these services to meet the highest
standards in data warehousing, network
support, data centre operations, business
continuity and disaster recovery.

Highlights of 2007
• Bought out BAE Systems’ minority stakes

in the HR and procurement businesses 
for £57 million

• Completed a five-year extension to our
contract with SELEX GALILEO for 
HR services

• Signed new payroll outsourcing contracts
with eight NHS trusts through our
partnership with UHB, providing services to
over 130,000 NHS employees

• Maintained our Investors in People
accreditation and was a finalist in the
category of Partnership at the Scottish
Modern Apprenticeship Awards

• Supported the award of a Grade 2 OFSTED
rating to BAE Systems for the Apprentice
Training programme that is delivered by
Xchanging HR Services

• Obtained Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) certification
for our procure-to-pay platform

• Received IS09001, TickIT Quality Standard
and ISO27001 Information Security
Standard certification for our Data Centre
IT Hosting services

Our business sectors

Footnotes
* Figures shown include inter sector revenue.
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Our Insurance platform is one of the leading
providers of BPO services and software in
international commercial insurance markets. 
In 2007, the Group handled over four million
insurance premium and claim transactions
between brokers and underwriters operating
in marine, aviation and non-marine sectors of
the London insurance market, having a
combined value of over £45 billion.

An evolving market
We believe that we are well placed to
capitalise on the transition from paper-based
processing to electronic processing in the
London insurance market. In 2007, we have
added capabilities to continue the momentum
for change in 2008, supporting electronic
processing in commercial insurance markets
internationally. Xchanging divides its insurance
products and services into four categories:
• complex processing – premium processing,

claims processing and agreement, claims
agreement for followers, policy checking,
signing and sealing service, policy
preparation

• market infrastructure – market repository,
messaging, data warehouse

• accounting and settlement – premium
settlement, claim settlement, accounting,
payment

• software and related business support –
Genius, IRIS, ELGAR, Brokasure.

International operations
We provide insurance services from locations
in the UK, India, the United States and
Malaysia. The offshore operations have grown
rapidly over the past two years and currently
support the business by handling software
development, policy, premium, claims and
accounts processing services. In addition, 
we have an agreement with a third party
supplier for a number of broking related
processing services.

Highlights of 2007
• Achieved the first two sales of our new

Genius for Re-Insurance (G4RI) product 
for Bermudian re-insurers

• Delivered a combined software and
services processing solution to Lloyd’s 
new Chinese re-insurance business

• Implemented our first US sale of Brokasure
(our wholesale broking product) to Collins, a
significant US domiciled re-insurance broker

• Signed a memorandum of understanding
with partner RI3K to build an end to end
processing platform for Bermuda’s 
re-insurance market

• Successfully completed the re-alignment 
of our partnership with Aon for broking
services which we won in September
2006. Already we have added third party
business to this partnership and are
actively working towards building the
international broking processing platform

20052004 2006 2007
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Insurance*

Revenue for the sector
2004 – 2007 (£ million)

“Xchanging Broking Services
has had a very good year.
They have overcome real
challenges and managed a
safe transition from internal
back office to stand-alone
service provider. We very
much appreciate all the hard
work of the management
team and all the staff who
have made this successful.”

John Cullen,
Chief Financial Officer,
Aon UK

Footnotes
* Figures shown include inter sector revenue.



E x p l a i n i n g  X c h a n g i n g  –  O u r  b u s i n e s s  s e c t o r s 21

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  &  A C C O U N T S  2 0 0 7

Our Financial Markets platforms cover banking
and asset management operations and
software. Processing services are provided
both directly to financial institutions and 
on their behalf to the end customers. 
Retail securities processing services are
undertaken by the Xchanging transaction
bank (Xtb), which has a full German Financial
Services Regulatory Authority (BaFin) banking
licence. Retail investment account
management services are undertaken by
Xchanging Fondsdepot Bank, which has 
a partial banking licence.

Strong customer base
Xchanging’s major institutional customers
include Deutsche Bank, Sal. Oppenheim, Citi,
Sparda-Banken and netbank AG and Allianz
Global Investors. We conduct our business
processing services in Germany from our
processing centres in Frankfurt and Hof 
and through locations in Dusseldorf and
Ludwigsburg. In addition, certain securities
processing services are provided through 
our global processing centre in India.

Mission-critical securities and retail
investment account management
processing
Our retail securities offerings include trade 
and corporate event processing, regulatory
reporting, tax and other services. Retail
investment account offerings include
investment account management and trailer
fee and sales commission administration.

European expansion
Xchanging holds a 10% shareholding in CAD
IT, a quoted Italian company. CAD IT software
is widely used in retail securities processing in
Italy. As European regulatory harmonisation
gathers pace in the banking sector, we will
work with CAD IT to open up the Italian
banking business processing market,
leveraging Xchanging and CAD IT assets.

Highlights of 2007
• Entered into an Enterprise Partnership 

with Allianz Global Investors for retail
investment account management services
in Germany

• Completed the renewal of our retail
securities processing contract with Sparda-
Banken and netbank AG in Germany

• Extended our STP service offering to all
core customers

• Developed a Business Support offering
providing Six Sigma services to a number
of companies in Germany

• Moved elements of German securities
processing work to India

Financial Markets

“In a service provider, we 
look for competitive and
transparent pricing and
industry leading quality for
the services provided. This
has led to our decision to
extend our contract with
Xchanging to 2015.”

Dr. Laurenz Kohlleppel 
– CEO, Association of 
the Sparda-Banken 
and netbank AG

20052004 2006 2007
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Financial Markets*

Revenue for the sector
2004 – 2007 (£ million)

Footnotes
* Figures shown include inter sector revenue.
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At Xchanging, we strive to deliver revenue growth with high visibility,
profit margin enhancement and strong cash flow through our rigorous
financial and operating controls.

Drivers of financial performance
Revenue growth
The attractive market combined with our wide
range of BPO offerings enables us to deliver
robust organic growth. Our sales range from
small one-off transactions up to large-scale,
multi-year contracts. This is balanced across 
a range of customers, industry sectors and
geographies.

Revenue visibility
The long-term nature of many of our contracts
gives us high visibility of revenues at the
beginning of a financial year. This provides 
us with a firm foundation to determine 
where and when it is appropriate to make
investments to fuel further growth.

Profit margin growth
We grow the XEBIT margin through a
combination of factors including productivity
improvements, the scaling of our central
overhead cost base, incremental sales
successes and the buy out of our partner’s
minority interests.

Cash generation
Based on our contracting methodologies 
and tight working capital management we
can sustain high conversion of our operating
profits into cash generated from operations 
to fund future investment.

In 2007, these factors have continued to drive
our financial performance and as a result we
have delivered a strong set of results. We look
forward to continuing our growth into 2008.

Details of our financial performance during
2007 are provided in the following financial
review.

Richard Houghton
Chief Financial Officer, Xchanging plc

Richard Houghton
Chief Financial Officer
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Revenue growth
Revenue growth continued to be strong,
increasing 19.0% to £468.2 million in 2007
(2006: £393.5 million). The Group has
delivered consistently strong growth since its
first contract in 2001, with a compound
annual growth rate of 51% between 2001
and 2007. Growth was predominantly organic
in 2007 with acquisitions accounting for less
than 1% during the year.

Sales across the full range of offerings
combined with revenues from contracts won
in 2006 (particularly Aon and National
Australia Group Europe) have made a major
contribution to 2007. Revenues include two
month’s contribution from our Enterprise
Partnership with Allianz Global Investors which
commenced on 1 November 2007. The
Group’s three reporting segments, Business
Lines, Financial Markets and Insurance all
contributed to the 2007 revenue growth.

The Group has high revenue visibility due to
the long-term nature of its contracts and the
relatively high predictability of revenues

generated. The Group uses a revenue visibility
measure which represents revenue which can
reasonably be expected to arise in the year
from current customers where we have in
place a contractual relationship. On this basis,
revenue visibility going into 2008 is £445.7
million. Revenue visibility going into 2007 
was £394.3 million, which was 84% of the
full year revenue achieved.

Strong profit growth
Group operating profit grew 31.1% to £31.7
million (2006: £24.2 million), while adjusted
operating profit grew 20.3% to £38.9 million
(2006: £32.3 million).

XEBIT grew by 42.5% to £31.6 million (2006:
£22.2 million). This represents an XEBIT
operating margin of 6.8% (2006: 5.6%). 
The XEBIT growth is driven by strong
performances in the procurement, HR and
insurance processing businesses, including a
contribution from Xchanging Broking Services
(the AON Enterprise Partnership) which has
just completed its first full year. Strong
operational profit improvements in Financial

2007 has been a good year for Xchanging, with strong organic revenue
growth, significant earnings growth and continuing strong cash flows.

Footnotes
* The Group measures and tracks profit directly attributable to equity shareholders (net of Enterprise Partnership minority

interests) as the comparable and consistent measure of profit performance for the Group’s shareholders. The Group uses
two such measures to monitor the performance of profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Group:
• adjusted operating profit attributable to equity holders of the Group (XEBIT).
• adjusted profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Group (XPAT).

¥ Pro forma diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the Group’s adjusted earnings (based on XPAT) by the weighted average
number of shares had the Group’s post-IPO capital structure been in place from the beginning of 2007. 
This proforma number of shares was also applied to 2006 for consistency.

£75 million
New capital raised

€400 million
Enterprise Partnership deal with
Allianz Global Investors

£57 million
Buy out of the BAE Systems’
shareholding in the HR and
procurement partnerships

The Group’s KPIs are summarised below*:

12 months 12 months
ended ended

31 December 31 December
2007 2006 Increase

Revenue £468.2m £393.5m 19.0%
Xchanging’s share of adjusted 
operating profit (XEBIT) £31.6m £22.2m 42.5%
XEBIT Margin 6.8% 5.6% +120 bps
Xchanging’s share of adjusted profit 
after tax (XPAT) £22.8m £17.1m 33.2%
Pro forma EPS¥ – diluted 10.51p 7.89p 33.2%
Cash generated from operations £49.7m £29.4m 68.9%
Cash conversion ratio 128% 91%
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Markets were offset by the increased discount
to Deutsche Bank and the full year impact of a
contract exit. XEBIT also grew through the buy
out of the minority interests in the HR and
procurement Enterprise Partnerships.

The Group grew XEBIT margin significantly
during the year to 6.8% (2006: 5.6%), which
is ahead of the 50-100 basis point growth in
XEBIT margin that the Group targets annually.

Xchanging has continued to drive XEBIT
margin growth through productivity
improvement and expanding our processing
platforms through new revenues. The buy 
out of the minority interests in Xchanging
Procurement Services and Xchanging HR
Services has been a key driver of XEBIT margin
growth during the year. The Group has also
continued to leverage its administrative
expenses, which have declined to 3.2% 
of revenues (2006: 3.4%). 

This strong growth has been achieved despite
the dilutive effect of the integration of new
Enterprise Partnerships. During the course of
2007 the Group has been integrating two
Enterprise Partnerships into the business,
Xchanging Broking Services which commenced
on 1 September 2006 and Xchanging
Fondsdepot Bank which commenced on 
1 November 2007.

Xchanging’s share of profit after tax (XPAT)
grew by 33.2% to £22.8 million (2006: 
£17.1 million). This represents an XPAT margin
of 4.9% (2006: 4.4%). XPAT growth was
lower than growth in XEBIT having been
impacted by the increase in the effective tax
rate to 31.8% (2006: 26.6%). The increase 
in the tax charge was partially offset by 
an increase in net finance income attributable
to Xchanging.

The tables below detail the adjustments to
operating profit to determine XEBIT and XPAT.

2007 2006
£m £m

XEBIT 31.6 22.2
Adjusted profit before 
taxation attributable to 
minority interests 7.3 10.1

Adjusted operating profit 38.9 32.3
less:

Exceptional items (6.2) (6.9)
Share-based 
payment charges (0.5) (0.5)
Other add backs (0.5) (0.7)

Operating profit 31.7 24.2

2007 2006
£m £m

XPAT 22.8 17.1
Adjusted profit after 
taxation attributable to 
minority interests 4.9 7.3

Adjusted profit 
after taxation 27.7 24.4
less:

Exceptional items (6.9) (6.9)
Share-based payment 
charges (0.5) (0.5)
Other add backs (1.3) (2.0)

Tax effect of above 1.5 2.4

Profit for the year 20.5 17.4

Pro forma earnings per share (EPS)
When calculating earnings per share for 2007,
the Group considers it appropriate to use 
XPAT as described above, as it represents the
underlying performance of the business. In
addition, as the Group’s results were impacted
by the change in capital structure resulting
from the IPO in April 2007, a pro forma
number of shares has been used for
comparison purposes.

Revenue
2004 – 2007 (£ million)

XEBIT
2004 – 2007 (£ million)

84% in 2007
High revenue visibility due to the
long-term nature of our contracts

20052004 2006 2007

35
0.

0

25
4.

1

39
3.

5 46
8.

2

20052004 2006 2007

19
.7

9.
0

22
.2

31
.6
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The pro forma analysis is set out below to
show how the Group’s adjusted earnings per
share (based on XPAT) would have been
calculated had the Group’s post-IPO capital
structure been in place from the beginning 
of 2007. This was also applied to 2006 for
consistency.

2007 2006

XPAT (£m) 22.8 17.1
Pro forma number of 
shares in issue (m)* 209.5 209.5
Pro forma basic earnings 
per share (pence) 10.89 8.18

XPAT (£m) 22.8 17.1
Pro forma diluted number 
of shares (m)* 217.2 217.2
Pro forma diluted earnings 
per share (pence) 10.51 7.89

* Weighted average number of shares

The Company believes that the pro forma
earnings per share above provide the best
analysis of the underlying performance of 
the business for the period. For reference, 
the 2007 adjusted earnings per share 
(based on XPAT) using the actual weighted
average shares during the year is 11.68 pence
basic and 11.20 pence diluted.

IPO exceptional costs
The Group incurred significant exceptional costs
during the year related to the IPO in April.
These costs totalled £6.2 million at the
operating profit level (2006: £6.9 million), of
which the majority related to advisers fees and
the charge associated with share gifts to
employees from the CEO’s own shareholding. 
In 2007, a further exceptional cost was due to
the effect of revaluing onerous lease provisions
at the Group’s post-IPO weighted average 
cost of capital (WACC), which reduced on
Admission. This charge, totalling £0.7 million 
is classified as an exceptional finance cost.
Details of these exceptional costs are given in
note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Finance costs
Net finance income (pre exceptional items)
increased by 99.1% to £1.5 million (2006:
£0.8 million). This overall improvement was
due to bank interest earned on the net cash
increase resulting from the receipt of IPO
proceeds. Finance costs increased due to
interest costs incurred on the deferred
consideration for the acquisition of BAE
Systems’ minorities and the full year effect of
imputed interest charges on put options.

Taxation
The Group’s effective tax rate on Xchanging’s
share of adjusted profit before tax increased 
to 31.8% (2006: 26.6%). The effective tax
rate has been negatively affected by the
decrease in corporation tax rates in Germany
from 2007 and the UK from 2008 resulting in
a revaluation of deferred tax assets held on
the balance sheet creating a one-off cost to
the Group. Additionally, in 2007 the Group
did not utilise significant prior year
accumulated tax losses, which had favourably
impacted the Group’s effective tax rate in
previous years. The use of these was limited in
2007 due to additional tax deductions in
relation to employees exercising share options.

The Group’s effective tax rate on the statutory
results was also up for the period at 36.8%
(2006: 30.0%). In addition to the above, the
effective tax rate is affected by exceptional
costs related to the IPO, a high proportion of
which are disallowable for tax purposes.

Balance sheet
The balance sheet has strengthened
significantly between reporting periods,
primarily as a result of the IPO in the second
quarter. In addition, the net deficit in relation
to defined benefit pension and retirement
schemes has reduced to £8.7 million (2006:
£21.9 million).

Net cash held by the Group at the year end
was £98.4 million (2006: £58.7 million) of
which £40.9 million (2006: £34.6 million) 
was held by Enterprise Partnerships.

XPAT
2004 – 2007 (£ million)

£98.4 million
Net cash held by the Group at 
the end of the year.

20052004 2006 2007

13
.6

6.
1

17
.1

22
.8

20052004 2006 2007

34
.5

17
.4

92%

99%
91%

128%

29
.4

49
.7

Cash generated from
operations and cash
conversion 
2004 – 2007 (£ million, %)
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Business Lines
Revenue in the Business Lines sector increased
by 22.5% to £215.8 million (2006: £176.1
million). Business Lines revenue grew through
successful implementation of procurement
contracts with National Australia Group Europe,
Liberata and BAE Systems Australia. During
2007, Business Lines has further grown revenue
through building on the relationship with
University Hospital Birmingham, signing a
number of HR and payroll deals with other NHS
trusts. Business Lines revenue also benefited
from the full year effect of revenue from
Ferguson Snell and Associates, the immigration
services company acquired in 2006.

XEBIT grew during 2007 by 100.6% to 
£19.7 million (2006: £9.8 million) with the 
buy out of the minorities in procurement and
HR and new contracts both contributing
during the year. In addition, the existing
businesses performed strongly with improved
XEBIT from procurement contracts and the
successful implementation of variable pricing
for the sector’s HR service offerings. Adjusted
operating profit grew during 2007 by 39.1%
to £19.7 million (2006: £14.2 million).

XEBIT margin has increased to 9.1% (2006:
5.6%) driven primarily by the buy out of the
BAE Systems minority interests. Adjusted
operating margin has increased to 9.1%
(2006: 8.1%).

Subsequent to year end, Business Lines
extended its procurement operations in France
with the acquisition of 100% of the share
capital of Mercuris SA, a procurement service
provider based in Paris. Further details of this
acquisition can be found in note 40 of the
consolidated financial statements.

Insurance
Revenue in the Insurance sector increased 
by 21.4% to £164.7 million (2006: 
£135.7 million). A major contributor to this
growth has been a full year’s contribution
from the Group’s Enterprise Partnership with
Aon (Xchanging Broking Services), which
commenced on 1 September 2006. The sector
has also experienced strong growth across 
its existing insurance administration and
software businesses.

XEBIT grew during 2007 by 24.9% to 
£20.8 million (2006: £16.7 million). XEBIT
grew with strong profit growth across the
insurance processing and products businesses.
In addition, there was a contribution to profit
by Xchanging Broking Services in its first full
year of operation. Adjusted operating profit
grew during 2007 by 22.5% to £28.4 million
(2006: £23.2 million).

XEBIT margin grew to 12.6% (2006: 12.3%).
Margin improvements in most of the Insurance
businesses have been offset by the integration
of the new broking services partnership with
Aon. This business did contribute to profit
growth during 2007, but like all Enterprise
Partnerships only achieved a modest return in its
first full year of operation. Adjusted operating
margin grew to 17.2% (2006: 17.1%).

Revenue by sector*

2007 (%)

1 Business Lines 44.6%
2 Insurance 34.1%
3 Financial Markets 21.3%

Adjusted EBIT by sector¥

2007 (%)

1 Business Lines 33.9%
2 Insurance 48.8%
3 Financial Markets 17.3%

120 basis points
The Group grew XEBIT margin
significantly during the year.

1

2

3

1

2

3

Footnotes
* Figures shown include inter sector revenue.
¥ Figures shown include inter sector contribution.
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Financial Markets
Revenue in the Financial Markets sector
increased by 7.0% to £102.9 million (2006:
£96.2 million). Revenue growth arose from
strong securities processing volumes and the
addition of the Group’s seventh Enterprise
Partnership, Fondsdepot Bank (commenced on
1 November 2007), which offset the increased
discount to Deutsche Bank.

XEBIT declined during 2007 by 21.7% to
£10.4 million (2006: £13.3 million). XEBIT has
been impacted by an increase in contracted
discounts to Deutsche Bank and a full year’s
impact of the loss of volumes from a contract
exit in 2006. However, these factors have been
mitigated by increased processing volumes,
productivity improvements, and the transfer of
work to India. Fondsdepot Bank was break-
even, which was in line with expectations for
this new Enterprise Partnership. Adjusted
operating profit declined during 2007 by
19.7% to £10.1 million (2006: £12.5 million).

XEBIT margin has declined to 10.1% (2006:
13.8%).The reduction in XEBIT margin has
resulted from the fall in XEBIT described above
and the dilutive effect of the Fondsdepot Bank
Enterprise Partnership, which commenced on
1 November 2007. Adjusted operating margin
has declined to 9.8% (2006: 13.0%).

Corporate and Business Processing
Services (BPS)
Corporate and BPS (part of the Group’s Indian
operation) costs increased during 2007 by
9.8% to £19.3 million (2006: £17.6 million).
Corporate costs increased to support the
implementation of Xchanging Broking
Services, the new Enterprise Partnership with
Aon. Xchanging’s investment commitment to
Xchanging Broking Services is £3.5 million
(10% of the day one cost base), of which 
£3.3 million had been spent by the end of
2007. In addition, Corporate costs included
the full year effect of the Australia sales office
and the London sales hub in Hanover Square,
both of which were established part way
through the first half of 2006. Finally,
Corporate costs were impacted by the
increased effort and resources required to
support the IPO during the first half of the year.

Investment in India continued during 2007.
However, the business was fully recovering its
costs on a run rate basis by the end of the year.

Geographic performance
Xchanging operates internationally, with
operations in the United Kingdom, Europe, 
the USA, Australia, and Asia. In excess of 
25% of the Group’s 2007 revenues were
generated outside of the UK.

XEBIT margins by sector*

2007 (%)

Geographic split of
revenue 2007 (%)

1 United Kingdom 74.6%
2 Continental 

Europe 23.5%
3 Rest of 

the world 1.9%

128%
The business continues to be 
highly cash generative with 
strong cash conversion.

Business
Lines

Financial
markets

Insurance

9.
1% 10

.1
%12

.6
%

1

2

3

Footnotes
* Figures shown include inter sector contribution.
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Operating cash flow
The business continued to be strongly cash
generative with cash generated from
operations increasing by 68.9% to £49.7 million.

2007 2006

Cash generated from 
operations (£m) 49.7 29.4
Adjusted operating 
profit (£m) 38.9 32.3
Cash conversion 128% 91%

Cash performance is measured using a cash
conversion ratio, calculated as cash generated
from operations (pre capital expenditure)
divided by the Group’s adjusted operating
profit. Cash conversion was 128% (2006:
91%). Cash conversion improved as a result of
tighter control of working capital, a reduction
in the amount of cash exceptional costs and
the increase in depreciation and amortisation.

Cash held by the Group companies at the
period end was £98.4 million (2006: £58.7
million) of which £40.9 million (2006: £34.6
million) was held by Enterprise Partnerships.
There were significant movements in cash
between the periods, most notably receipt 
of the primary funding of £75 million from 
the IPO, payment of £57 million for the
acquisition of minority interests in partnerships
with BAE Systems and a £9.7 million payment
associated with our Enterprise Partnership 
with Allianz Global Investors.

Capital expenditure
The Group invested £14.2 million (2006:
£15.7 million) in capital expenditure (on both
property, plant and equipment (PPE) and
intangible assets) during the year, representing
3.0% of revenue (below our expected long-
term average of 4.0%). Capital was invested
across the Group, primarily in developing
infrastructure assets to support new and
existing businesses.

The depreciation and amortisation charges of
£13.8 million incurred during 2007 in relation
to PPE and intangible assets were broadly
equal to the Group’s capital expenditure for
the year at 2.9% of revenue. As the Group
continues to grow, it is expected that
investment in PPE and intangible assets will

return to the expected long-term trend to
support this growth.

In addition, the Group capitalised £0.2 million
(2006: £3.2 million) as pre-contract costs,
which are disclosed as trade and other
receivables in the statutory accounts. Costs
directly attributable to winning a contract are
capitalised when it is virtually certain that 
the contract will be awarded. These costs are
amortised over the life of the contract; the
amortisation charge for 2007 was £1.2m
(2006: £0.9m).

Regulatory capital
Xchanging operates in a number of regulatory
regimes. The securities processing and retail
investment account management businesses
in Germany, Xchanging transaction bank and
Fondsdepot Bank, maintain banking licences
and are regulated under the German Federal
Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) and
components of the insurance businesses are
regulated in the United Kingdom by the
Financial Services Authority (FSA).

With the introduction of Basel II on 1 January
2008, the regulatory capital requirements of
Xtb have increased, requiring a capital
injection of £3.6 million into the business by
the Xchanging Group. In addition, the broking
administration business, Xchanging Broking
Services, became regulated under the FSA
during 2007, requiring an injection of 
£1 million by the Xchanging Group via a
subordinated loan. This does not impact
overall Group cash but reduces the amount 
of centrally controlled cash by transferring
£4.6 million into Enterprise Partnerships.

Dividend
The Board recommends the payment of a
dividend of 2.0 pence per share payable on 
30 May 2008 to all shareholders on the share
register at the record date (2 May 2008). 
This proposed dividend is not reflected in the
2007 financial accounts. Based on the 2007
pro forma diluted EPS of 10.51 pence, this
dividend is covered 5.3 times and based on
the 2007 adjusted diluted EPS of 11.20 pence,
this dividend is covered 5.6 times.

£98.4 million
Total Group cash

2.0p
2007 dividend (per share)

Financial statements 
can be found on:

page
Income statement 58
Balance sheet 60
Cash flow statement 61
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Xchanging maintains risk registers for each of the sectors and for 
the Group, which cover the key internal and external risks to our
businesses. The Group’s register is reviewed by the Board and ensures
we have mitigation plans in place to minimise the impact of these risks
on the Group.

Key risks

Our growth strategy is dependent
on attracting new customers in
large-scale arrangements

Our reputation is reliant on
successful implementation of large-
scale partnerships and outsourcing
contracts

Our customers and partners demand
efficient processing and high levels
of service to help them achieve their
objectives

We may be exposed to complex and
technical contractual terms with key
customers

Continuing to retain our key
personnel and recruit new talented
individuals is key to our success

Our service delivery and reputation
is highly reliant on business
continuity and security of our IT
systems

We may be exposed to regulatory
and legislative changes

Mitigation strategy

• Strong sector and central sales teams
• Clearly defined service offerings and sales strategies
• Building and developing strong relationships are key to our core values

• Application of standard procedures for implementing new partnerships
• Rigid approval processes requiring defined standard deliverables
• Using experienced staff with high project, change and people management

skills to ensure continuity of service and retention of employees
• Using standard supporting tools proven to be effective in previous

implementations

• Disciplined measuring and monitoring of performance across all functions
• Continued focus on one of our core values of being responsive to

customer needs
• Clearly defined operating strategy and target model
• Quality functions focused on improving processes, controls and

performance

• Clearly defined partnership governance structures helping to identify and
resolve potential issues

• Embedded Delegated Authorities process requires involvement of senior
management for complex transactions

• Structural service management approach identifies issues early and
triggers corrective actions

• Close monitoring of all key contractual obligations with partners through
detailed registers

• Retention plans in place for key employees
• Established structure for staff performance and development monitoring
• Clear recruitment strategy and graduate scheme attracting high 

potential employees
• Leadership training schemes in place to underpin succession plans

• Defined Information Security policies and protocols
• Focus on continued development of Business Continuity and Disaster

Recovery planning and testing
• Information Security Officer roles within each sector

• Group Audit Committee reviews impact of key regulatory regimes
• Sector Quality functions include specialist Compliance functions
• Legal and regulatory compliance included as a specific Quality function

performance measure, reviewed on a monthly basis

Impacts

Not attracting new customers could
make it difficult to achieve our
financial goals

Poor implementation of partnerships
could impact customer service levels
and profitability thereby damaging
our reputation

Not meeting our customer and
partner demands could impact our
relationships and reputation

Breaching contract may lead to
customer relationship issues and
potential financial penalties

In certain cases partners may have
rights to ‘put’ their shares creating 
a cash requirement or to ‘call’ the
Group’s shares for little
consideration

Failure to retain and develop our
skill sets may hinder the ability to
achieve our goals

Business disruption or IT system and
security issues may result in loss of
service, loss or compromise of
customer and internal data, breach
of legal and regulatory obligations
and damage to reputation

Failure to adhere to regulatory or
legal standards may lead to loss of
reputation and financial penalties



Our management team

30

X C H A N G I N G  P L C

The Xchanging Management Board (XMB) is responsible for developing
and delivering the strategy, the three-year plan and the annual budget.
It meets fortnightly to assess revenue and operational performance. 
The team brings a wealth of experience of the BPO market, industries
and geographies.

1. David Andrews
Chief Executive Officer
Founded Xchanging and CEO since inception.
Prior to Xchanging he was the Managing
Partner for Accenture’s West Europe business.
He built up their BPO business. As such he led
the successful accounting outsourcing for British
Petroleum, the operational outsourcing and
technology replacement for the London Stock
Exchange and the trading systems at Deutsche
Börse. David is a Fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants, has an MA in Finance
from Sheffield University and is William Pitt
fellow of Pembroke College, Cambridge.

2. Richard Houghton
Chief Financial Officer
Joined Xchanging in 1999 and was appointed
CFO, with responsibility for Finance, Legal and
Group Implementation, in September 2003.
Before joining Xchanging, Richard was Chief
Executive Officer of the Industrial Products
Division of Caradon plc. He has lived and
worked in the USA and Australia and began
his career at Esso having graduated in
Chemical Engineering from Cambridge
University. He completed an MBA at Harvard
and subsequently spent five years at McKinsey.

3. Adele Browne
Executive Director of Sales and Commercial
Joined Xchanging in 1999 and is Executive
Director of Sales and Commercial, responsible
for shaping and structuring the commercial
aspects of the Group’s partnering and
customer arrangements. Prior to joining
Xchanging, Adele worked in Corporate
Finance at Lazard Brothers, working on a
range of M&A deals. She started her career at
PricewaterhouseCoopers, where she qualified
as a chartered accountant. She graduated
from the University of Bristol in mathematics.

4. Mike Margetts
Sector Director Financial Markets
Joined Xchanging in 2000 and is Sector Director
of Xchanging’s Financial Markets, responsible for
delivering the sector strategy and financial
performance. Before joining Xchanging, Mike
commenced his career in financial services with
Accenture, spending three years in Russia. 
He then moved to become European Head 
of Project Services at Credit Suisse, responsible
for implementing a series of cross-functional
projects to improve the bank’s control
environment and cost efficiency. Mike is a
chartered management accountant and
graduated from the University of Bristol in 1988.

8 4

51
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5. Steven Beard
Sector Director Commercial Insurance
Joined Xchanging in 2002 and is currently 
the Sector Director Commercial Insurance,
responsible for delivering the sector strategy
and financial performance. Steven started his
career in finance and has held director level
positions in insurance, technology and venture
capital companies. Prior to joining Xchanging,
Steven’s previous roles included Finance
Director of a division of XL Capital and
Executive Director and CFO of a venture capital
plc. Steven is a Fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.

6. David Rich-Jones
Sector Director Business Lines
Joined Xchanging in 2000 and is Sector
Director Business Lines, responsible for
delivering the sector strategy and financial
performance. Prior to Xchanging, David was
Group Purchasing Director at Caradon plc, Vice
President of Global Purchasing, at Smithkline
Beecham and Group Purchasing Director (IT) 
for National Westminster Bank plc. He is 
past president of the Chartered Institute of
Purchasing and Supply. He has a degree in
Business Studies and holds a Diplôme Supérieur
de La Chambre de Commerce de Paris.

7. Clive Buesnel
Global Partnering Director 
Joined Xchanging in 2000, he is currently
Global Partnering Director responsible for 
co-ordinating Xchanging’s approach to
business relations and driving key Enterprise
Partnering sales opportunities. Prior to
Xchanging, Clive was Global Head of
Marketing IT at British American Tobacco. 
He spent seven years at Accenture and was a
Business Systems Manager at Mars Inc. Clive
holds an engineering degree from Brunel
University and completed the General Manager
Programme at Harvard Business School.

8. Melissa Pitt
Group HR Director
Joined Xchanging in 2003. She is Group HR
Director responsible for HR strategy and
delivery across the Group. Prior to joining
Xchanging, Melissa was with KPMG
Consulting in the Mergers and Acquisition
Integration Practice, focusing on training,
cross-cultural re-alignment, communications
and recruitment. She has a degree in English
literature from Dundee University. 

7 6
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Our people are critical to sustaining Xchanging as a fast growing,
international company. To support our corporate ambitions Xchanging
recruits, manages and develops a versatile and dynamic workforce. 
We are committed to realising our people’s ambitions and achieving 
our common goal as a leading BPO company.

Values
In the best companies, the ones that have
lasting success, people have a strong sense 
of shared principles. Our values underpin 
our business proposition. They are a central
part of our performance and development
review, the basis of career development, 
and of recognition and remuneration 
within Xchanging.

As a business we focus on cultural and
operational reinvention of our customers’ 
non-core activities. Our reputation is founded
on the transparency of our business proposition
and living our values. To reinvent non-core
processes, employees must build a commercial
mindset and an ability to innovate and change.

Training
Xchanging has distinct, repeatable and
consistent methodologies to enhance
employee skills. As well as ongoing training
programmes, our Master Classes ensure that
our internal experts transfer knowledge and
experience to their fellow employees.

Leadership
Our Leadership Training for Success (LTS)
programme identifies, assesses and promotes
the future leaders of Xchanging. This annual
programme has up to 10 high potential
managers who undertake a combination of
full-time study, practical problem solving and 
a project to improve Xchanging performance.
The programme has produced four promotions
to senior management positions in the last 
two years.

Graduate programme
In 2006, Xchanging launched its Graduate
Programme, with three management trainees.
In 2007, we increased this number to eight.
Over a two year period, graduates are exposed
to a mix of industry, geographical and
functional experience. They work closely with
senior executives, gaining a qualification and a
deep understanding of the Xchanging Way.

Rewards
We are committed to continuing to build 
a performance reward culture across our
business; this is why we build variable pay 
into our reward strategy with the potential 
for upper quartile rewards.

Transferring employees
New employees transfer to Xchanging from
our customers as part of our Enterprise
Partnership and Outsourcing contracts. 
We welcome new employees and the skills
and talents they bring to Xchanging. All
employees go through an induction process
and we provide opportunities for them to take
on new responsibilities and to develop their
careers, while being rewarded for success.

Sales awards
Xchanging holds a Quarterly Sales Awards
evening to recognise significant sales successes
and entrepreneurship. Awards are presented
by Adele Browne, Executive Director of Sales
and Commercial, to the winner for each
offering class.

Equal opportunities
We provide equal opportunities to all our staff
irrespective of gender, race, colour, ethnic or
national origin, disability, political opinions, age,
nationality, sexual orientation, religion, marital
status, social class or family circumstances. We
provide all staff with the opportunity to develop
their careers to the maximum.

Health and safety
We take health and safety very seriously across
all our sites. Our Health & Safety Management
System is based on OHSAS 18001 and is
underpinned by a number of initiatives. For
example, we are installing defibrillators at all
major Xchanging sites during 2008.

Our core values

•Responsive to
the aims of
customers

•Clear thinking,
resolute, brave
in decisions

•Reliable in
delivering
everything 
we promise

•Farsighted in
relationships

•Skilled at
releasing the
entrepreneurial
spirit in our
people 
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“I was delighted to be
recognised for the 
success I have had with 
Tech Mahindra.”

Shireen Shams, 
Corporate Immigration
Adviser, Xchanging

‘Xchanging: One company, one
purpose, one team.’

LTS’ approach to low cost
production behaviour.

Sales awards

Leadership training for success

Graduate programme

“You are constantly learning
and developing – at
Xchanging change is a 
hugely motivating factor.”

Simon Bittlestone,
Xchanging Graduate,
Oxford University
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Xchanging aspires to attain corporate and social responsibility (CSR) best
practice in every aspect of its performance. Our CSR priorities are:
relations with our employees and a responsible approach to offshoring;
the way we serve our customers and treat our suppliers; and the way
we interact with the communities and environment in which we operate
internationally. We see CSR as an integral part of our performance as an
ethical company.

Our approach

We have embedded corporate and social
responsibility into our Quality function. 
We manage CSR actively by defining the
appropriate measures of performance that 
we track and report on a monthly basis. 
For 2008, we have defined a comprehensive
programme for each of our business sectors.

Embedded practices
Our Quality Directors work closely with the
production teams to drive environmental 
and supplier best practice; the HR teams to
drive initiatives that benefit our people and
the communities we operate in; the Service
teams to benefit our customers; and with 
our Legal team to ensure the highest level 
of business ethics.

Measuring CSR performance
Xchanging understands the importance 
of measurement. During 2007, the CSR
performance criteria have been formalised.
During 2008, the Quality Directors will report
performance against these criteria every
month to the Xchanging Performance
Committee which includes the CEO and CFO.

Reporting and transparency
Externally, we will publish regular updates on
our website, we will report activities, planned
events and the progress we are making
against our 2008 programme.

Monitoring effectiveness
A Board sub-committee, chaired by Non-
Executive Director Stephen Brenninkmeijer,
with the CEO, Group Quality Director and
Group HR Director, has been established to
take overall responsibility for the effectiveness
of the CSR programme in 2008.

Embedding best practice for our
corporate and social responsibility
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Our priorities

Our people
Xchanging’s core asset is its people and we set
out our approach in this key area on page 32.

Offshoring
Our Global Balancing model includes building
offshore capacity. We leverage our suite 
of BPO sales offerings to use this capacity 
to service new customers and to avoid
redundancies wherever possible.

Our customers
Xchanging asks customers to rate its
performance regularly. We monitor service
perception as well as taking empirical
measurements. These measurements are
reviewed each month by the Customer Service
Review boards and committees, as well as on a
one-on-one basis with customers by our service
teams. Each month the Xchanging Performance
Committee reviews customer satisfaction and
follows up on any issues.

Our suppliers
Xchanging defines the required performance
and ethical basis of the supplier relationships
covering over £640 million of our own and our
customers’ spend. The supplier agreement 
with each specifies the standards of supply. 
As part of the active management of supply
types for Xchanging and for our procurement
customers, during 2007, we have included an
environmental element which we will continue
to develop in 2008. This includes:
• supply of degradable plastic bags 

and packaging
• use of recyclable paper and taxis 

with low carbon hybrid cars
• green renewable energy that saves 

446 grams of carbon for every unit 
of electricity used.

Our communities
Xchanging actively encourages community
initiatives, with an emphasis on staff
engagement with their local communities 
at the grass roots level. In 2008, our aim 
is to extend the level of support that our 
staff and Xchanging as a company provide 
to the communities we live and work in 
and to think more broadly as to how we 
can practically support poor countries 
and communities. For further information 
on CSR, please visit the corporate and social
responsibility section of our website.

The environment
As a service provider, we think carefully about
how we can positively affect our environment.
During 2007, we have encouraged our sites 
to reduce the use of energy resources and to
increase the recycling of waste. Over the past
two years, we have built communications
hubs, with high quality video links to connect
together our major international sites. These
hubs are already in use for over 80% of the 
two-shift day, reducing staff travel and our
carbon footprint. In 2008, we will develop 
an Environmental Policy that covers every
location. To this end, an Environment
Taskforce has been established.

Reduction in carbon footprint
Introduction of communications
hubs has decreased staff travel.

Xchanging’s community
initiatives

• Each of our Gurgaon staff donated
one kilo of food, clothes, books
and stationery items to the Goonj
charity in an initiative called
“Shed 1 kilo”.

• Our Frankfurt staff donated
money and practical support for
homeless people (‘Leberecht-
Stiftung’).

• Our Preston staff raised money
through sponsorship for research
into serious genetic disorders
affecting children (‘Jeans for
Genes’).

• Our staff participated in the
Lloyd’s Community Programme 
in East London.

• We donated computers and
printers to equip a Tanzanian
township school – where four
Xchanging employees also spent
time teaching IT skills.

• A number of our staff participated
in Build Africa, a development
charity that works in Uganda 
and Kenya.
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The Xchanging Board’s experience closely aligns with Xchanging’s
industry, geographic and sector operating focus. It comprises three
Executive Directors and nine Non-Executive Directors. The Directors 
and their expertise are set out below:

John Robins, Age: 69 (º ^)
Non-Executive Chairman
Joined the Group in 1999 as a Non-Executive
Director and appointed Group Chairman in
2000. Formerly Group Chief Executive of
Guardian Royal Exchange plc, Group Financial
Director of Willis Corroon plc and Chief
Executive Officer of Bally Group UK Limited.
John was the Chairman of Austin Reed Group
plc and the Actuaries Lane Clark & Peacock.
John offers a blend of financial and operating
experience with a deep insurance sector focus.

David Andrews, Age: 58 (^)
Chief Executive Officer
Founded Xchanging and has served as Chief
Executive Officer of the Group since its
formation in 1999. Formerly a board member
of Andersen Worldwide and the Managing
Partner of Andersen Consulting West Europe.
David is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants, a William Pitt fellow of Pembroke
College, Cambridge and, until April 2007, 
a Non-Executive Director to the Supervisory
Board of Deutsche Börse.

Richard Houghton, Age: 49
Chief Financial Officer
Joined the Group in 1999 and appointed to
the Group Board as CFO in February 2005.
Formerly worked at Caradon plc where he 
was Chief Executive Officer of the Industrial
Products Division. He has lived and worked 
in the USA and Australia and began his 
career at Esso having graduated in Chemical
Engineering from Cambridge University.
Richard completed an MBA at Harvard and
subsequently spent five years working in
consulting at McKinsey.

Adele Browne, Age: 39
Executive Director of Sales and Commercial
Joined the Group in 1999 and appointed to
the Group Board as Executive Director of Sales 
and Commercial in October 2005. Formerly
worked in Corporate Finance at Lazard
Brothers, working on a range of mergers and
acquisitions deals. Adele started her career at
PricewaterhouseCoopers, where she qualified
as a chartered accountant. Adele is responsible
for shaping and structuring the commercial
aspects of the Group’s partner and customer
arrangements.

Nigel Rich, Age: 62 (¥ º ^)
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman
Joined the Group Board as Non-Executive
Deputy Chairman in November 2006. Nigel
chairs the Group Board’s Remuneration
Committee and is the Senior Independent
Director. He is Chairman of SEGRO plc, 
Vice-Chairman of Asia House, Co-Chairman 
of the Philippine British Business Council and
Non-Executive Director of Bank of Philippine
Islands (Europe), KGR Absolute Return PCC,
Matheson & Co. and Pacific Assets Trust.
Formerly Nigel was Managing Director of
Jardine Matheson and Group Chief Executive
of Trafalgar House. Nigel is a chartered
accountant and was awarded a CBE in 1995.

John Bramley, Age: 68 (¥ º ^)
Non-Executive Director
Joined the Group Board in 1999 as a 
Non-Executive Director. John was formerly the
Finance Director of BP’s Worldwide Exploration
and Production group. John qualified as a
chartered accountant with Ernst & Young. 
His career with BP was financially based 
and encompassed the upstream, downstream
and central activities of the company.
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Stephen Brenninkmeijer, Age: 51 (¥ º ^ o)
Non-Executive Director
Joined the Group Board in 2000 as a 
Non-Executive Director. Stephen has had
considerable experience in the operational and
retail sectors, working for C&A in continental
Europe, Japan and the UK. He founded the
Andromeda Fund (part of the Entrepreneurs
Fund BV, owned by COFRA Holding AG) and
was founding Chairman of Network of
Teaching Entrepreneurship UK (NFTE UK). 
He is Deputy Chairman of Enterprise
Education Trust.

David Hodgson, Age: 51 (^)
Non-Executive Director
Joined the Group Board in 1999 as a 
Non-Executive Director. David is a Managing
Director of General Atlantic LLC and a
member of the firm’s investment and
executive committees. David also serves as a
director of a number of companies in the
computer software and services industry,
including ADS, Dice Inc., iFormation Group
Holdings, InSight Express, Northgate
Information Solutions and Trinet. 

Johannes Maret, Age: 57
Non-Executive Director
Joined the Group Board in 2003 as a 
Non-Executive Director. Johannes is Managing
Director of Maret GmbH and an Adviser and
Non-Executive Director of the investment
committee of the Triton fund. Johannes was a
partner in, and Chief Financial Officer of, Sal.
Oppenheim jr. & Cie. KGaA, where he was
responsible for banking and administration
and a member of the supervisory board of
European Transaction Bank.

Dennis Millard, Age: 58 (¥ º ^)
Non-Executive Director
Joined the Group Board in 2005 as a 
Non-Executive Director. Dennis is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee. He was
Group Finance Director of Cookson Group plc,
Finance Director of Medeva plc and was 
a Non-Executive Director and Chairman of 
the Audit Committee of Exel plc. Dennis is
currently Chairman of Smiths News plc, 
a Non-Executive Director and Chairman of 
the Audit Committee of Debenhams plc, a 
Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of EAG and a 
Non-Executive Director of Premier Farnell plc.
He is a member of the South African Institute
of Chartered Accountants.

Tom Tinsley, Age: 54 (º)
Non-Executive Director
Joined the Group Board in 2000 as a 
Non-Executive Director. Tom is currently a
Managing Director of General Atlantic LLC
and also serves on the boards of BMC
Software, Philanthropic Research Inc and
Critical Path. He has held various executive
positions with Baan Company, NV, a leading
provider of Enterprise Software Solutions,
including Chairman and Chief Executive of the
Management Board. Prior to joining Baan,
Tom was a director at McKinsey.

Notes
a. The Group Board was the Board of Xchanging BV, 

the holding company of the Xchanging Group until
Admission to the London Stock Exchange on 30 April
2007. On and after such date the Group Board has 
been the Board of Xchanging plc.

b. The symbols relate to the various Committees as
follows:

¥ member of the Audit Committee

º member of the Remuneration Committee
^ member of the Nominations Committee
o member of the Corporate Social Responsibility

Committee
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Xchanging plc is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance. Throughout the period under review, the Group Board has
applied the provisions set out in the Combined Code 2006 in all respects
except provisions A.3.2 ‘Board balance and independence’ and B.2.1
‘Composition of the remuneration committee’ as set out below.

The Board and committees
Xchanging plc’s Board is collectively responsible
to shareholders for creating and sustaining
shareholder value through the management 
of the Group’s businesses. It sets the Group’s
strategic plan and budgets, monitors their
implementation and, with the assistance of 
the Audit Committee, ensures that executive
management maintain a system of internal
operational, financial and regulatory controls
that identify and manage appropriately the
risks set out on page 29. The Board has a
formal schedule of matters reserved for its
decision, including the approval of half year
and annual financial statements, significant
changes in accounting policy and practice, 
the appointment or removal of Directors or 
the Company Secretary, changes to the
Group’s capital structure, investments,
contracts, acquisitions, mergers and disposals.

Other specific responsibilities are delegated to
Xchanging plc Board Committees which operate
within clearly defined terms of reference.

Details of the schedule of matters reserved for
the Board and the responsibilities delegated to
the Board Committees can be found on the
Company’s website, www.xchanging.com.

The operational management of Xchanging 
is delegated to the Xchanging Management
Board (XMB). The composition of the XMB 
is set out on pages 30 and 31.

Board composition and structure
The Board currently comprises an independent
Non-Executive Chairman, John Robins; 
the Chief Executive Officer, David Andrews; 
two other Executive Directors, Richard
Houghton and Adele Browne; and six other
Non-Executive Directors; the Deputy Chairman
and Senior Non-Executive Director, Nigel Rich;
David Hodgson and Tom Tinsley (both
appointees of General Atlantic); Stephen
Brenninkmeijer; Dennis Millard; John Bramley
and Johannes Maret. Friedrich Carl Janssen,
one of the non-independent Non-Executive

Directors during 2007, retired from the Board
on 20 December 2007.

As noted in the Chairman’s statement, John
Robins will retire at the May 2008 AGM and
will be replaced by Nigel Rich.

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer are segregated and the
division of responsibilities between the two
roles has been set out in writing and approved
by the Board.

As well as the three Executive Directors, the
following Non-Executive Directors are deemed
by the Board not to be ‘independent’ under the
terms of the Code and consequently the Group
Board is not compliant with the Code (as
disclosed in the April 2007 listing Prospectus):
• Tom Tinsley and David Hodgson – due to

their being appointees of General Atlantic
Partners, a founder shareholder in
Xchanging and still holding approximately
18.2% of Xchanging plc shares

• Johannes Maret – due to his being a
consultant to Xchanging GmbH, a Group
company, since June 2003.

The remaining four Non-Executive Directors
have been deemed to be ‘independent’ by 
the Board.

The planned changes in 2008 are for David
Hodgson (one of the non-independent Non-
Executive Directors) and John Bramley (one of
the independent Non-Executive Directors) to
retire at the May 2008 AGM. The search for
two additional independent Non-Executive
Directors to join the Board in 2008 has
commenced. The expectation is that one will
have experience in the insurance and/or
financial services industry with a good City 
of London reputation; while the other is
expected to be a European (non British), 
with international business experience and
knowledge of the German and possibly French
or Italian services industries.

“Corporate governance is
linked to every step of the
management process.”

Gary Whitaker
Company Secretary, 
Xchanging
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The Board believe that Johannes Maret provides essential insight and advice on the German
financial services industry – a key market for Xchanging. Therefore, Johannes Maret will remain
on the Board until a suitable replacement independent Non-Executive Director can be identified.

Attendance at Board and committee meetings
The attendance of Directors at Group Board meetings and at meetings of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nominations Committees during the year 2007 is shown in the table below:

Audit Nominations Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee 

Board meetings meetings meetings meetings

Attended Possible Attended Possible Attended Possible Attended Possible

David Andrews 15 15 n/a n/a 1 1 n/a n/a

Richard Houghton 15 15 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Adele Browne 15 15 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

John Robins 15 15 4 4 1 1 5 5

Nigel Rich 14 15 3 3 1 1 5 5

John Bramley 9 9 4 4 1 1 5 5

Stephen Brenninkmeijer 14 15 2 4 1 1 4 5

David Hodgson 13 15 n/a n/a 0 1 n/a n/a

Friedrich Carl Janssen 4 15 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Johannes Maret 14 15 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Dennis Millard 14 15 4 4 1 1 3 3

Tom Tinsley 13 15 n/a n/a n/a n/a 5 5

Directors’ induction, training and
information
The Board has a full induction programme 
for all new Directors. The Directors receive
ongoing updates to improve their knowledge
and enable them to discharge their duties. For
example, during 2007 Board members received
presentations on the Listing Rules, their
responsibilities as directors of a listed company
and the impact of the Companies Act 2006.

Directors receive written reports prior to each
Board meeting which enable them to make 
an informed decision on the issues under
consideration. In addition to formal Board
meetings, the Chairman maintains regular
contact with the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Directors to discuss specific issues.
The Company Secretary acts as an adviser to
the Board on matters concerning governance
and ensures Board procedures are complied
with. All Directors have access to his advice
and during 2007 this was sought in relation 
to share dealing. Directors may also take
independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense.

Board performance evaluation
Formal evaluation of the performance of the
Executive Directors is appraised annually by
the Chief Executive Officer. The evaluation of
the Board and its Committees was conducted
during 2007 under the leadership of the
Chairman. Each Director completed a detailed
questionnaire covering their assessment of the
Board structure, the content and functionality
of meetings, corporate governance and 
inter-action with management. Committee
members also reviewed the activities of each
Committee against the actions required by
their terms of reference. The Non-Executive
Directors met separately to evaluate the
performance of the Chairman, who then
joined them to evaluate the performance 
of the Chief Executive Officer.

Following the 2007 Board assessment, 
a report was prepared by the Company
Secretary in conjunction with the Chairman
and presented to the December Board. Based
on this assessment it is considered that the
Board is operating effectively, but that it must
be moved to full compliance with the Code.
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Election and re-appointment of Directors
All Directors are subject to re-election at
Annual General Meeting at intervals of no
more than three years. At the next AGM (May
2008), Stephen Brenninkmeijer will retire by
rotation and seek re-appointment (see Notice
of AGM). In addition, as described above,
John Robins, John Bramley and David
Hodgson will retire and will not offer
themselves for re-election.

Board committees
The Group Board has established Audit,
Remuneration and Nominations Committees.
The Committees have all reviewed their terms
for the 2007 year end, and the changes
recommended to the Board have been
accepted. The minutes of Committee meetings
are sent to all Directors and oral updates are
given at Board meetings.

The Audit Committee
The Group Audit Committee comprised four
independent Non-Executive Directors: Dennis
Millard (Committee Chairman), Nigel Rich,
Stephen Brenninkmeijer and John Bramley 
– all of whom served throughout the year
under review other than Nigel Rich (who was
appointed in April 2007). Dennis Millard, a
chartered accountant, was Group Finance
Director of Cookson Group plc from 1996 
to 2005, held further previous executive roles
as Finance Director and is currently also
Chairman of the Group Audit Committee of
Debenhams plc and thus the Board considers
him to have recent and relevant financial
experience. The Company also considers that
the Audit Committee complies fully with the
Code recommendations.

The Group Audit Committee met four times
during 2007. Also in attendance, by invitation,
were the Group Chairman, the Chief Financial
Officer, the Head of Group Internal Audit, the
external auditors and other executives for
specific specialised subjects. Both the Head of
Group Internal Audit and the external auditors
have access to the Audit Committee Chairman
outside of formal Committee meetings.

The Committee maintains a formal calendar 
of items to be considered at each meeting 
to ensure that its work is in line with the
requirements of the Code. Key items

considered during 2007 include the review of
key accounting policies; material judgements;
quality of earnings and accounting estimates;
internal and external audit’s 2007 and 2008
scope of work and their findings; half year
and full year financial statements; IT security;
regulatory framework; risk register process;
whistle-blowing arrangements; results from
Enterprise Partnership Audit Committee
meetings; and the effectiveness of internal
control and risk management systems.

The Group Audit Committee reviews the
Company’s Annual Report and Accounts, as
well as reports from the external auditors. 
At its July 2007 and February 2008 meetings,
the Committee approved the half year and 
full year financial statements respectively.

Reports summarising internal audit activities
and key matters of control are presented at
each meeting by the Head of Group Internal
Audit. In 2007, the Committee reviewed
management’s progress against actions
throughout the year, agreeing the
appropriateness of key recommendations 
made. In addition, the Committee reviews and
approves both internal and external audit’s
plans for the coming year. The plan for external
audit’s 2007 year end audit was approved in
September 2007 and internal audit’s plan for
2008 was approved in December 2007.

The Committee receives updates from the
Head of Group Internal Audit and Executive
Directors on the subject of risk and the
processes employed to both identify and
mitigate the risks. The Committee reviews
changes to the Group’s risk register and
receives other reports on individual risk areas,
such as Information Security. The Board then
reviews the risks identified by this process. In
December 2007, the Committee reviewed the
changes to the latest Group risk register and
concluded that the process undertaken to
identify and mitigate risks was effective.

In December 2007, the Committee conducted
its annual assessment of the suitability and
performance of the external auditors in
making its recommendation to the Board for
their re-appointment. In addition, to ensure
that the objectivity and independence of 
the audit is not compromised, a review is
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undertaken of the level of non-audit services
provided by the external auditors and
safeguards are put in place such as:
• seeking confirmation that the auditors 

are, in their professional judgement,
independent of the Company

• obtaining from the external auditors an
account of all relationships with the
Company and considering whether, taken
as a whole, the various relationships
between the Company and the external
auditors impair, or appear to impair, the
auditors’ judgement or independence.

In addition to the Group Audit Committee,
each UK Enterprise Partnership (EP) has its
own Audit Committee whose members and
chairman are independent of the EP. Such
committees are attended by Xchanging’s
partners, nominated Xchanging senior
management and senior EP management. 
The Head of Group Internal Audit attends EP
Audit Committees on a regular basis. EP Audit
Committees have similar terms of reference 
to the Group Audit Committee. In Germany,
Xchanging transaction bank (Xtb) has a
Shareholder Committee attended by
representatives from Xchanging’s partner 
and nominated Xchanging senior management.
Key issues and the minutes of each EP
meeting are reported to the Group Audit
Committee. The Chairman of the Group Audit
Committee meets with the Chairmen of the
EP Audit Committees once a year.

Nominations Committee
The Group Nominations Committee comprised
seven Board members. The majority are
independent Non-Executive Directors. 
The members are John Robins (Committee
Chairman), David Andrews, Nigel Rich, Dennis
Millard, John Bramley, Stephen Brenninkmeijer
and David Hodgson. The Committee meets as
and when required. In the 2007 reporting
period, it met once, in December, where the
planned Board changes outlined above were
agreed, the experience required of
replacement independent Non-Executive
Directors was discussed and the authority to
appoint head hunters to implement the 
search was delegated to a sub-committee,
chaired by Nigel Rich.

The Committee’s broader role is to assist the
Board in discharging its responsibilities relating
to the structure, composition and size of the
Board and has approved plans for the orderly
succession of changes to the Board to move it
towards full compliance with the Code as
outlined above.

Remuneration Committee
Details of the Group Remuneration Committee
and its activities are given in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 52.

The Remuneration Committee believes that
Tom Tinsley provides valuable knowledge and
experience to proceedings and so at present
will remain a member. As he is not considered
to be an independent Non-Executive Director,
the Company does not comply with the Code
recommendation that all members of the
Committee are independent Non-Executive
Directors.

Communication with shareholders
The Board places importance on
communication with shareholders and in the
coming 12 months major shareholders will be
given the opportunity to meet the Chairman
and Directors as appropriate. The Company’s
Investor Relations team organises an ongoing
programme of dialogue and meetings
between the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer and institutional investors,
fund managers and analysts.

Brokers’ reports and analysts’ briefings are
circulated to the Board, who discuss any 
key matters raised by large investors with
management.

The Company’s Annual General Meeting in
May 2008 will provide a valuable opportunity
for the Board to communicate with private
investors. We encourage shareholders to
attend the meeting and to ask questions of
the Directors following the conclusion of the
formal part of the meeting. Details of proxy
voting by shareholders, including votes
withheld, will be made available on request
and will be placed on the Company’s website
following the meeting.
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Corporate responsibility and whistle-
blowing
The Group Board is responsible for how the
Group manages its corporate, social and
environmental responsibilities. Details are set
out on pages 34 and 35.

The Group is committed to the highest
standards of openness, probity and
accountability. A Group-wide whistle-blowing
mechanism has been established to enable
employees to voice concerns in a responsible
and effective manner, without fear of reprisal.
Employees can communicate concerns in
confidence about any possible improprieties 
or other matters, through a dedicated email
address, to which only the Head of Group
Internal Audit and the Group Company
Secretary have access.

Reported concerns are investigated at the
earliest opportunity by the Head of Group
Internal Audit, the Group Company Secretary
and, if appropriate, by management of the
respective business. The Head of Internal Audit
reports to the Group Audit Committee on the
concerns raised and any action taken.

Internal control and risk management
The Group Board is responsible for regularly
reviewing the operation and effectiveness of
the Group’s internal controls. The internal
control system is designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against material errors, losses or fraud.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control systems for 2007
and the period prior to approval of the Annual
Report. The review was undertaken by the
Audit Committee and its findings were
reported to the Board by the Audit Committee
Chairman on 12 December 2007 and 
21 February 2008. It considered all material
controls in accordance with the Turnbull
Guidance 2005. No significant failings or
weaknesses were identified during this review
and the Board confirms that the necessary

actions are in place to remedy any findings.
The Group’s key internal control and risk
management procedures include the
following:
• reviews of the Group’s strategy and 

the performance of principal subsidiaries
and Enterprise Partnerships through a
comprehensive system of reporting based
on variances to annual budgets, key
performance indicators and regular
forecasting

• well defined Group policies and processes,
communicated through the Group
Financial Reporting Procedures Manual 
and intranet portal and a strict process
governing the approval of sales
opportunities and capital expenditure

• a defined organisational structure with
appropriate delegation of authority

• the monthly review by the Xchanging
Performance Committee (XPC), a sub-
committee of the XMB, of performance
reports for each business sector. This
covers financial performance and a
detailed range of qualitative information
such as customer satisfaction, service levels
and the quality of processes. This identifies
the key operational issues and actions
required to address any deficiencies

• the maintenance of risk registers for each
business sector and for other key parts of
the Group, assessing the probability of
those risks occurring, the consequence
should those risks crystallise and the
controls in place to mitigate them. The
registers and mitigating actions are
monitored on an ongoing basis within 
the respective sector’s or business unit’s
management team. The Group risk register
incorporates risks pervasive or material to
the whole Group and is reviewed at least
annually by the XMB, the Board and the
Audit Committee

• the Audit Committee routinely monitors
the internal control environment through
its review of control matters from both
internal audit and external audit and other
related reports from management

• the work performed by the Group’s
internal audit department is focused on
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areas of greatest risk to the Group (as
identified through the risk management
process outlined above), as well as issues
identified by monthly performance
reporting. Internal audit’s objective is to
provide independent assurance to the
Board and Audit Committee over
operational and financial controls and to
assist the Board in its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal controls. The Head
of Group internal audit reports directly to
the Chief Financial Officer, but has the
right to report to the Audit Committee
Chairman independently of executive
management. All internal audit reports are
reviewed by the Audit Committee and
made available to the external auditors

• each business sector has a Head of Quality,
responsible for the quality of controls and
processes within that sector as well as for
ensuring compliance with policies and
procedures, legislation and the operation of
risk management procedures. Each sector
Head of Quality reports to their respective
Sector Director and attends, by invitation,
the EP Audit Committees relevant to their
business sector.

The internal control environment will continue
to be monitored and reviewed by the Board
which will, where necessary, ensure
improvements are implemented.

Going concern
After making enquiries, the Directors consider
that the Group and the Company have
adequate resources and committed borrowing
facilities to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. Consequently, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the accounts.

The attention of shareholders is drawn to 
the independent auditors’ reports on pages
104 and 111.

By Order of the Board

Gary Whitaker
Company Secretary
25 February 2008
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This part of the Remuneration Report 
is unaudited.

Foreword
Xchanging knows that its people are key and
the primary factor in the overall success of the
Company. Xchanging’s policy aligns the
remuneration structure with business
objectives and individual performance so that
it can attract, motivate and retain executives
of the highest calibre to achieve a high
performing management culture, known as
the Xchanging Way, enabling Xchanging to
become the pre-eminent global business
processing services company.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the total remuneration packages for Executive
Directors, paying particular attention to
ensuring that the total remuneration package
has the right balance of incentives to
encourage and reward superior performance.
Specifically we have:
• a remuneration strategy that encourages

and rewards high performance and
minimises the risk of attrition among the
management team who are key in
generating returns to shareholders

• a fixed pay policy that ensures the
Company is competitive in its particular
market for talent 

• a variable pay policy that rewards superior
performance in terms of both annual
underlying financial performance and
longer term generation of above market
returns to shareholders.

The overall guideline is to reward the executive
team towards the upper quartile level of total
remuneration of the FTSE 250 comparator
group, provided that superior performance 
is achieved. Specifically, the Remuneration
Committee has approved the following 
for 2008:
• the fixed pay element will be positioned so

that the Company is not at a disadvantage
when recruiting and retaining key talent
from a highly competitive market 

• the bonus maximum will be increased to
150% for Executive Directors to reflect 
the continued high growth targets. The
bonus will be paid on a graduated scale,
linked to stretching profit before tax
targets, with 70% payable on achievement
of the high growth targets and 130%
payable on achievement of the superior
growth targets. For the Executive Directors,
aggressive revenue growth targets are 
also applied. If revenue targets are not
achieved, then the bonus will be adjusted
downwards. Twenty percent of the bonus
maximum for all Executive Directors will 
be reserved for compliance with the
Xchanging Way. The Xchanging Way
ensures that the executive team drives 
the right behaviours, the Xchanging 
values and an organisation structure that
achieves success

• the long-term variable element will be
delivered via the Performance Share Plan,
which will contain stretching performance
conditions, graduated on a scale from
median through to upper decile, relative 
to Total Shareholder Return performance
(subject also to the achievement of a
minimum level of real earnings per 
share growth).

The Remuneration Committee believes that the
policy is aligned to Xchanging’s business
objectives and the interests of the shareholders.
The Remuneration Committee will continue to
monitor performance against the total
remuneration policy closely to ensure that it
achieves its aim in attracting, motivating and
retaining the senior management talent that
are required to develop the Company.

1 Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee, the terms of
reference for which can be found under the
Corporate Governance section of the
Xchanging website, is appointed by the Board.
Its primary purpose is to review the ongoing
appropriateness of the remuneration policy as it
applies to the Executive Directors and key senior
management, make recommendations on the

The Director’s Remuneration Report covers the 12 month period to 
31 December 2007. It shows remuneration paid to Directors over that
period by Xchanging BV prior to Admission to the London Stock
Exchange on 30 April 2007 and by Xchanging plc post Admission.
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framework for their remuneration, and to
determine their specific remuneration packages.
In addition, the Remuneration Committee is
responsible for monitoring the remuneration
strategy and policy of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee consists of the
following Non-Executive Directors; Nigel Rich,
John Bramley, Stephen Brenninkmeijer, Dennis
Millard and Tom Tinsley. They are all deemed
independent, with the exception of Tom Tinsley
who is an appointee of General Atlantic, a
founding shareholder of Xchanging. However,
as he sits on the Board of a number of
companies, his experience of remuneration
issues is considered invaluable to the
Committee. John Robins was a member of the
Committee until he stepped down in
December 2007. The Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee is Nigel Rich. The
Company Secretary is secretary to the
Remuneration Committee. Only Committee
members and the Company Secretary (except
when his own remuneration is being directly
considered) are entitled to attend meetings of
the Remuneration Committee. However, the
Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive
Officer, Group HR Director, Legal Counsel and
others may attend by invitation.

The Remuneration Committee met five times 
in 2007. All members were present with the
exception of Stephen Brenninkmeijer who 
was absent for the second meeting. The
Remuneration Committee continued to receive
advice from New Bridge Street Consultants LLP
in respect of market data, market practice,
governance and advice on long-term incentives
schemes. New Bridge Street provides no other
services to the Company.

2 Remuneration policy for Executive
Directors
Total remuneration is benchmarked against
relevant FTSE 250 market peers and also takes
account of pay levels offered at non-listed
professional business consultancies (who are
viewed as competing for the same management
talent). Xchanging also takes into account the
appropriate geographic and nationality basis for
determining competitive remuneration.

The only guaranteed payment to Executive
Directors is their base salary. Therefore, a
significant proportion of Executive Director
remuneration is linked to corporate and
individual performance. 

Remuneration packages for the Executive
Directors consist of base salary, annual bonus,
awards under long-term incentive schemes
and other benefits. The Executive Directors
have never participated in any of the Group’s
pension schemes and have formally waived
their right to do so.

Base salary
Salaries are reviewed annually each January by
the Remuneration Committee based on
independently supplied data on salaries paid
to senior executives within the FTSE 250.
Salaries are also set with due account given to
Group performance, individual performance,
market competitiveness and changes in
responsibilities. The Company is under no
obligation to award an increase.

The base salaries of the Executive Directors, 
for the 2008 financial year will be as follows:
• David Andrews – £585,000
• Richard Houghton – £411,000
• Adele Browne – £377,000

These salary levels (along with those of other
key senior managers) have been set by the
Remuneration Committee taking full account
of the factors set out above and, in particular,
the vital contribution of this executive
management team to the Group’s success and
their very extensive experience in the Group’s
business sphere.

Annual bonus
Bonuses payable for performance in 2007 are
set out in the emoluments table below and
reflect another year of strong performance.
80% of the bonus entitlement for 2007 was
dependent on the achievement of financial
performance targets. Financial performance
was based on the achievement of specific
XPBT* and sales targets. In the event, the
Group’s growth targets were achieved, on
which the annual bonuses were based, with

Footnotes
* XPBT is adjusted profit before taxation attributable to equity holders of the Group. Adjusted profit before taxation

excludes exceptional items and certain non-cash items, which comprise share-based payment charges of £0.5m (2006:
£0.5m), amortisation of intangible assets previously unrecognised by acquired entities, imputed interest charges on the
historic funding structure of the Group which fell away on Admission, imputed interest on put options and imputed
interest on employee loans.
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XPBT growth of 43.3% and revenue growth
of 19%. The balance of 20% was dependent 
on achievement of measurable personal
performance objectives.

For the year 2008, the maximum bonus
entitlement will be 150% of salary. The
maximum bonus entitlement will comprise:
130% based on Xchanging’s share of profit
before tax (XPBT) and 20% based on
measurable personal performance objectives.
Additionally, aggressive revenue growth
targets have also been set which, if not
achieved, would lead to a reduction of 
up to 50% in the bonus entitlement 
should the revenue target not be reached.

This maximum bonus opportunity reflects the
Remuneration Committee’s wish that a
significant portion of the Executive Directors’
pay be at risk if profit and revenue targets are
not met and with a full bonus payable only for
truly outstanding performance.

Long-term incentive plans
The Company established a number of share
incentive plans around the time of Admission,
namely an Approved and Unapproved
Executive Share Option Plan (the ESOP) and a
Performance Share Plan (the PSP). Other share
plans, namely the Share Purchase Plan and
earlier Approved, Unapproved and Unapproved
G Share Options Plans were also in existence at
Admission but no further awards will be made
under these plans.

Executive Share Option Plan (ESOP)
No ESOP awards were granted to the
Executive Directors in 2007. There are no 
plans to make further ESOP awards to
Executive Directors unless as a reward for
entrepreneurial achievement (as outlined in
section 3 below). ESOPs may also be granted
to new senior employees.

Performance Share Plan (PSP)
The Remuneration Committee intends that the
PSP will be the primary vehicle through which
share-based long-term incentives are offered to
Executive Directors and other senior executives.
Under the PSP, conditional awards of shares (or
phantom shares where tax/regulatory conditions
make it more appropriate) may be made worth
up to 150% of salary each year (or 300% of
salary in exceptional circumstances relating to

the recruitment or retention of an employee).
No awards were made under the PSP in 2007.
However, it is intended that awards will be
made to Executive Directors and other members
of the senior management team in 2008. For
Executive Directors, a basic award will be made
over shares worth 100% of base salary. Twenty-
five percent of this basic award will vest if the
Company’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) is
equal to the median TSR of the constituents of
the FTSE 250 index (excluding investment trusts)
at the end of a fixed three year period. Full
vesting of basic awards will occur for TSR
performance at or above upper quartile. In
addition, the Executive Directors will receive a
stretch award of a further 50% of salary. Stretch
awards will begin to vest at the upper quartile
against the comparator group, with full vesting
only in return for upper decile performance. In
addition, both basic and stretch awards will only
vest if the Company’s annual average EPS
growth over the relevant three year period is no
less than RPI + 3%.

The Remuneration Committee believes that
the TSR-based performance conditions that
will apply to basic and stretch awards,
together with the related EPS growth
condition, ensure that the Executive Directors
are further incentivised to deliver outstanding
returns to shareholders while also enhancing
underlying financial performance. The extent
to which the performance conditions are
achieved will be determined by the
Remuneration Committee having received
appropriate third party advice.

Share Purchase Plan (SPP)
At the start of 2007, prior to the listing of
Xchanging plc, certain Executive Directors and
members of senior management purchased
Class F Common Shares (in Xchanging BV),
under the terms of the SPP, at the prevailing
market price (equivalent to £1.33 following
the four-for-one share split at IPO). The
Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust
provided non-interest bearing loans to the
participants to enable them to fund the
purchase of the Class F Common Shares.
Participants in the SPP may not normally sell,
transfer or otherwise dispose of the shares
awarded for a period of 18 months from
issue. No further awards will be made under
the SPP. The share awards are subject to
continued employment for a period of 
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18 months from the date of grant although
the employee benefit trust may re-purchase
any shares awarded at the current market
value for good leavers.

Other benefits
The Executive Directors are eligible to
participate in benefits plans on the same 
basis as other employees. However, they 
have waived their right to join the Group’s
defined contribution pension arrangements.

The Executive Directors are entitled to receive
25 days holiday per annum in addition to
public holidays and are eligible to receive other
benefits including life assurance, permanent
health insurance and are eligible to join
Xchanging’s private medical insurance scheme
in accordance with the scheme terms and
conditions under which cover is provided. 
They are covered by the Group’s life assurance
and permanent health insurance scheme,
which provides, free of charge, a benefit equal
to four times their basic salary at the time of
their death and 75% of their basic salary
should they be off work due to a critical illness
for 26 continuous weeks, subject always to
the terms and conditions of the policies under
which such cover is to be provided and to
them satisfying such requirements as the
insurer may impose prior to its granting cover.
These benefits are valid until they reach their

65th birthday and as long as they remain
employees of Xchanging. In addition, and as
described earlier, the Executive Directors were
made awards under the Share Purchase Plan.
With the exception of David Andrews, 
non-interest bearing loans were provided 
to the Executive Directors. The loans become
repayable on the earliest of the employee
ceasing employment, the employee
transferring or otherwise disposing of their
shares (or attempting to do so), the employee
accepting another loan from a member of 
the Group to re-finance the loan and the 
‘long stop’ date of 31 December 2011.

3 Dilution and the pre-IPO share pool for
entrepreneurial achievement
As disclosed in Xchanging’s IPO prospectus,
4,006,388 shares authorised by shareholders
prior to Admission, but not allocated to
employees at that time, may be placed under
option or issued under the Company’s share
incentive plans without counting towards the
ongoing dilution limits. The Remuneration
Committee has subsequently approved that
such pool of options will be awarded to
employees in recognition of entrepreneurial
achievement or to new senior employees. 
In 2007, a total of 285,443 options have been
granted to two senior managers in recognition
of their entrepreneurial achievements.
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This chart depicts the value at 31 December
2007 of £100 invested in Xchanging plc at the
IPO price of £2.40 compared to £100 invested
in the FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts)
from the date of the IPO price setting (25 April
2007). The chart also shows the daily
Xchanging share and FTSE 250 (excluding
investment trusts) index price movements. 
The FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts) has
been chosen as the comparator index because
Xchanging is a member of this FTSE index.

5 Service contracts
The Executive Directors entered into new
service agreements with the Company which
took effect on Admission to the London Stock
Exchange on 30 April 2007. Executive Directors
have service contracts with notice periods of
12 months from either the Director or the
Company. This is in line with best practice for
listed companies. The Company has the right
to elect to terminate the employment of the
Executive Director without notice or with less
than 12 month’s notice by making a payment
in lieu of notice equal to the base salary the
Executive Director would be entitled to receive
during any unexpired period of the notice
period. The Executive Directors’ service
contracts do not contain provisions for
compensation in the event of early
termination. In the event of termination, the
Executive Directors lose their entitlement to
receive any bonus payment. However, the
Remuneration Committee may, at its complete
discretion, choose to make an award.

6 Fees retained for Non-Executive
Directorships 
The policy on Non-Executive Directorships is that
the Chief Executive Officer may hold up to two
Non-Executive Directorships and other Executive
Directors may hold one position each. Directors
may retain any fees payable to them with the
consent of the Remuneration Committee,
except in the case where the Directorship is 
as a representative of the Company.

During the year David Andrews was a 
Non-Executive Director and member of the
Deutsche Börse Supervisory Board until April
2007. He will receive a payment of €49,000
plus a variable component of €16,000 (which 

is dependent on Deutsche Börse year end
results), after approval at the Deutsche Börse
Annual General Meeting in May 2008. The
Remuneration Committee has agreed retention
of the payments by David Andrews. No other
Executive Director has held an external 
Non-Executive Director position.

7 Non-Executive Directors 
The Non-Executive Directors (including the
Chairman) of the Company have agreed terms
of appointment with the Company which took
effect from Admission on 30 April 2007. The
letters of appointment are all dated 2 April 2007
and are for a fixed term of three years. The
Chairman’s appointment may be terminated by
either party upon six month’s notice. All other
Non-Executive Directors’ appointments may be
terminated by either party upon three month’s
written notice. The appointment of Tom Tinsley
and David Hodgson as Non-Executive Directors
is also subject to the terms of a Relationship
Deed, entered into between the Company and
General Atlantic, details of which are set out in
the Prospectus. The appointment of each of 
the Non-Executive Directors does not give rise 
to any entitlement to compensation in respect
of their termination.

The fees paid to Non-Executive Directors will 
be reviewed regularly. In setting the fees,
independent external advice is sought on
current market practice with account taken of
time commitment and responsibility. The fees
payable to Non-Executive Directors are ratified
by the Board, based on the recommendations 
of the Executive Directors and the Chairman. 

At the next AGM, Stephen Brenninkmeijer will
retire by rotation and seek re-appointment. 
He has a three-year service contract which is
due to expire on 29 April 2010.

This part of the Remuneration Report 
is audited.

8 Directors’ remuneration
Total emoluments in respect of the 12 month
period ending 31 December 2007 (paid by
Xchanging BV prior to Admission on 30 April
2007 and by the Company from Admission)
are as follows: 
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Directors’ remuneration

For the financial year ended

31 December
31 December 2007 2006

Name Base salary and fees (£) Bonus (£) Benefits (£) Total (£) Total (£)

Executive Directors
David Andrews 535,600 324,618 14,262 874,480 511,408
Richard Houghton 360,000 340,590 52,604 753,194 337,761
Adele Browne 330,000 188,100 37,153 555,253 306,483

Non-Executive Directors
John Robins 125,000 – – 125,000 125,000
Nigel Rich 82,221 – – 82,221 25,000
John Bramley 40,000 – – 40,000 40,000
Stephen Brenninkmeijer 40,000 – – 40,000 40,000
David Hodgson 26,667 – – 26,667 –
Friedrich Carl Janssen* 26,667 – – 26,667 2,635
Johannes Maret¥ 103,967 – – 103,967 34,077
Dennis Millard 50,000 – – 50,000 46,936
Tom Tinsley 26,667 – – 26,667 –

* Friedrich Carl Janssen fees are as at his retirement on 20 December 2007. The amounts paid in 2006 to Friedrich Carl
Janssen relate to fees payable for his participation as a supervisory board member. This arrangement came to an end in
September 2006.

¥ The amount paid to Johannes Maret in the year to 31 December 2007 comprises three separate tranches. Fees of £26,667
(2006: £nil) have been paid in respect of the period April to December 2007 for his services as a Director of Xchanging plc.
Additionally, base fees of €12,500 and £18,750 have paid under the terms of the special adviser agreements. The £18,750
(2006: £nil) relates to the annual £25,000 fee payable under the revised special adviser agreement dated 26 March 2007 as
detailed below, while the €12,500 (2006: €50,000) was payable under the terms of the previous consultancy agreement
(this entitled Johannes to an annual fee of €50,000). This balance has been converted into sterling at the average exchange
rate for the year (£/€1.46206). Finally, a payment of £50,000 (2006: £nil) has been made in accordance with the revised
special adviser agreement as consideration for his contribution to business development. It is detailed in the notes below.

Notes
• The fee paid to John Robins was in relation

to his appointment as Chairman of the
Board and Chairman of the Nominations
Committee 

• The fee paid to Nigel Rich was in relation to
his appointment as Deputy Chairman of
the Board, Senior Independent Director and
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
Nigel Rich’s revised fee of £82,500 was
effective from 16 January 2007 

• The fee paid to Dennis Millard included a
fee of £10,000 in relation to his
appointment as chair of the Audit
Committee

• The fee paid to David Hodgson, Tom Tinsley,
Johannes Maret and Friedrich Carl Janssen
relate to fees paid since 30 April 2007

• In addition to the fees and benefits
mentioned above, the Company will
reimburse all expenses reasonably incurred
by the Non-Executive Directors in the
performance of their duties and the Group
has obtained appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance

• In addition to his letter of appointment,
Johannes Maret has entered into a special
adviser agreement with Xchanging GmbH
dated 26 March 2007 pursuant to which
Johannes Maret assists the Group in the
development of the Group’s customer base
in Germany and other countries in Europe.
Johannes Maret receives the following
under the terms of the special adviser
agreement with Xchanging GmbH:
• a fee of £25,000 per annum (payable

in quarterly installments)
• in relation to each potential customer

or partner in respect of whom
Johannes Maret has assisted the
Group, a fee of £200,000 on each
occasion that a member of the Group
signs a contract with a customer or
partner with an annual value to the
Group in excess of €100 million



R e m u n e r a t i o n  R e p o r t

Remuneration Report – continued

50

X C H A N G I N G  P L C

• in relation to each potential customer or partner in respect of whom Johannes Maret 
has assisted the Group, a fee of £50,000 on each occasion that a member of the Group
signs a contract with such customer or partner with an annual value to the Group of 
less than €100million, but greater than €30 million

Johannes Maret’s special adviser agreement is subject to termination by either party giving no
less than three month’s notice in writing.

9 Share options and long-term incentive schemes
Details of share options granted in respect of qualifying services are outlined below. More
detailed information on the awards, their conversion from awards over shares in Xchanging BV
to awards over shares in Xchanging plc following Admission and the performance conditions are
set out following the below tables and under long-term incentive plans on pages 46 and 47.

Xchanging share options – Approved scheme

Number of
Number of Granted Exercised options at Exercise Date from
options at during during 31 December price which

Director 1 January 2007 the year the year 2007 £ exercisable Expiry date

Richard Houghton 85,180 – – 85,180 0.33 24/11/2006 24/11/2013

Adele Browne 85,180 – 85,180 – 0.33 24/11/2006 24/11/2013

Adele Browne exercised her options when the market value of the share was £3.03.

Xchanging plc share options – Unapproved scheme

Number of
Number of Granted Exercised options at Exercise Date from
options at during during 31 December price which

Director 1 January 2007 the year the year 2007 £ exercisable Expiry date

414,820 – – 414,820 0.33 24/11/2006 24/11/2013
Richard Houghton 500,000 – – 500,000 0.94 24/11/2006 24/11/2013

314,820 – – 314,820 0.33 24/11/2006 24/11/2013
Adele Browne 400,000 – – 400,000 0.94 24/11/2006 24/11/2013

100,000 – 100,000 – 0.15 25/07/2003 25/07/2010
50,000 – 50,000 – 0.33 24/11/2006 24/11/2013

John Robins 50,000 – 50,000 – 0.94 24/11/2006 24/11/2013

Nigel Rich 200,000 – 200,000 – 1.33 19/10/2009 19/10/2016

50,000 – 50,000 – 0.33 24/11/2006 24/11/2013
John Bramley 50,000 – 50,000 – 0.94 24/11/2006 24/11/2013

Stephen 50,000 – 50,000 – 0.33 24/11/2006 24/11/2013
Brenninkmeijer 50,000 – 50,000 – 0.94 24/11/2006 24/11/2013

Dennis Millard 200,000 – 200,000 – 1.38 11/04/2009 11/04/2016

250,000 – 250,000 – 0.94 17/08/2007 17/08/2014
20,000 – 20,000 – 0.94 13/12/2007 13/12/2014

200,000 – 200,000 – 0.94 27/04/2008 27/04/2015
Johannes Maret* – 200,000 – 200,000 1.63 15/03/2010 15/03/2017

* Prior to listing, Johannes Maret was issued with the following grant of share options:
• options over 160,000 ordinary shares under the Unapproved Share Option Plan, at an exercise price of £1.625 per

share, exercisable in the event that a fee of £200,000 described above first becomes payable
• options over 40,000 ordinary shares under the Unapproved Share Option Plan, at an exercise price of £1.625 per

share, exercisable in the event that a fee of £50,000 described above first becomes payable.
Johannes Maret became entitled to exercise the option over 40,000 ordinary shares as consideration for his contribution
to business development.

All options exercises above occurred when the market price of the shares was £2.25.
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The market price of the Company’s shares on 31 December 2007 was £2.80. The highest and
lowest market prices during the year for each share under option that was unexpired at the end
of the year was £3.17 and £1.33 (which is an Xchanging BV share price stated on an Xchanging
plc equivalent basis) per share respectively.

The options shown have no performance conditions attached. They were all issued prior to IPO.
All options issued after IPO will be subject to performance conditions.

Directors’ shareholdings

Shares issued
Number of Disposals of Issues of following David Number of

shares at shares during shares exercise of Andrews shares as
1 January 2007 the year under SPP share options share gift 31 December 2007

David Andrews 28,000,588 (5,600,000) – (723,200) 21,677,388

Richard Houghton 2,449,977 (749,977) 500,000 200 2,200,200

Adele Browne 1,949,976 (599,892) 500,000 85,180 200 1,935,464

John Robins 400,000 (120,000) – 200,000 – 480,000

Nigel Rich – – – 200,000 – 200,000

John Bramley 320,000 (72,000) – 100,000 – 348,000

Stephen 
Brenninkmeijer 250,000 – – 100,000 – 350,000

Johannes Maret 1,109,976 (355,972) – 470,000 – 1,224,004 

Dennis Millard – (100,000) – 200,000 – 100,000 

As of 25 February 2008, there have been no changes to the Directors’ shareholdings above.

Explanatory Notes on Directors’
shareholdings and share options
Background
Prior to Admission, the ultimate holding
company of the Group was Xchanging BV. All
options were granted over shares in Xchanging
BV. On Admission of Xchanging plc on 30 April
2007, the following events occurred in order to
effect the insertion of Xchanging plc as the
ultimate holding company of the Group above
Xchanging BV (the “Re-organisation”):
(a) following agreement by all option holders,

all options over shares in Xchanging BV
were exchanged for options over ordinary
shares (of equivalent value) in Xchanging
plc and the exercise prices of such share
options were converted from Euros to
Sterling at the agreed conversion rate 
(the “Option Rollover”)

(b) following agreement by all shareholders,
all shares held in Xchanging BV were
exchanged for ordinary shares (of
equivalent value) in Xchanging plc 
(the “Share for Share Exchange”).

In addition, and pursuant to the Re-organisation
of the share capital of the Company, each
ordinary share in Xchanging plc was split into
four ordinary shares in Xchanging plc (the Share
Split). All option exercise prices were also divided
by four to take account of this Share Split.

More detail on the Re-organisation, the Option
Rollover, the Share for Share Exchange and the
Share Split can be found in Part 8 (Additional
Information) of the listing Prospectus.

Notes to tables of Directors’ shareholdings and
share options
For clarity and ease of reference:
(a) all numbers of shares shown in the above

tables as held, disposed of or issued are, to
the extent that such shares were shares in
Xchanging BV prior to the Re-organisation,
shown as the equivalent number of ordinary
shares in Xchanging plc following the Share
for Share Exchange and the Share Split
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(b) all numbers of share options shown in the
above tables as held, granted or exercised
are, to the extent that such share options
were options over shares in Xchanging BV
prior to the Re-organisation, shown as the
equivalent number of options over ordinary
shares in Xchanging plc following the
Option Rollover and the Share Split

(c) all exercise prices for share options are
shown as the Sterling exercise prices
following the conversion from Euros
pursuant to the Option Rollover and 
the Share Split.

Employee Benefit Trusts
Xchanging has three Employee Benefit Trusts.
The Infrex Employee Share Trust, the
Xchanging Employee Benefit Trust and the
Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust.

The trustees of the Infrex Employee Share
Trust are David Andrews and John Bramley.
The Infrex Employee Share Trust is a
discretionary trust for the benefit of
employees of Xchanging UK Limited and its
subsidiaries as the trustees decide. The Infrex
Employee Share Trust holds 191,108 shares.

The trustee of the Xchanging Employee
Benefit Trust is Ogier Employee Benefit Trustee
Limited, an independent professional trustee
situated in Jersey. The Xchanging Employee
Benefit Trust is a discretionary trust for the
benefit of such employees of Xchanging BV
and its subsidiaries as the trustees decide. 
The Xchanging Employee Benefit Trust does
not hold any shares.

The trustee of the Xchanging BV 2007
Employee Benefit Trust is Ogier Employee
Benefit Trustee Limited, an independent
professional trustee situated in Jersey. The
Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust 
is a discretionary trust for the benefit of 
such employees of Xchanging UK Limited 
as the trustees decide. The Xchanging BV
2007 Employee Benefit Trust does not 
hold any shares.

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors

Nigel Rich
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
25 February 2008
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Xchanging plc acquired the business of
Xchanging BV and its subsidiaries with 
effect from 30 April 2007 through an
exchange of equity interests. Xchanging plc
concluded its initial public offering and its
shares were listed on the London Stock
Exchange on the same date.

Principal activity and business review
The principal activity of the Group is the
provision of a range of complex industry-
specific processing services to the insurance
and financial markets, as well as procurement,
finance and accounting, human resources 
and technology infrastructure services to
customers across industries. The principal
activity and business review is discussed
further on pages 6 to 29.

Before 30 April 2007, the holding company 
of the Group was Xchanging BV, a private
limited liability company incorporated in the
Netherlands and domiciled in the UK.

Business review
The Chairman’s statement, the Chief
Executive’s review and the report and
performance reviews for the Group’s main
businesses on pages 1 to 37 provide detailed
information on the Group and its strategy, 
the operation of its businesses, and the results
and the financial position for the year ended
31 December 2007. These report on the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group, post balance sheet events and likely
future developments. The information in this
review constitutes the business review required
under the Companies Act and forms part of
this Directors’ Report.

Results and dividends
The profit for the year attributable to equity
shareholders was £15,336,000 (2006:
£10,718,000). The Directors recommend the
payment of a dividend of 2.0 pence per share
(2006: £nil).

Research and development
The Group incurs development costs in 
the design of processes and systems that
substantially improve those already installed 
in the Enterprise Partnerships, which includes
business process mapping, process 
re-organisation and software development.
Research and development is discussed further
in the Group performance on page 28.

The amount capitalised in the year in respect
of development expenditure was £4,797,000
(2006: £2,356,000).

Charitable donations
Donations towards various international,
national and local charities amounted to 
£10,000 during the year (2006: £37,000). No
donations have been made to political parties.

Directors and their interests
Details of changes to the Board during the
year and up to the date of this report are set
out on pages 38 to 39.

Details of Directors’ service contracts are set
out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on
page 48.

The interests of the Directors in the shares 
and share options of the Company are shown
on pages 48 to 52.

Significant agreements – change of
control
Upon a change of control (as variously defined
in the respective agreements) of Xchanging
plc, a number of significant agreements take
effect, alter or terminate as follows:

Customer service agreements
Under the terms of the following service
agreements, the customer may elect to
continue to receive such services, or
alternatively give notice to terminate the
contract for no fee:
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• the agreement for the provision of human
resource services by Xchanging HR Services
Ltd to BAE Systems plc, entered into on 
19 April 2001

• the agreement for the provision of
securities transaction services by
Xchanging transaction bank GmbH to 
Sal. Oppenheim Partners jr. & Cie. KGaA,
entered into on 29 December 2004

• the agreement for the provision of
sourcing and procure-to-pay services by
Xchanging Procurement Services Ltd 
to National Australia Group Europe Ltd,
entered into on 28 June 2006

• the agreement for the provision of claims
handling, payment and settlement services
by Xchanging Broking Services Ltd to Aon
Limited, entered into on 9 August 2006.

Enterprise Partnership shareholder
agreements
Under the terms of certain Enterprise
Partnership shareholders agreements, the
Enterprise Partner may elect to exercise
options over the shares in the enterprise
partnership, (for a call value as variously
defined in the respective agreements (and 
in one case for nominal value) and for a 
put value as defined the agreement). 
The agreements are as follows:
• Deutsche Bank AG (DB) may elect to 

call Xchanging’s shares in Xchanging
transaction bank GmbH under the terms
of the shareholders agreement, entered
into between DB and Xchanging Holdco
No. 3 Ltd, on 26 May 2004

• Aon Ltd (Aon) may elect to put its own
shares to Xchanging, or call Xchanging’s
shares in Xchanging Broking Services Ltd
under the terms of the shareholders
agreement, entered into between Aon 
and Xpanse Ltd, on 9 August 2006

• Allianz Global Investors
Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH (AGI) 
may elect to call Xchanging’s shares in
Fondsdepot Bank GmbH under the 

terms of the shareholders agreement,
entered into between AGI and 
Xchanging transaction bank GmbH, 
on 21 August 2007.

Revolving credit facility
Under the terms of the £35 million revolving
credit facility provided by Lloyds TSB Bank plc
(LTSB) to Xchanging UK Ltd, entered into on 
1 March 2007, LTSB may elect to continue to
provide such facility, or alternatively cancel it
and require all monies borrowed under such
facility to be re-paid.

Share schemes
Under the terms of the Xchanging plc 2007
Performance Share Plan (PSP), all PSP awards
will vest, normally pro rata to the period of
time from grant compared to three years, and
subject to satisfaction of the performance
conditions at that time.

Under the terms of the Xchanging BV
Approved Share Option Plan, option holders
may, with the agreement of the acquirer,
release their rights under option in exchange
for the grant to them of rights to acquire
shares of equivalent market value of the
acquirer. Under the terms of the Xchanging
BV Unapproved Share Option Plan and the
Xchanging BV Unapproved G Share Option
Plan, option holders under each scheme will,
with the agreement of the acquirer, release
their rights under option in exchange for the
grant to them of rights to acquire shares of
equivalent market value in the acquirer.

Under the terms of the Xchanging plc 2007
Executive Share Option Plan, early exercise 
of options is permitted based on the level 
of performance up to the date of the
triggering event. 

Directors’ Report – continued
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 
in respect of the financial statements 
and auditors
Company law requires the Directors to prepare
financial statements for each financial year,
which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and Group as at the
end of the financial year and of the profit or
loss of the Group for that year. In preparing
those financial statements, the Directors are
required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and 

then apply them consistently
• make judgments and estimates that 

are reasonable and prudent
• state whether applicable accounting

standards have been followed, subject 
to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the accounts

• prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis, unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the 
Group and the Company will continue 
in business.

The Directors confirm that they have complied
with the above requirements in preparing the
financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and the Group and
to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies 
Act 1985. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and
the Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

In the case of each of the persons who are
Directors of the Company at the date when
this report was approved:

• so far as each of the Directors is aware,
there is no relevant audit information 
of which the Company’s auditors 
are unaware

• each of the Directors has taken all the
steps they ought to have taken individually
as a Director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company’s
auditors are aware of that information.

Directors’ indemnities
The Company’s Articles of Association provide
that the Company may pay for Directors’
indemnities out of its own assets. The
Company has procured directors and officers’
insurance for this purpose.

Share capital
At the date of this report, 214,854,304
ordinary shares of 5 pence each have been
issued and are fully paid up and are admitted
to trading on the London Stock Exchange. 

The rights and obligations attaching to the
Company’s ordinary shares, as well as the
powers of the Company’s Directors, are set
out in the Company’s Articles of Association,
copies of which can be obtained from
Companies House or by writing to the
Company Secretary.

There are no general restrictions on the voting
rights attaching to the Company’s ordinary
shares (and the times by which proxies must
be lodged are specified in the Articles of
Association) or on the transfer of ordinary
shares. No person holds ordinary shares in the
Company carrying special rights with regard to
control of the Company. The Company is not
aware of any agreements between holders of
ordinary shares that may result in restrictions
on voting rights or on the transfer of ordinary
shares, save for: (i) the lock-up arrangements
described in the Prospectus dated 25 April
2007 (note: following the sell down of shares
by General Atlantic LLC in November 2007,
their lock-up was extended until release of
Xchanging’s preliminary results for year ended



31 December 2007); and (ii) as disclosed in
the Prospectus, the Executive Directors and
certain members of senior management, who
purchased shares from Xchanging BV under
the SPP in February 2007 (swapped for shares
in Xchanging plc on listing), may not normally
sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of their
shares for a period of 18 months from the
date of issue of the original Xchanging BV
shares. Unless expressly specified to the
contrary in the Articles of Association of the
Company, the Company’s Articles of
Association may be amended by special
resolution of the Company’s shareholders. 

The Articles of Association contain provisions
governing the appointment, retirement and
removal of Directors. Under the Relationship
Deed dated 24 April 2007 between General
Atlantic and the Company, General Atlantic
has the appointment rights described in the
Prospectus dated 25 April 2007.

The Articles of Association grant the Company
power to purchase its own shares subject to
specific authority being granted by the
shareholders. An authority to purchase
ordinary shares was granted at the Annual
General Meeting held on 23 April 2007 and a
resolution to renew this authority will be
proposed at the AGM in 2008, details of which
are given in the notice of meeting. The current
authority is described in the Prospectus dated
25 April 2007, as are the authorities granted to
the Directors to allot and issue ordinary shares
which will be replaced by the authorities to be
proposed at the AGM in 2008, details of which
are given in the notice of meeting.

Substantial shareholders
As at 25 February 2008, the Company had
been notified of the following material or
notifiable interests in its issued share capital 
by persons other than the Directors of 
the Company:

Number of
shares Percentage*

General Atlantic LLC¥ 39,093,080 18.20%
Fidelity Investment 
Services Ltd 25,886,867 12.05%
Standard Life 
Investments Ltd 13,120,338 6.11%
AEGON Asset 
Management 8,726,073 4.06%
Pendragon Capital 6,467,031 3.01%

Minority interests
The minority interests in the Group’s
subsidiaries at 31 December 2007 are set 
out as follows:

Interest in Xchanging 
Minority interest Group companies

25% interest in Ins-sure
Holdings Limited 

The Corporation 50% interest in Xchanging 
of Lloyd’s Claims Services Limited

International
Underwriting 25% interest in Ins-sure 
Association Holdings Limited

50% interest in Xchanging
Aon Limited Broking Services Limited

Deutsche 44% interest in 
Bank AG Xchanging etb GmbH

Sal. Oppenheim 5% interest in 
jr. & Cie. KGaA Xchanging etb GmbH

Allianz Global 
Investors
Kapitalanlagege- 49% interest in 
sellschaft mbH Fondsdepot Bank GmbH

D i r e c t o r s ’  R e p o r t
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Footnotes
* Percentages have been updated to reflect current number of shares.
¥ GAP – W International, L.P. (0.19%); General Atlantic Partners (Bermuda), L.P. (10.53%); 

GAPstar, LLC (0.73%); General Atlantic Partners 55, L.P. (1.43%); GAP-Xchange Partners, LLC, SCA (2.4%); 
GAP Coinvestment Partners, L.P. (0.88%); GAP Coinvestment Partners II, L.P. (2.06%); GAPCo GmbH & Co. KG (0.0013%). 
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The profits of the Xchanging Group
companies in which the minorities have 
an interest are not necessarily shared in
proportion to the shareholding interest in 
that company as each of the above 
individual Enterprise Partnerships have a
distinct contractual method of profit share.

Employee involvement
The Group is committed to providing
employees with information on matters of
concern to them on a regular basis, so that
the views of employees can be taken into
account when making decisions that are 
likely to affect their interests.

The Group supports employee share
ownership and, in addition to the share
and share option incentive plans for senior
management, during 2007 all eligible staff
received a gift of 200 shares from the Chief
Executive Officer as part of the staff share
participation programme.

Equal opportunities
The Group is committed to employment
policies which follow best practice based 
on equal opportunities for all employees,
irrespective of gender, race, colour, disability,
marital status, age or religion. All decisions
relating to employment practices are objective,
free from bias and based upon work criteria
and individual merit. It is the policy of the
Group to offer appropriate training and 
career development to disabled persons 
as far as possible that are identical to 
other employees, in line with best practice. 
In the event of a member of staff 
becoming disabled every effort is made by the
Group to continue employment and arrange
appropriate retraining and offer opportunities
for promotion.

Policy on payment of creditors
The Company aims to pay suppliers in
accordance with the suppliers’ contract terms.
The Company had an average of 45 days’
purchases (2006: nil days) outstanding in trade
payables during 2007. As the parent company
of the Group in 2006, Xchanging BV had 47
days’ purchases outstanding in trade payables.

Policy on financial instruments
The policy with respect to financial
instruments is covered in the accounting 
policy note 2(xiii) on pages 65 to 66.

Auditors
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
have indicated their willingness to continue 
in office, and a resolution that they be
reappointed will be proposed at the 
Annual General Meeting.

Going concern
The Board has a reasonable expectation that
the Group and the Company have adequate
resources to continue in operation for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly the financial
statements set out on pages 58 to 111 have
been prepared on the going concern basis.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the Company
will be held at 34 Leadenhall Street, London,
EC3A 1AX at 11:30am on 22 May 2008. The
notice convening the meeting, together with
details of the business to be considered and
explanatory notes for each resolution, is
distributed separately to shareholders. It is 
also available on the Company’s website.

By order of the Board

Gary Whitaker
Company Secretary
25 February 2008

D i r e c t o r s ’  R e p o r t



58 C o n s o l i d a t e d  i n c o m e  s t a t e m e n t  

X C H A N G I N G  P L C

Consolidated income statement – by function of expense
for the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006
Note £’000 £’000

Revenue 5/6 468,160 393,495
Cost of sales (414,622) (348,739)

Gross profit 53,538 44,756

Administrative expenses – before exceptional items (15,667) (13,693)
Administrative expenses – exceptional items 8 (6,200) (6,906)

Administrative expenses (21,867) (20,599)

Operating profit 9 31,671 24,157

Finance costs – before exceptional items 11 (10,502) (8,351)
Finance costs – exceptional items 8 (719) –

Finance costs (11,221) (8,351)
Finance income 11 12,021 9,114

Profit before taxation 32,471 24,920

Taxation 12 (11,946) (7,476)

Profit for the year 20,525 17,444

Attributable to:
– equity holders of the Company 28 15,336 10,718
– minority interests 32 5,189 6,726

20,525 17,444

Earnings per share (expressed in pence per share)
– basic 13 7.85 6.83
– diluted 13 7.52 6.41

The notes on pages 62 to 103 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense
for the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006
Note £’000 £’000

Actuarial gains arising from defined benefit pension schemes 37 14,101 8,017
Movement on deferred tax relating to defined benefit pension schemes 25 (4,082) (2,280)
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets 19 1,791 (1,470)
Deferred tax on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets 25 94 316
Currency translation differences 30/32 1,628 (360)

Net income recognised directly in equity 13,532 4,223
Profit for the year 20,525 17,444

Total recognised income for the year 34,057 21,667

Attributable to:
– equity holders of the Company 25,366 14,298
– minority interests 8,691 7,369

34,057 21,667

The notes on pages 62 to 103 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2007

2007 2006
Note £’000 £’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 15 85,620 29,362
Intangible assets 16 39,053 28,471
Property, plant and equipment 17 16,444 15,096
Available-for-sale financial assets 19 23,609 20,441
Trade and other receivables 20 6,056 6,115
Retirement benefit assets 37 6,158 –
Deferred income tax assets 25 16,894 16,317

Total non-current assets 193,834 115,802

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 20 100,855 74,976
Cash and cash equivalents 21 98,366 58,684

Total current assets 199,221 133,660

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 (98,989) (80,902)
Current income tax liabilities (1,609) (7,129)
Borrowings 23 (856) (3,270)
Provisions 24 (8,141) (8,720)

Net current assets 89,626 33,639

Total assets less current liabilities 283,460 149,441

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 (9,974) (9,764)
Financial liabilities

– borrowings 23 (655) (13,042)
– other liabilities 23 (17,865) (7,140)

Deferred income tax liabilities 25 (4,837) (2,517)
Retirement benefit obligations 37 (14,836) (21,901)
Provisions 24 (13,375) (9,447)

Net assets 221,918 85,630

Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary shares 26 10,740 221
Share premium 29 73,715 82,589
Merger reserve 31 409,672 –
Reverse acquisition reserve 31 (312,238) –
Other reserves 30 11,032 1,251
Retained earnings 28 13,661 (10,209)

Total shareholders’ equity 206,582 73,852
Minority interest in equity 32 15,336 11,778

Total equity 31 221,918 85,630

The notes on pages 62 to 103 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 103 were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 February 2008 and
signed on its behalf by:

D W Andrews R A H Houghton
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006
Note £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 34 49,720 29,433
Income tax paid (10,910) (9,404)

Net cash from operating activities 38,810 20,029

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition expenses (1,021) (115)
Acquisition cost of minority interests in subsidiaries (56,934) –
Acquisition cost of subsidiaries (12,329) (6,275)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired with subsidiaries 36 8,498 402
Cash invested by minority interests – 50
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,477) (8,707)
Purchase of intangible assets (8,710) (7,027)
Pre-contract expenditure (225) (3,223)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 113 375
Interest received 4,638 2,846

Net cash used in investing activities (71,447) (21,674)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares 83,611 1,611
Transaction costs of shares issued 31 (4,664) (325)
Interest paid (1,408) (43)
Dividends paid to minority interests (4,262) (11,591)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 73,277 (10,348)
Effects of exchange adjustments (958) 349

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 39,682 (11,644)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 58,684 70,328

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 21 98,366 58,684

The notes on pages 62 to 103 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1 General information
Xchanging plc is a limited liability company incorporated and
domiciled in the UK. The address of its registered office is 
13 Hanover Square, London, W1S 1HN. The nature of the
Group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the
Directors’ Report on pages 53 to 57. The Company’s ordinary
shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange.

2 Principal accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to both years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

(i)  Basis of preparation of the financial statements
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with EU endorsed International Financial Reporting Standards,
IFRIC interpretations and with those parts of the Companies
Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

With effect from 30 April 2007, the Company became the 
legal parent company of Xchanging BV and its subsidiary
undertakings. This business combination, effected through an
exchange of equity interests, has been accounted for as a reverse
acquisition in accordance with IFRS 3, “Business combinations”.
The key features of this basis of consolidation are:
• the consolidated income statement includes the results 

of Xchanging BV and its subsidiaries for the period until 
30 April 2007, with the addition of the results of
Xchanging plc from 30 April 2007 (the acquisition date)

• the comparative figures in the income statement and
balance sheet are the results and position of Xchanging BV
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2006

• the consolidated retained earnings reserves of the Group
include the pre Xchanging plc acquisition retained earnings
of Xchanging BV and its subsidiaries

• the reserves on the balance sheet are not directly
comparable year on year due to the application of reverse
acquisition accounting as described above.

All values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£’000)
except where otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of
available-for-sale investments, financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit and loss. A summary of the more
important Group accounting policies is set out below, together
with an explanation of where changes have been made to previous
policies on the adoption of new accounting standards in the year.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with EU
endorsed IFRS requires the use of judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

Although these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results
ultimately may differ from those estimates. The accounting
policy descriptions as detailed in note 4 of these financial
statements set out the areas where significant judgements,
estimates and assumptions have been made.

(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations 
effective in 2007

The following standards, amendments and interpretations have
been adopted during the year ended 31 December 2007:
• IFRS 7, “Financial instruments: Disclosures”, and the

complementary amendment to IAS 1, “Presentation of
financial statements – Capital disclosures”, introduce 
new disclosures relating to financial instruments. These
standards did not have any impact on the classification 
and valuation of the Group’s financial instruments.

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective
in 2007 but not relevant

The following standards, amendments and interpretations 
are mandatory for the first time for the current accounting
period but are not relevant to the Group’s operations:
• IFRIC 7, “Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29,

Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies”
• IFRIC 8, ”Scope of IFRS 2”
• IFRIC 9, ”Reassessment of embedded derivatives”
• IFRIC 10, ”Interim financial reporting and impairment”.

(c) Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group

The following interpretations to existing standards have 
been published that are mandatory for the Group’s future
accounting but which the Group has not early adopted:
• IAS 1 (Revised), “Presentation of financial statements –

Comprehensive revision including a statement of
comprehensive income” (effective from 1 January 2009),
impacting the presentational disclosure of the financial
statements, but will have no impact on the carrying values
of items

• IFRS 3 (Revised), “Business Combinations – Comprehensive
revision on applying the acquisition method” (effective from
1 July 2009), which will impact the way future acquisitions
are reported. The Group will apply IFRS 3 from 1 January
2010 with the main changes being that directly attributable
costs such as advisers fees and stamp duty will be charged
to the income statement, revisions to contingent cash
consideration in the period following the acquisition will be
recorded in the income statement and any difference
between the fair value of the consideration in the buy out
of minority interests and the value of their reported minority
interest will be recorded against equity rather than goodwill

• IFRS 8, “Operating segments” (effective from 1 January
2009), the expected impact of which is still being assessed
by management but is not likely to have a material impact
on the Group’s segmental reporting disclosure
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2 Principal accounting policies (continued)
• IFRIC 14, “IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset,

minimum funding requirements and their interaction”
(effective from 1 January 2008). IFRIC 14 provides guidance
on assessing the limit in IAS 19 on the amount of a surplus
that can be recognised as an asset. It also explains how the
pension asset or liability may be affected by a statutory or
contractual minimum funding requirement. The Group will
apply IFRIC 14 from 1 January 2008, but it is not expected to
have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(d) Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet
effective and not relevant for the Group’s operations

The following interpretations to existing standards have been
published that are mandatory for the Group’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007 or later periods
but are not relevant for the Group’s operations:
• IAS 23 (Amendment), “Borrowing costs”
• IAS 27 (Revised), “Consolidated and separate financial

statements – consequential amendment arising from
amendments to IFRS 3”

• IAS 28, “Investments in Associates – consequential
amendment arising from amendments to IFRS 3”

• IAS 31, “Investments in Joint Ventures – consequential
amendment arising from amendments to IFRS 3”

• IFRS 2 (Amendment), “Share-based payments –
amendment to vesting conditions and cancellations”

• IFRIC 11, “IFRS 2 – Group and treasury share transactions”
• IFRIC 12, “Service concession arrangements”
• IFRIC 13, “Customer loyalty programmes”.

(ii)  Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the
Company and all of its subsidiary undertakings drawn up to 
31 December each year and are based on consistent
accounting policies. Subsidiary undertakings include those
companies in which the Company has a 50% equity stake,
commonly referred to by the Directors as Enterprise
Partnerships, but over which the Company has the power 
of overall operational and financial control.

Interests acquired in subsidiary undertakings are consolidated
from the date control passes to the Group. Transactions and
balances, including unrealised profits, between Group
companies are eliminated. The interest of minority shareholders
in the balance sheet is stated at the minority’s proportion of
the carrying values of the assets and liabilities recognised.

(iii)  Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting as set out in IFRS 3. A business
combination is deemed to have occurred where the Group
acquires a third party business, either in whole or in part so
that it obtains control of that business. The assets and liabilities
acquired with the business are fair valued on the date of

acquisition and any difference between the fair value of
purchase consideration (and direct expenses of acquisition) 
and the fair value of the net assets, including intangibles and
contingent liabilities, is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of
acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the
income statement.

(iv)  Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received, excluding value added tax, rebates and discounts. It
comprises the value of services provided for human resources,
procurement services, securities processing, customer
administration and software sales.

Revenue from the provision of human resources services is
recognised according to the period to which the service relates,
net of guaranteed rebates to customers, when all obligations
are fulfilled.

Revenue from the provision of procurement services is recognised
on a gross basis where the Group is responsible for the whole
supply chain process and associated business process from end-
to-end. Where the Group acts as an agent, revenue is recognised
on a net basis. Revenue is recognised net of guaranteed rebates
to customers, according to the period to which the service relates
and only when all obligations are fulfilled.

Revenue from the provision of securities processing services is
recognised according to the period to which the service relates,
net of guaranteed rebates to customers.

The Group provides administration services to the insurance
market, from which there are three principal sources of
revenue. These, together with the bases of revenue recognition
are set out below:
• revenue in respect of the provision of administration

services comprises amounts receivable for subscription fees,
a transaction charge for the provision of administration
services and other ad hoc services. Subscription fees are
recognised in the income statement according to the
period to which they relate. Transactional revenue for these
services is recognised in the period in which the transaction
takes place. Ad hoc revenue is recognised in the period in
which the service is provided

• revenue in respect of business process services contracts 
is divided into an implementation phase and a service
provision phase. Revenue in respect of the implementation
phase is accounted for on a long-term contract basis.
Revenue and attributable profit is recognised on a
percentage completion basis representing the stage of
completion of contractual obligations. Revenue in respect
of the provision of post-implementation administration
services to business process services customers is
recognised in the period to which the service relates
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007 – continued

2 Principal accounting policies (continued)
• revenue in respect of the rental or maintenance of computer

software programs is recognised as earned. Billings are
included in trade receivables in accordance with the terms of
the relevant rental or maintenance contract. To the extent
that billings are recorded in advance of the relevant revenue,
such advance billings are included in deferred income. The
income arising from the sale of an initial licence is recognised
over the period of implementation of the software.

(v)  Finance costs
Finance costs are charged to the income statement using the
effective interest rate method.

(vi)  Finance income
Interest income is reported in the income statement as it arises
through the application of the effective interest rate method.

(vii)  Dividend distribution
Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

(viii)  Foreign currency transactions
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the 
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the
functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Sterling, which is the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the income statement.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets such
as equities classified as available-for-sale are included in the
revaluation reserve in equity.

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:
• assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented 

are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet

• income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at monthly average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated 
at the rate on the dates of the transactions)

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised 
as a separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(ix)  Goodwill
Goodwill recognised under UK GAAP prior to the date of
transition to IFRS is stated at net book value at the date of
transition. This goodwill had been amortised on a straight-line
basis over its useful economic life (being 10 years). Goodwill
recognised subsequent to 1 January 2003, arising from the
purchase of subsidiary undertakings, represents the excess 
of the fair value of the consideration paid over the fair value 
of the identifiable net assets (including intangible assets)
acquired. Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset. 
After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment reviews are
performed annually to ensure the present value of estimated
future net income streams from the associated contracts, being
the cash generating units to which the goodwill is allocated,
and discounted using discount rates specific to the Group,
exceeds the goodwill capitalised. Any goodwill impairment
identified is not subsequently reversed.

Purchases of the minority interests’ shareholdings result in
goodwill, being the difference between any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary.

(x)  Intangible assets
Development costs are stated at cost less a provision for
amortisation and any provision for impairment. Research costs
are expensed as incurred.

Costs incurred during the development period of new
contracts, including the costs of process and system designs
that substantially improve those processes and systems already
installed in the Enterprise Partnerships, are treated as
development costs. These costs are capitalised. Costs that are
capitalised comprise directly attributable incremental costs
incurred during the development period, including wages and
salaries of staff employed solely for the purpose of improving
the processes and systems, and third party costs.

Development costs do not include restructuring costs, (including
redundancy, early termination penalties and such like), which
are expensed to the income statement as they are incurred.



65N o t e s  t o  t h e  c o n s o l i d a t e d  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  &  A C C O U N T S  2 0 0 7

2 Principal accounting policies (continued)
Amortisation of development costs occurs on a straight-line
basis over the life of the contract to which they relate
(between 6 and 12 years). This period represents the useful 
life of the intangible asset.

Software costs are capitalised where they meet the criteria for
recognition under IAS 38. Where the criteria for capitalisation
are not met, software development expenditure is expensed 
as incurred.

Software development costs are amortised on a straight-line
basis at an annual rate of 20% or over the life of the related
contract, if longer, so as to write off the asset cost on a
straight-line basis over the expected useful economic life.

Purchased software is stated at cost and amortised on a
straight-line basis over three years.

Assets in the course of development are not amortised until
completion at which point they are brought into use.

Subsequent expenditure undertaken to ensure that an asset
maintains its previously assessed standard of performance, 
for example routine repairs and maintenance expenditure, is
recognised in the income statement as it is incurred. Where
subsequent expenditure significantly enhances an asset, this 
is capitalised.

Contractual customer relationships are capitalised on
acquisition where they meet the criteria for recognition under
IFRS 3 and IAS 38. Amortisation of customer contractual
relationships occurs in line with the expected length of the
customer relationship, which is between one and seven years.

(xi)  Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of property, plant and equipment is their purchase
cost, together with any incidental costs of acquisition.

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of the
assets, less their estimated residual values, on a straight-line
basis over the expected useful economic lives of the assets
concerned. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are:

Leasehold improvements over the period of the lease
Computer equipment 20 – 33%
Fixtures and fittings 10 – 25%
Motor vehicles 25%

(xii)  Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
At each balance sheet date, management reviews its tangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. Intangible assets are
reviewed if a trigger event is deemed to have happened. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is

estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows
that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the
extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement immediately.

(xiii) Financial instruments
(a) Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the following
categories: loans and receivables, available-for-sale and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were
acquired. The Group determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition:
• loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the
balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current
assets. Loans and receivables are classified as trade and
other receivables in the balance sheet (note 2 (xv))

• available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated in this category or not classified in any of
the other categories. They are included in non-current assets
unless management intends to dispose of the investment
within 12 months of the balance sheet date

• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
residual equities purchased as part of a requisitioned trade
on behalf of a client of the Financial Markets sector and are
held at their fair value until the opportunity arises to sell the
equity as part of a new requisitioned trade by a client. They
are included within current assets and classified as held-for-
trading assets within trade and other receivables in the
balance sheet.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007 – continued

2 Principal accounting policies (continued)
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date – the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently
carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Held-for-
trading assets are carried at fair value through profit and loss.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or
impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in
equity are included in the income statement as gains and
losses from investment securities.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are
recognised in the income statement as part of finance income
when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair values of other financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss are recorded in cost of sales in the
income statement.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current 
bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as
available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the security below its cost is considered as an indicator
that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for
available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured
as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity
and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses
recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are
not reversed through the income statement. Impairment testing
of trade receivables is described in note 2(xv).

(b) Convertible debt
Short-term and long-term convertible loans are classified as loans
and are separated into debt and equity elements upon initial
recognition. The liability is measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the
market rate in effect at the date of inception of the instrument.

The initial carrying amount is then accreted over the expected
life of the instrument to the face amount payable on maturity.

The equity element is recognised directly in the equity reserves and
not subsequently re-measured during the life of the instrument.

On conversion of the convertible debt, the fair value of the
liability together with the portion recognised in equity is
transferred to share capital and share premium.

(xiv)  Put options granted to minority shareholders
In accordance with IAS 32, when minority interests hold put
options that enable them to sell their investments to the Group,
the net present value of the future payment is reflected as a
financial liability in the consolidated balance sheet. At the end
of each period, the valuation of the liability is reassessed with
any changes recognised in the income statement for the period.

(xv)  Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost less provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original
terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments
are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.

Pre-contract costs comprise legal and other professional
expenses and other directly attributable staff costs incurred 
in order to obtain specific customer contracts. Costs that are
directly attributable to a contract are capitalised when it is
virtually certain that the contract will be awarded and the
contract will result in future net cash inflows with a present
value at least equal to all amounts recognised as an asset.

Pre-contract costs are included within trade and other
receivables and are amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the life of the contract, starting from the date when the 
contract commences.

(xvi)  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, demand
deposits and short-term highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible to cash and are subject to minimal risk of
changes in value.

(xvii)  Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

(xviii)  Operating and finance leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Rental costs under operating leases are
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Lease incentives provided by lessors to the
Group are amortised over the lease term together with any
related costs of acquiring the lease.
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2 Principal accounting policies (continued)
Assets held under finance leases are initially reported at the
lower of the fair value of the assets and the present value of
minimum lease payments with an equivalent liability
categorised as appropriate under current or non-current
liabilities. The asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and its useful economic life. Finance charges are allocated
to accounting periods over the period of the lease to produce
a constant rate of return on the outstanding balance.

(xix)  Taxation including deferred taxation
Current tax is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to
(or recovered from) the taxation authorities using the tax rates
and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised under the liability method on an
undiscounted basis in respect of all temporary differences that
have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date
where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay
more, or a right to pay less, tax in the future have occurred 
at the balance sheet date, with the following exceptions:
• where the temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss

• deferred tax assets are regarded as recoverable and
therefore recognised, only when, on the basis of all
available evidence, the Directors consider that it is more
likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits
from which the future reversal of the underlying temporary
differences can be deducted.

Income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates
to items that are credited or charged to equity. Otherwise,
income tax is recognised directly in the income statement.

(xx)  Employee benefit costs
(a) Pension obligations
The Group operates, or participates in, both defined
contribution and defined benefit pension schemes. All the
pension schemes are accounted for in accordance with IAS 19.

Professional independent actuaries value the defined benefit
schemes triennially and the valuations were updated at the
year end.

Scheme assets are measured using closing market values at the
balance sheet date. Pension scheme liabilities are measured
using the projected unit method and discounted at the current
rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent
term and currency to the liability. Variations between the
scheme assets and liabilities identified as a result of these
actuarial valuations (actuarial gains and losses) are recognised
in full through the statement of recognised income and

expense (SORIE) in that year. Current service costs, expected
returns on plan assets and interest costs are charged to 
the income statement. Past-service costs are recognised
immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension 
plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service 
for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this 
case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period.

The Group participates in a number of defined benefit
schemes which are multi-employer schemes and where
insufficient information exists to be able to account for the
schemes as defined benefit plans as there is no consistent and
reliable basis for allocating the obligations, plan assets and
costs to individual entities participating in these schemes. 
In accordance with IAS 19 such schemes are accounted for as
defined contribution schemes and contributions are charged 
to the income statement as incurred.

Contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes 
are charged to the income statement as incurred.

(b) Share-based compensation
The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over the
vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of
the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth
targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are expected 
to vest. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest. 
It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, 
if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable
transaction costs, are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and share premium when the options are exercised.

(xxi)  Provisions
Provisions are recognised when a present obligation exists as
the result of a past event and it is probable that this will result
in an outflow of economic benefit, the size of which can be
reliably estimated. Where the provision is long-term, such as
onerous contract provisions where the unavoidable costs of
meeting obligations exceed any economic benefits expected 
to be received, the net cash flows are discounted using the
Group’s appropriate pre-tax discount rate.

Restructuring provisions are only recognised if an obligation
exists at the balance sheet date, i.e. a formal plan exists and
those affected by that plan have a valid expectation that the
restructuring will be carried out.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007 – continued

2 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(xxii)  Share capital
Share capital comprises the nominal value of all issued shares.
On subscribing for shares any excess consideration over the
nominal value of the shares issued less any issue costs is
credited to the share premium account.

(xxiii)  Fair value estimation
The fair values of short-term loans and overdrafts with a
maturity of less than one year are assumed to approximate 
to their book values. For loans due in more than one year 
the fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows 
at the market interest rate available to the Group for similar
financial instruments. The fair value for available-for-sale
investments and held-for-trading equity securities is based 
on their quoted market price.

(xxiv)  Exceptional items
Exceptional items are events or transactions that fall within the
activities of the Group, and, which by virtue of their size or
incidence, have been disclosed in order to improve a reader’s
understanding of the financial statements.

3 Financial risk management
The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial 
risks. The Group manages these risks under financial risk
management policies, which the Board reviews and agrees. 
The Group’s financial instruments comprise borrowings, cash
and liquid resources and various items, such as trade receivables
and trade payables that arise directly from its operations. The
Group does not normally enter into derivative transactions.
However, such transactions may be undertaken to hedge
certain currency risks arising from the Group’s operations.

It is the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments
or speculative transactions be undertaken.

(i)  Interest rate risk
The Group reviews its interest rate profile against acceptable
risk profiles.

Currently the Group has a letter of credit, with interest rates on a
fixed basis. The Group considers debt financing on a case by case
basis, assessing variable rate versus fixed rate proposals based on
value and term of the facility and projected economic conditions.

Working capital is generally held in variable rate operational
accounts, with surplus cash placed on fixed rate short-term
deposits.

(ii)  Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s international operations expose the Group to
foreign exchange risk. The Group currently operates in a
number of foreign currencies (Euro, US Dollar, Indian Rupee,
Australian Dollar, Malaysian Ringgit and Thai Baht), of which

the only significant transactional foreign currency cash flow
exposures are Euros, Rupees and US Dollars.

The Group does not hedge profit translation risk. The Group
will create natural balance sheet hedging by matching assets
and liabilities by currency where possible. Annuity exposures
will not be hedged except under exceptional circumstances.
Specific one-off exposures may be hedged. The hedging policy
adopted does not currently meet the criteria for hedge
accounting under IAS 39.

(iii)  Liquidity risk
The Group actively manages its liquidity risk through cash
management, including detailed weekly short-term and
monthly long-term cash flow forecasting, which support regular
reviews of funding strategies. The Group’s policy is to ensure
that all projected borrowing needs are covered by committed
facilities, maintaining a minimum funding headroom of 
£30 million of committed funding for a period of 12 months.

(iv)  Market risk and price risk
The Group holds listed investments, which exposes the Group
to equity securities price risk. These investments are reviewed
on a regular basis to ensure their suitability according to the
Group’s risk profile.

(v)  Credit risk
The Group has a concentration of credit risk with respect 
to trade receivables due to the nature and structure of the
Enterprise Partnerships. Credit risk assessments are performed
when signing up to a new Enterprise Partnership and for new
customers. Exposures with banking counterparties are
monitored on a regular basis to ensure exposures are
maintained within the Group’s treasury policies.

(vi)  Commodity risk
Commodity risk is not considered to be applicable to the
Group as the Group does not perform material transactions 
of commodities.

(vii)  Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders and sell or purchase assets to reduce or
increase debt.

The Group seeks to maintain a strong credit profile to aid its
ability to partner in business. The Group will ordinarily aim not
to exceed leverage of 2.5 times XEBITDA (Xchanging’s share of
EBITDA).
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
Xchanging operates in a number of regulatory regimes. 
The securities processing and retail investment account
management businesses in Germany, Xtb and Fondsdepot
Bank, maintain banking licences and are regulated under 
the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin).
Components of the insurance businesses are regulated in the
United Kingdom by the Financial Services Authority (FSA). None
of the BaFin or FSA regulations were breached during 2007.

4 Critical accounting judgements
The Group’s principal accounting policies are set out in note 2
to these financial statements. Management is required to
exercise significant judgement and make use of estimates and
assumptions in the application of these policies.

Areas which management believes require the most critical
accounting judgements are:

(i)  Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates a number of defined benefit plans. The
retirement benefit obligations recorded are based on actuarial
assumptions, including discount rates, expected long-term rate
of return on plan assets, inflation and mortality rates. These
assumptions are based on current market conditions, historical
information and consultation with, and input from, actuaries.
Management reviews these assumptions annually. If they
change, or if actual experience is different from the
assumptions, the funding status of the plan will change and
the retirement benefit obligation will be adjusted accordingly.
The assumptions used are detailed in note 37.

Xchanging participates in various BAE Systems pension
schemes. The terms on which Xchanging participates in these
schemes give Xchanging protection against any requirement to
fund future deficits that arise in the schemes, and against
future exit debts that may arise on withdrawal from these
schemes. However, in the event of BAE Systems becoming
insolvent, there is a risk that Xchanging could become liable to
fund the wider pension schemes of these companies, which
would result in a significant exposure should these events
occur. The Directors consider that the risk of this event is
extremely remote and consequently the schemes are
accounted for as defined contribution schemes as per note 37.

(ii)  Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
2(xii). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have
been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates (see note 15).

(iii)  Exceptional items
The Directors consider that items of income or expense which
are material and non-recurring by virtue of their nature and

amount should be disclosed separately if the financial
statements are to fairly present the financial position and
financial performance of the Group. The Directors label these
items collectively as “exceptional items” (see note 8).

(iv)  Calculation of cost and appropriate 
amortisation period

The original cost of pre-contract costs includes project
development costs (including appropriate direct internal costs)
which are capitalised from the point that it is virtually certain
that the project will proceed to completion. The Directors
consider that this point of virtual certainty is reached when 
the memorandum of understanding related to the contract 
is signed by all parties involved (see note 20).

Depreciation of these developed assets is charged so as to
write down the value of the asset to its residual value over 
its estimated useful life.

(v)  Assumptions on put options
Three put options are accounted for as financial liabilities under
paragraph 23 of IAS 32. These liabilities are carried at fair value
through profit and loss and measured at the fair value of the
future cash flows associated with them. The levels of these cash
flows and the relevant discount rates used in the fair value
calculations are based on future projections and incorporate a
certain element of management judgement (see note 23).

5 Segmental information
The Group has three reportable business sectors for financial
reporting purposes: Insurance, Financial Markets and Business
Lines. In both of the Insurance and Financial Markets sectors
the Group provides industry specific BPO services and software
to customers. Business Lines is a cross-industry sector in which
the Group provides procurement, human resources, finance
and accounting and technology infrastructure services. These
three operating sectors are supported by the Group’s offshore
business processing services facility (“BPS”) and “Corporate”,
which provides the infrastructure, resources and investment to
sustain and grow the business, including sales and commercial,
performance management, implementation and business
management functions.

Measurement of operating segment profit and loss,
assets and liabilities
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 2. Xchanging measures
segmental performance on operating profit before exceptional
items, share-based payments related to the granting of share
options and amortisation of intangible assets previously
unrecognised by an acquired entity.

Xchanging’s reportable segments account for inter segment
sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third
parties i.e. at current market prices.
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5 Segmental information (continued)

Business Lines Insurance Financial Markets BPS and Corporate Total
Year ended 31 December 2007 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue 215,775 164,710 102,929 195 483,609
– from external customers 202,729 162,541 102,695 195 468,160
– inter segment 13,046 2,169 234 – 15,449

Depreciation and amortisation 3,871 3,453 3,416 4,193 14,933

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) 19,727 28,391 10,056 (19,317) 38,857
Adjusted operating profit percentage 9.1% 17.2% 9.8% 8.0%

Exceptional items (158) (184) (66) (5,792) (6,200)
Adjustment of certain non-cash items:

– share-based payments (117) (114) (40) (245) (516)
– amortisation of intangible assets

previously unrecognised by an 
acquired entity (344) (126) – – (470)

Operating profit/(loss) 19,108 27,967 9,950 (25,354) 31,671

Allocation of central costs:
– investment in Enterprise Partnerships – (1,162) – 1,162 –
– depreciation and amortisation (500) (1,012) (526) 2,038 –
– other 8 482 (1,480) 990 –

Segment result 18,616 26,275 7,944 (21,164) 31,671

Finance costs (excluding exceptionals) (10,502)
Exceptional finance costs (719)
Finance income 12,021
Taxation (11,946)

Profit for the year 20,525

Reportable segment assets
Assets 138,022 108,473 90,673 82,628 419,796
Unallocated assets (26,741)

Total assets 393,055

Capital expenditure 58,916 4,639 15,555 897 80,007

Reportable segment liabilities
Liabilities 56,342 63,396 47,298 21,914 188,950
Unallocated liabilities (17,813)

Total liabilities 171,137

Unallocated assets include deferred tax assets and inter segment assets. Unallocated liabilities include current income tax liabilities,
deferred tax liabilities, borrowings, other financial liabilities and inter segment liabilities.

Capital expenditure includes additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment through normal business activities
(£14,188,000), acquisitions of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment as a result of the Fondsdepot Bank GmbH
business combination (£10,247,000), the related increase in goodwill as a result of this transaction (£1,445,000) and the increase
in goodwill attributable to the buy out of the HR Enterprise Limited and Xchanging Procurement Services (Holdco) Limited
minority interests from BAE Systems plc (£54,127,000).
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5 Segmental information (continued)

Business Lines Insurance Financial Markets BPS and Corporate Total
Year ended 31 December 2006 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue 176,076 135,678 96,177 – 407,931
– from external customers 165,158 132,393 95,944 – 393,495
– inter segment 10,918 3,285 233 – 14,436

Depreciation and amortisation 3,273 2,567 2,588 4,728 13,156

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) 14,182 23,175 12,530 (17,600) 32,287
Adjusted operating profit percentage 8.1% 17.1% 13.0% 7.9%

Exceptional items (460) (1,793) – (4,653) (6,906)
Adjustment of certain non-cash items:

– share-based payments (46) (14) (17) (418) (495)
– amortisation of intangible assets 

previously unrecognised by an 
acquired entity (394) (335) – – (729)

Operating profit/(loss) 13,282 21,033 12,513 (22,671) 24,157

Allocation of central costs:
– investment in Enterprise Partnerships – (893) – 893 –
– depreciation and amortisation (369) (35) (527) 931 –
– other (331) (1,184) (494) 2,009 –

Segment result 12,582 18,921 11,492 (18,838) 24,157

Finance costs (8,351)
Finance income 9,114
Taxation (7,476)

Profit for the year 17,444

Reportable segment assets
Assets 84,077 75,672 51,643 49,349 260,741
Unallocated assets (11,279)

Total assets 249,462

Capital expenditure 10,975 8,477 2,674 3,158 25,284

Reportable segment liabilities
Liabilities 58,362 48,119 34,491 17,350 158,332
Unallocated liabilities 5,500

Total liabilities 163,832

Unallocated assets include deferred tax assets and inter segment assets. Unallocated liabilities include current income tax liabilities,
deferred tax liabilities, borrowings, other financial liabilities and inter segment liabilities.

Capital expenditure includes additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment through normal business activities
(£15,734,000), acquisitions of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment as a result of the Landmark, Ferguson Snell
and Associates Limited and Xchanging Broking Services Limited business combinations (£1,320,000) and the related increase in
goodwill as a result of these transactions (£8,230,000).

The tables below present revenue by the geographical location of customers, assets by location and capital expenditure by location:

2007 2006
Revenue by geographical destination £’000 £’000

United Kingdom 349,229 288,395
Continental Europe 110,146 99,835
Rest of the world 8,785 5,265

Total revenue 468,160 393,495
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5 Segmental information (continued)

2007 2006
Assets by location £’000 £’000

United Kingdom 304,136 189,601
Continental Europe 76,709 49,499
Rest of the world 24,929 8,621

Assets 405,774 247,721
Unallocated assets (12,719) 1,741

Total assets 393,055 249,462

Unallocated assets include deferred tax assets and inter segment assets.

2007 2006
Capital expenditure by location £’000 £’000

United Kingdom 64,311 22,094
Continental Europe 15,560 2,675
Rest of the world 136 515

Total capital expenditure 80,007 25,284

6 Analysis of revenue by category

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Revenue from services 467,677 389,620
Sale of goods 483 3,875

Total revenue 468,160 393,495

7 Expenses by nature

2007 2006
Note £’000 £’000

Cost of goods and services directly related to sales 128,770 105,000
Direct staff costs 10 166,752 143,653
Other staff related costs 30,419 23,768
Technology and communications 58,936 47,393
Property costs 24,182 20,911
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges 14,993 13,156
Other costs 6,237 8,551
Exceptional items 8 6,200 6,906

Total cost of sales and administrative expenses 436,489 369,338

8 Exceptional items

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Exceptional items included in administrative expenses comprise the following:
Costs in relation to the IPO and Group restructuring 3,995 5,264
Costs related to the share gift to employees by the CEO 2,205 –
Costs incurred migrating customers onto a new software package – 1,642

Total exceptional items included in administrative expenses 6,200 6,906

Exceptional items included in finance costs comprise the following:
IPO costs 719 –
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8 Exceptional items (continued)
The IPO costs and Group restructuring costs relate to specific expenses incurred in listing the Group on the London Stock
Exchange and for management and legal restructuring during 2006 in preparation for the listing. The charge consists mainly of
external legal and professional advisers’ fees of £3,370,000 (2006: £3,398,000). Staff and other costs total £625,000 (2006:
£1,866,000). Additionally £4,664,000 was charged directly to equity in respect of the IPO for listing fees, underwriting fees and
other professional advisers’ fees directly associated with the raising of capital.

Upon the successful listing of Xchanging on the London Stock Exchange, the CEO, David Andrews, gave every qualifying
Xchanging employee 200 of his own personal Xchanging shares. This gift falls within the scope of IFRS 2 and consequently the
Group incurs an accounting charge of £1,969,000 equivalent to the value of the shares at the date of the gift. In addition, social
security costs of £236,000 were incurred.

In 2006, costs were incurred in migrating customers from a discontinued insurance software platform, Riskwrite, to a superior
platform acquired as part of the RebusIS acquisition in 2004.

The finance cost element relates to adjustments that were made to existing onerous lease provisions due to the change in the
discount rate used to calculate the present value of these provisions. This change in discount rate is a direct result of the IPO.

9 Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Staff costs (note 10) 166,752 143,653
Exceptional items (note 8) 6,200 6,906
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

– owned assets (note 17) 5,327 4,554
– assets held under finance leases (note 17) 151 180

Net amortisation of intangible assets (note 16) 8,299 7,541
Amortisation of pre-contract costs (note 20) 1,216 881
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (25) 45
Release of unutilised restructuring provision – (1,022)
Impairment of trade receivables 515 209
Operating leases

– land and buildings 11,940 10,493
– plant and machinery 685 667

Foreign exchange (profit)/loss (53) 438

Fees payable to the Group’s auditors in the year were as follows:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Audit services
Fees payable to the Group’s auditors for the audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements 220 193

Fees payable to the Group’s auditors for other services
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 629 645
Other services pursuant to legislation 67 –
Tax services 289 254
Valuation and actuarial services 150 272
Transaction related services 1,443 1,336

2,798 2,700
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10 Employees and Directors

2007 2006
Note £’000 £’000

Staff costs for the Group during the year
Wages and salaries 140,582 120,440
Social security costs 16,521 14,653
Pension costs – defined contribution schemes 6,404 5,084
Pension costs – defined benefit schemes 2,833 3,478
Share-based payments 27 516 495

166,856 144,150

Included within:
– operating expenses 7 166,752 143,653
– finance costs 104 497

166,856 144,150

Staff costs included within exceptional costs
Staff costs relating to the IPO and Group restructuring 8 625 1,866
Costs related to the share gift to employees by the CEO 8 2,205 –

2,830 1,866

2007 2006
Number Number

Average number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed by business sector
Business Lines 848 863
Insurance 1,666 1,471
Financial Markets 840 810
BPS and Corporate 460 305

3,814 3,449

Disclosure in relation to Directors and key management compensation is included within the related party transactions note (note 39).

11 Finance costs and income

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Finance costs
Interest payable on shareholder loan and convertible loan note (note 23) (291) (1,109)
Bank and other interest (847) (39)
Interest cost on defined benefit pension schemes (note 37) (7,144) (6,765)
Imputed interest on deferred consideration for acquisitions (1,239) (256)
Imputed interest on put option to acquire minority interest (813) (174)
Interest payable on finance leases – (8)
Foreign exchange loss on financial liabilities (168) –

Total finance costs (10,502) (8,351)

Finance income
Bank interest 4,335 2,700
Expected return on plan assets – defined benefit pension schemes (note 37) 7,040 6,268
Dividends received on available-for-sale assets 177 107
Imputed interest on employee loans through the Share Purchase Plan 343 –
Other interest 126 39

Total finance income 12,021 9,114

Net finance income pre exceptional items 1,519 763

Finance costs – exceptional items (note 8) (719) –

Net finance income 800 763
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12 Taxation

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Analysis of charge/(credit) in period
Current tax 9,476 9,927
Deferred tax 2,470 (2,451)

11,946 7,476

In addition to the above amounts charged to the income statement, a current income tax credit of £4,979,000 (2006: £nil) has
been credited directly to equity in respect of share options exercised in the year, and a deferred tax charge of £2,336,000 (2006:
£454,000 credit) has been charged directly to equity (note 25).

Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year
The tax for the period is higher than (2006: the same as) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%). The differences
are explained below:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Profit before tax 32,471 24,920

Profit before tax multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30% (2006: 30%) 9,741 7,476
Changes in tax rates 1,402 –
Taxable overseas dividend income 243 1,110
Overseas losses not available for group relief 41 827
Utilisation of tax losses (357) (2,069)
Depreciation for the year in excess of capital allowances – 181
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,949 2,055
Short-term temporary differences – (688)
Tax in respect of prior years (967) (390)
Difference on foreign tax rates (145) (447)
Share option deduction – (579)
Withholding tax written off 39 –

Tax charge for the year 11,946 7,476

During the year, as a result of the change in UK corporation tax rates which will be effective from 1 April 2008 and the German
tax reform changes effective from 1 January 2008, deferred tax balances have been remeasured. UK deferred tax relating to
temporary differences which are expected to reverse prior to 1 April 2008 is measured at 30% and UK deferred tax relating to
temporary differences expected to reverse after 1 April 2008 is measured at the tax rate of 28% as these are the tax rates that
will apply on reversal. German deferred tax balances are measured at the expected effective tax rate of 31-32%.

Factors that may affect future tax charges
Tax losses arising in previous years and other temporary differences total an estimated carried forward amount of £17,946,000
(2006: £18,967,000) which, assuming a tax rate of 28%, gives rise to an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £5,025,000 (2006:
£5,690,000 using a rate of 30%). As the respective Group undertaking in which these tax losses arise becomes profitable, future
tax charges will be reduced as these tax losses are offset against the profits made. However, no asset in relation to this has been
recognised as there is insufficient certainty over the timing and availability of such future profits.
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13 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of Xchanging plc and, for periods prior to 30 April 2007, the weighted average number of
Xchanging BV shares as converted into Xchanging plc shares.

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in existence is adjusted to include all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. The Group has three types of potential dilutive ordinary shares: share options, convertible debt and warrants. Prior to
listing on the London Stock Exchange, the warrants were exercised and the debt was converted into ordinary shares.

Weighted
average number Earnings

Earnings of shares per share 
£’000 thousands pence

Basic earnings per share:
– 31 December 2007 15,336 195,428 7.85
– 31 December 2006 10,718 156,846 6.83

Diluted earnings per share:
– 31 December 2007 15,336 203,871 7.52
– 31 December 2006 10,718 167,328 6.41

The following reflects the share data used in the basic and dilutive earnings per share calculations:

2007 2006 
thousands thousands

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 195,428 156,846
Dilutive potential ordinary shares:

– employee share options 7,653 8,731
– unexercised warrants 790 1,751

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for dilutive earnings per share 203,871 167,328

Adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share
In addition to the above, an adjusted earnings per share value is disclosed to provide a better understanding of the underlying
trading results of the Group. This adjusted value is in line with the KPIs as used to measure the Group’s performance.

Weighted
average number Earnings

Earnings of shares per share 
£’000 thousands pence

Adjusted basic earnings per share:
– 31 December 2007 22,826 195,428 11.68
– 31 December 2006 17,139 156,846 10.93

Adjusted diluted earnings per share:
– 31 December 2007 22,826 203,871 11.20
– 31 December 2006 17,139 167,328 10.24

The adjusted earnings per share figures are calculated based on the Xchanging adjusted profit after tax (XPAT), divided by the
basic and diluted weighted average number of shares as stated above.

The XPAT is calculated as follows:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Net profit attributable to Xchanging equity holders 15,336 10,718
Exceptional items (net of tax) 6,246 5,074
Employee share options (net of tax) 325 (84)
IFRS 3 intangible asset depreciation (net of tax) 316 510
Imputed interest on historical debt (net of tax) 204 799
Imputed interest on put options (net of tax) 639 122
Imputed interest on employee loans through the Share Purchase Plan (net of tax) (240) –

Adjusted net profit attributable to Xchanging equity holders 22,826 17,139
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14 Dividends per share
No dividends have been paid during 2006 or 2007. A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2007 of 2.0 pence per
share, amounting to a total dividend of £4,296,000, is to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting on 22 May 2008. These
financial statements do not reflect this proposed dividend payable. There are no material tax consequences of this dividend.

15 Goodwill

£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2006 21,132
Business combinations 8,230

At 31 December 2006 29,362
Acquisition of minority interests (note 35) 54,127
Business combinations (note 36) 1,445
Revision of deferred contingent consideration on prior year business combinations 604
Exchange adjustments 82

At 31 December 2007 85,620

Aggregate impairment
At 1 January 2006, 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 –

Net book amount
At 1 January 2006 21,132
At 31 December 2006 29,362
At 31 December 2007 85,620

Estimates of the provisional amounts payable in relation to two business combinations in 2006 have been revised during 2007
based on 2007 results and future projections. This resulted in an increase to goodwill of £604,000.

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified according to Enterprise Partnership and business
sector. The carrying amounts of goodwill by division are as follows:

Insurance Financial Markets Business Lines Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Xchanging Procurement Services – – 44,319 44,319
HR Enterprise – – 9,808 9,808
Ins-sure Holdings 3,942 – – 3,942
RebusIS 8,460 – 8,460 16,920
Xtb GmbH – 270 – 270
Fondsdepot Bank GmbH – 1,527 – 1,527
Landmark Business Consulting 4,214 – – 4,214
Ferguson Snell and Associates – – 4,591 4,591
Xchanging Broking Services 29 – – 29

16,645 1,797 67,178 85,620

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on budgets approved by the Directors covering a three year period, which incorporate growth rates specific to each CGU.
Cash flows beyond the three year period are extrapolated to year five using a nil growth rate; a terminal value using nil growth 
is then added. A pre-tax discount rate of 12.35% is then applied to the projections, based on management’s estimate of the
Group’s weighted average cost of capital.
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16 Intangible assets

Customer Assets in the 
Development contractual course of

costs Software relationship development Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2006 12,652 26,011 1,614 3,140 43,417
Acquisitions – – 864 – 864
Additions – internally generated 779 1,270 – – 2,049
Additions – external 307 3,853 – 818 4,978
Transfers from tangibles – 213 – – 213
Transfers to/(from) assets in the 
course of development – 2,502 – (2,502) –
Disposals (501) (236) – – (737)
Exchange adjustments – (233) – – (233)

At 31 December 2006 13,237 33,380 2,478 1,456 50,551
Acquisitions (note 36) – 9,602 – – 9,602
Additions – internally generated 1,649 2,734 – – 4,383
Additions – external 414 3,913 – – 4,327
Transfers to/(from) assets in the 
course of development – 735 – (735) –
Transfers to tangibles – – – (491) (491)
Write-offs – (218) – (230) (448)
Disposals – (157) – – (157)
Exchange adjustments – 1,826 – – 1,826

At 31 December 2007 15,300 51,815 2,478 – 69,593

Amortisation
At 1 January 2006 3,581 10,880 624 – 15,085
Charge for the year 1,227 5,585 729 – 7,541
Transfers to tangibles – 81 – – 81
Disposals (327) (235) – – (562)
Exchange adjustments (1) (64) – – (65)

At 31 December 2006 4,480 16,247 1,353 – 22,080
Charge for the year 1,506 6,323 470 – 8,299
Write-offs – (218) – – (218)
Disposals – (157) – – (157)
Exchange adjustments – 536 – – 536

At 31 December 2007 5,986 22,731 1,823 – 30,540

Net book amount
At 1 January 2006 9,071 15,131 990 3,140 28,332
At 31 December 2006 8,757 17,133 1,125 1,456 28,471
At 31 December 2007 9,314 29,084 655 – 39,053

Amortisation expense of £5,907,000 (2006: £4,243,000) has been charged through cost of sales and £2,392,000 
(2006: £3,298,000) through administrative expenses.
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17 Property, plant and equipment

Assets in the
Leasehold Computer Fixtures and course of

improvements equipment Motor vehicles fittings development Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2006 5,549 14,398 256 3,152 – 23,355
Acquisitions 8 15 106 11 – 140
Transfers – (604) – 604 – –
Additions 2,202 3,382 – 3,123 – 8,707
Transfer to intangibles – (213) – – – (213)
Disposals (104) (2,691) (165) (199) – (3,159)
Exchange adjustments (48) (209) (5) (88) – (350)

At 31 December 2006 7,607 14,078 192 6,603 – 28,480
Acquisitions 158 301 – 187 – 646
Additions 594 3,898 1 405 579 5,477
Transfer from intangibles 16 438 – 37 – 491
Write-offs – (1,605) – (448) – (2,053)
Disposals (241) (101) (134) (183) – (659)
Exchange adjustments 164 667 2 212 – 1,045

At 31 December 2007 8,298 17,676 61 6,813 579 33,427

Depreciation
At 1 January 2006 1,053 8,643 120 2,003 – 11,819
Transfers – (306) – 306 – –
Charge for year 706 3,121 71 836 – 4,734
Transfers to intangibles – (81) – – – (81)
Disposals (104) (2,606) (60) (144) – (2,914)
Exchange adjustments 25 (158) (4) (37) – (174)

At 31 December 2006 1,680 8,613 127 2,964 – 13,384
Charge for year 973 3,508 36 961 – 5,478
Write-offs – (1,605) – (448) – (2,053)
Disposals (241) (62) (122) (146) – (571)
Exchange adjustments 49 510 1 185 – 745

At 31 December 2007 2,461 10,964 42 3,516 – 16,983

Net book value
At 1 January 2006 4,496 5,755 136 1,149 – 11,536
At 31 December 2006 5,927 5,465 65 3,639 – 15,096
At 31 December 2007 5,837 6,712 19 3,297 579 16,444

Depreciation expense of £4,514,000 (2006: £3,951,000) has been charged through cost of sales and £964,000 (2006: £783,000)
through administrative expenses.

Included in fixed assets are fixtures and fittings held under finance leases with a net book value of £nil (2006: £271,000).
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18 Financial instruments by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Assets at fair
Loans and value through

receivables profit and loss Available-for-sale Total
Assets as per the balance sheet £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2007
Available-for-sale financial assets (note 19) – – 23,609 23,609
Trade and other receivables (see below) 62,829 321 – 63,150
Cash and cash equivalents (note 21) 98,366 – – 98,366

Total 161,195 321 23,609 185,125

31 December 2006
Available-for-sale financial assets (note 19) – – 20,441 20,441
Trade and other receivables (see below) 47,912 – – 47,912
Cash and cash equivalents (note 21) 58,684 – – 58,684

Total 106,596 – 20,441 127,037

Financial assets within trade and other receivables comprise net trade receivables, taxes receivable, other receivables, loans to
related parties and deferred consideration on acquisitions which have been classified as loans and receivables in the table above,
and held-for-trading equity securities classified as assets at fair value through profit and loss (note 20).

Liabilities at 
fair value Other

through financial
profit and loss liabilities Total

Liabilities as per the balance sheet £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2007
Trade and other payables (see below) – 48,258 48,258
Borrowings (note 23) – 1,511 1,511
Put options (note 23) 17,865 – 17,865

Total 17,865 49,769 67,634

31 December 2006
Trade and other payables (see below) – 44,071 44,071
Borrowings (note 23) – 16,312 16,312
Put options (note 23) 7,140 – 7,140

Total 7,140 60,383 67,523

Financial liabilities within trade and other payables comprise trade payables, social security and other taxes and other payables
classified as other financial liabilities (note 22).

19 Available-for-sale financial assets

2007 2006
Non-current available-for-sale financial assets £’000 £’000

At 1 January 20,441 22,249
Net gains/(losses) transferred to equity 1,791 (1,470)
Exchange adjustments 1,377 (338)

At 31 December 23,609 20,441

There were no disposals or impairment provisions on available-for-sale financial assets during 2007 or 2006.

Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Listed equity securities – Eurozone 7,700 5,546
Listed debt security 15,909 14,895

Total available-for-sale financial assets 23,609 20,441
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19 Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)
These investments are held at fair value, based on the listed price of the securities at the year end date. The underlying currency
of the above investments is Euros.

None of the available-for-sale financial assets are either past due or impaired. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting date is the fair value of the debt securities classified as available-for-sale.

20 Trade and other receivables

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Current trade and other receivables
Trade receivables – non-related parties 41,027 29,430
Trade receivables – related parties (note 39) 7,788 7,872

Trade receivables 48,815 37,302
Less: provision for impairment of receivables (1,031) (1,003)

Net trade receivables 47,784 36,299
Taxes receivable 599 536
Other receivables 6,221 10,788
Other receivables – related parties (note 39) 521 –
Loans to related parties (note 39) 5,830 –
Prepayments and accrued income 37,672 26,145
Held-for-trading equity securities 321 –
Deferred consideration on acquisitions 476 –
Pre-contract costs (see below) 1,431 1,208

Total current trade and other receivables 100,855 74,976

Non-current trade and other receivables
Other receivables 519 289
Deferred consideration on acquisitions 879 –
Pre-contract costs (see below) 4,658 5,826

Total non-current trade and other receivables 6,056 6,115

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Pre-contract costs
Written down value at 1 January 7,034 4,702
Pre-contract costs deferred in year 225 3,223
Exchange adjustments 46 –

7,305 7,925
Amortisation charge for year (1,216) (881)
Write-offs in year – (10)

Written down value at 31 December 6,089 7,034

The carrying values of all financial assets within trade and other receivables approximate to their fair values. The loans to related
parties have been discounted using a rate based on the Group borrowings rate of 6.5%.
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20 Trade and other receivables (continued)
As at 31 December 2007, trade receivables of £30,450,000 (2006: £16,006,000) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. All trade receivables whether current or past due
are reviewed for impairment on a case-by-case basis to identify impairment taking into account the ageing of the debt, the likelihood
of recoverability and other external factors. The ageing analysis of the trade receivables is as follows:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Current 17,334 20,293
Past due:
1 – 30 days 22,100 8,416
31 – 60 days 4,291 2,669
61 – 90 days 1,672 2,458
Over 90 days 2,387 2,463

Net trade receivables 47,784 36,299

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

At 1 January 1,003 1,010
Acquired in the year – 2
Charged/(credited) to the income statement:

– provided in the year 675 485
– released in the year (191) (294)

Used in the year (451) (183)
Exchange adjustments (5) (17)

At 31 December 1,031 1,003

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The
Group does not hold any collateral as security.

21 Cash and cash equivalents

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 98,366 58,684

The cash reflected on the Group’s balance sheet not only includes cash immediately accessible for operations but also includes
cash held within the Enterprise Partnerships, which is paid to the Group on an annual, or in some cases quarterly, basis as
contractual dividends and licence fees. Therefore, cash available for the Group’s 100% owned operations is dependent on the
periodic distributions from the Enterprise Partnerships, all of whom have a 100% distribution policy. At 31 December 2007 the
Group held £57,436,000 cash available in 100% owned operations (2006: £24,091,000).

In 2006, included within cash at bank and in hand was £5,000,000 cash held in respect of collateralisation for a letter of credit
provided for the Xtb acquisition. This letter of credit was provided by Lloyds TSB for three years from signing the contract and
underwrote the savings guarantees made by Xchanging to Deutsche Bank in respect of this acquisition. Upon failure to deliver 
the guaranteed savings, Deutsche Bank could call for an amount of up to €15 million. The letter of credit expired on 30 June
2007 and hence there are no equivalent restrictions on cash at 31 December 2007.
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22 Trade and other payables

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Current liabilities
Trade payables – non-related parties 23,587 18,094
Trade payables – related parties (note 39) 3,511 2,360

Trade payables 27,098 20,454
Social security and other taxes 9,195 7,481
Other payables – non-related parties 11,965 9,256
Other payables – related parties (note 39) – 6,880
Accruals and deferred income – non-related parties 49,829 31,451
Accruals and deferred income – related parties (note 39) 902 4,133
Dividends payable to minority interests – 1,247

Total current liabilities 98,989 80,902

Non-current liabilities
Accruals and deferred income – non-related parties 9,974 9,764

The carrying values of all financial liabilities within trade and other payables approximate to their fair values.

23 Financial liabilities

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Current borrowings
Obligations under finance leases – 17
Deferred consideration on acquisitions 856 3,253

856 3,270

Non-current borrowings
Deferred consideration on acquisitions 655 –
Convertible loan note – 13,042

655 13,042

Non-current other financial liabilities
Put options to acquire the minority interest in Enterprise Partnerships 17,865 7,140

£996,000 of the deferred consideration on acquisitions represents contingent consideration payable for the acquisition of
Landmark Business Consulting in 2006 and takes the form of non-interest bearing bonds, contingent on the performance of the
business over the period to 31 December 2008. The amount of contingent consideration estimated as probable has been
discounted using the effective interest rate at the time of acquisition, being the market rate of 5.75%. The remainder of the
balance, £515,000, relates to the acquisition of Fondsdepot Bank GmbH. This amount is not contingent, and is payable in cash
within one year.

In January 2004, a Sterling convertible loan note was issued to Rebus Insurance Services Holdings Limited, and was subsequently
transferred to General Atlantic LLC, on the acquisition of the RebusIS group. The face value of the loan note was £15 million 
on its maturity date of 28 January 2009 and was recorded in the balance sheet at its fair value, having been discounted at the
market rate of 6.95% on the date of issue. Before maturity the loan note could be converted into convertible preference shares 
in Xchanging BV at a price of £11 per share and was secured over such shares. The loan note was not interest bearing. In April
2007, the loan was converted into 1,363,636 convertible preference class E shares in Xchanging BV. The equity element
recognised on inception was transferred to the share premium reserve on conversion.

The Group has minority shareholders in three Enterprise Partnerships that hold the right to sell their shares to the Group at a
future date. In accordance with IAS 32, the cash flows associated with these options are fair valued and discounted back to their
present value.
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23 Financial liabilities (continued)
The carrying amounts of the financial liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Sterling 8,839 23,452
Euros 10,537 –

19,376 23,452

The fair value of the current financial liabilities equals their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant. 
The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current financial liabilities are as follows:

Carrying amount Fair value

2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Convertible loan note – 13,042 – 12,915
Deferred consideration on acquisitions 655 – 646 –
Put options to acquire the minorities’ interests 17,865 7,140 17,865 7,140

18,520 20,182 18,511 20,055

The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the year end effective interest rate of 6.85% (2006: 7.5%).

The maturity profile of the undiscounted amount of the non-current liabilities at 31 December was as follows:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years 701 –
Expiring in more than two years but not more than five years 19,948 25,000
Expiring in more than five years – –

20,649 25,000

The Group has the following borrowing facilities available:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Expiring within one year – –
Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years – –
Expiring in more than two years but not more than five years 35,000 –

35,000 –

€20 million has been drawn down against the above facility as a letter of credit provided to Allianz Global Investors in relation to
the Fondsdepot Bank Enterprise Partnership.

The gross finance lease obligation is as follows:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

No later than one year – 17

– 17
Future finance charges on finance leases – –

Present value of finance lease liabilities – 17

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

No later than one year – 17

– 17
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24 Provisions

Early and
Onerous Operational part-time Long

Phoenix lease Restructuring risk retirement service Other Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007 – 2,243 1,866 2,454 6,252 1,689 3,663 18,167
Acquired in the year 3,147 50 – – 130 – 393 3,720
Transfer from deferred tax – – – – – – 1,164 1,164
Charged/(credited) to the 
income statement:

– provided in the year – 2,666 – 780 1,054 – 2,018 6,518
– released in the year – (182) (139) (861) (112) (461) (2,286) (4,041)
– unwinding of discount 29 1,193 – – – – – 1,222

Used in the year – (1,142) (1,577) (505) (2,534) (202) (712) (6,672)
Exchange adjustments 180 175 16 186 473 109 299 1,438

At 31 December 2007 3,356 5,003 166 2,054 5,263 1,135 4,539 21,516

Provisions have been analysed between current and non-current as follows:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Current 8,141 8,720
Non-current 13,375 9,447

21,516 18,167

The Phoenix provision relates to future payments which one of the Group companies, Fondsdepot Bank GmbH, may have to make
to the EdW, a federal special fund aimed at protecting investors, as a result of a securities fraud committed by one of the EdW
member companies. The Group’s liability under this is capped at £2,080,000. The excess will be reimbursed by Allianz Global
Investors and is recognised as deferred consideration on acquisition in trade and other receivables.

The onerous lease provision relates to dilapidations and a shortfall between expected sub-letting rents and future costs on three
onerous operating leases. The leases provided for have between three and nine years left to run. 

The restructuring provision relates to management redundancies as a result of the strategic realignment of various aspects of the
business in order to increase productivity and give greater organisation clarity. In 2006, this provision predominantly related to
preparation in advance of listing on the London Stock Exchange.

The operational risk provision comprises an estimated liability in respect of identified operating errors which had occurred in the
ordinary course of business in the Financial Markets sector up to 31 December 2007.

The early and part-time retirement provision arises from a statutory requirement for German businesses and is calculated under
IAS 19 with reference to actuarial reports.

Employees within Xtb receive long service payment awards for 10 years or more of service.

The other provisions include other personnel related provisions, being provisions for profit sharing, gratuities and leave
encashment, provisions for archiving required under banking regulations, a tax reimbursement due to one of the minority
shareholders, and VAT provisions due to changes in regulations.
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25 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 28% (2006: 30%) for
differences arising in the UK and 31– 32% (2006: 40.86%) for those arising in Germany.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legal right of offset and there is intention to settle the balance
net. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Assets
Retirement benefit obligation 7,643 10,861
Tax losses 168 1,586
Decelerated tax depreciation 577 702
Share options 4,128 2,430
Convertible debt – 697
Other 4,378 41

16,894 16,317

Liabilities
Retirement benefit obligation (1,724) –
Convertible debt – (106)
Accelerated tax depreciation (1,439) (1,500)
Put option (604) (858)
Other (1,070) (53)

(4,837) (2,517)

The Group has recognised all deferred tax assets in 2007, with the exception of deferred tax assets arising in one subsidiary
company, which has been loss making in the past. The unrecognised deferred tax assets for this company amount to £4,226,000
in respect of tax losses carried forward (2006: £4,874,000) and £799,000 (2006: £816,000) in respect of decelerated tax
depreciation and other temporary differences. These assets have not been recognised due to the uncertainty of future suitable
taxable profits within this company.

The movement in the net deferred tax position is as follows:

Retirement Accelerated
benefit Tax tax Share Convertible

obligation losses depreciation options debt Put option Other Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2006 12,441 108 (371) – (841) – (110) 11,227
Recognised on business 
combinations – – (259) – – – 25 (234)
(Charged)/credited to 
income statement 723 1,478 (188) 280 254 52 (148) 2,451
(Charged)/credited to equity (2,280) – – 2,150 1,178 (910) 316 454
Exchange adjustments (23) – 20 – – – (95) (98)

At 31 December 2006 10,861 1,586 (798) 2,430 591 (858) (12) 13,800
Recognised on business 
combinations 129 – – – – – 326 455
(Charged)/credited to 
income statement (1,489) (1,418) 26 200 (698) 207 702 (2,470)
(Charged)/credited to equity (4,082) – – 1,498 107 47 94 (2,336)
Transfers for tax reimbursement 121 – – – – – 2,090 2,211
Exchange adjustments 380 – (90) – – – 107 397

At 31 December 2007 5,920 168 (862) 4,128 – (604) 3,307 12,057
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26 Called up share capital
With effect from 30 April 2007, Xchanging plc became the legal parent company of the Xchanging Group, by exchanging 
174.3 million shares for 100% of the shares of Xchanging BV. As this was accounted for as a reverse acquisition under IFRS 3,
prior to 30 April 2007 share capital in the consolidated financial statements is that of Xchanging BV.

2007
£’000

Authorised share capital of Xchanging plc
350,000,000 ordinary shares of 5p each 17,500

2006
£’000

Authorised share capital of Xchanging BV
All shares nominal value 0.01 Euro
19,600,000 convertible preference class A shares 110
4,826,255 convertible preference class B shares 28
20,000,000 convertible preference class C shares 128
1,818,181 convertible preference class D shares 13
2,000,000 convertible preference class E shares 14
1,785,714 common class A shares 10
1,785,715 common class C shares 10
53,581,245 common shares 307
2,937,500 scheme shares A 16
126,000 scheme shares B 1
100,000 class G shares 1

638

Number of Number of Exchange to
BV shares BV shares plc shares

Allotted, called up and fully paid at 1 January 2007 Issued at 30 April 2007 at 30 April 2007

All BV shares nominal value 0.01 Euro
Convertible preference class A shares 19,600,000 – 19,600,000 78,400,000
Convertible preference class B shares 4,826,255 – 4,826,255 19,305,020
Convertible preference class D shares 1,818,181 – 1,818,181 7,272,724
Convertible preference class E shares 1,895,020 1,363,636 3,258,656 13,034,624
Common class A shares 1,785,714 – 1,785,714 6,000,000
Common class C shares 1,785,715 – 1,785,715 4
Common class F shares – 1,215,766 1,215,766 4,863,064
Common shares 4,900,485 1,262,521 6,163,006 24,652,024
Scheme shares A 937,500 – 937,500 3,750,000
Scheme shares B 126,000 – 126,000 504,000
Class G shares 73,537 – 73,537 16,546,948

All Xchanging plc ordinary shares nominal value 5p
Total number of Xchanging plc ordinary shares at 30 April 2007 174,328,408
Shares issued for cash on initial public offering 31,250,000
Exercise of share options 9,220,896

Total number of ordinary Xchanging plc shares at 31 December 2007 214,799,304

Total nominal value (£’000) 10,740

Increase in allotted share capital – 2007
In advance of the initial public offering Xchanging BV issued 1,215,766 common class F shares to various members of senior
management for £6,444,000 consideration, General Atlantic LLC converted their loan note (note 23) in exchange for 1,363,636
convertible preference class E shares, BAE Systems exercised its warrant over 772,019 common shares in exchange for
consideration of £444,000 and $2,212,000 and various employees exercised options over 490,502 common shares in exchange
for £1,550,000 consideration.

Upon the initial public offering, all the shares in Xchanging BV were exchanged for ordinary shares in Xchanging plc with the exchange
ratio dependent on the class of share. An additional 31,250,000 Xchanging plc ordinary shares were issued at £2.40 each in exchange
for £75 million consideration.
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26 Called up share capital (continued)
Subsequent to the initial public offering, 9,220,896 share options have been exercised for a consideration of £5,403,000.

Number of Number of 
BV shares BV shares Total nominal

Allotted, called up and fully paid at 1 January 2006 Issued Redeemed at 31 December 2006 value £’000

All BV shares nominal value 0.01 Euro
Convertible preference class A shares 19,031,250 568,750 – 19,600,000 110
Convertible preference class B shares 4,826,255 – – 4,826,255 28
Convertible preference class D shares 1,818,181 – – 1,818,181 13
Convertible preference class E shares – 1,895,020 – 1,895,020 13
Common class A shares 1,785,714 – – 1,785,714 10
Common class C shares 1,785,715 – – 1,785,715 10
Common shares 4,245,081 655,404 – 4,900,485 30
Scheme shares A 937,500 – – 937,500 5
Scheme shares B 126,000 – – 126,000 1
Class G shares 84,647 – (11,110) 73,537 1

221

Increase in allotted share capital – 2006
During the year the allotted share capital for convertible preference class A shares was increased by 568,750 due to the exercise
of a warrant held by McKinsey & Company.

In addition the convertible preference class E shares were increased by 1,895,020 due to the exchange of a convertible loan note
held by General Atlantic LLC.

During the year the allotted share capital for common shares was increased by 655,404 as share options were exercised for a
consideration of £1,636,000.

Share rights
All Xchanging plc ordinary shares carry equal share rights. Xchanging BV shares carried differing rights depending on the class 
of share but these rights are no longer relevant.

Share options
At 30 April 2007, as part of the share for share exchange, all options in Xchanging BV were exchanged for options over Xchanging
plc shares. Approved and unapproved options were exchanged at the ratio of 4:1, whilst G share options were exchanged at the
ratio of 225.11:1. Option exercise prices were adjusted accordingly, with all other terms and conditions remaining the same.

At 31 December 2007 options over 13,490,655 shares were outstanding. At 31 December 2006, options over 4,382,387
common shares and 19,323 G shares were outstanding; these are equivalent to 21,877,524 shares in Xchanging plc. Options on
11,182,904 Xchanging plc equivalent shares were exercised in 2007 (2006: 2,621,616 Xchanging plc equivalent shares).

The number of shares subject to options, the periods in which they were granted and the periods in which they may be exercised
are given below. For comparative purposes, all share numbers and exercise prices reflected below are stated on an Xchanging plc
equivalent basis.

Approved options Unapproved options G Share options

WAEP* WAEP* WAEP*
Number pence Number pence Number pence

At 1 January 2006 3,840,796 74.24 16,778,176 75.78 4,467,909 15.38
Movements during 2006

– options granted 427,144 93.41 742,856 115.28 – –
– options exercised (342,388) 70.70 (2,279,228) 58.78 – –
– options forfeited (321,736) 87.95 (1,316,072) 74.84 (119,933) 32.23

At 31 December 2006 3,603,816 75.48 13,925,732 80.79 4,347,976 14.42
Movements during 2007

– options granted 609,342 135.07 3,305,165 146.32 – –
– options exercised (2,554,784) 72.49 (6,189,868) 78.40 (2,438,252) 9.61
– options forfeited (245,644) 121.32 (617,816) 129.51 (255,012) 14.59

At 31 December 2007 1,412,730 100.42 10,423,213 100.53 1,654,712 21.51

*Weighted average exercise price
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26 Called up share capital (continued)

Approved options Unapproved options G Share options

Range of exercise prices:
2007 33.20p – 277.00p 33.20p – 277.00p 9.57p – 32.23p
2006 7.61p – 97.39p 17.44p – 134.13p 9.57p – 32.23p

Weighted average remaining contractual life:
2007 2,811 days 2,866 days 2,440 days
2006 2,593 days 2,659 days 2,766 days

Number of options exercisable at:
31 December 2007 581,456 4,434,980 1,654,788
31 December 2006 1,378,388 7,405,160 –

27 Share-based payment plans
The Group operates a number of share-based payment plans as follows:

(i)  Share options
Options are granted with a fixed exercise price at the date of the grant. The contractual life of an option is 10 years. Awards are
granted to Directors and employees on a merit basis, and are subject to continuous employment. Options granted become
exercisable on the third anniversary of the date of grant, and are valued using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash. For comparative purposes, all share prices reflected
below are stated on an Xchanging plc equivalent basis. The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used in the
calculations are as follows:

General assumptions
Vesting period (years) 3
Option life (years) 10
Expected life (years) 3.25
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield (%) 0 – 1
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%) 20
Risk free interest rate (%) 3.9 – 4.5

2007 2006

Share price at grant date (pence) 132.50 – 277.00 93.75 – 132.50
Weighted average exercise price (pence)

– approved options 135.07 93.41
– unapproved options 146.32 115.28

Weighted average fair value of options granted in the period (pence)
– approved options 30.57 22.29
– unapproved options 33.04 21.48

Expected volatility (%) 24 – 26 26 – 30

There were no grants of options over G shares during 2007 and 2006.
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27 Share-based payment plans (continued)
The expected volatility is based on historical volatility over the last three years. The expected life is the average expected period to
exercise. The risk free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed
option life. A reconciliation of option movements over the year to 31 December 2007 is in note 26.

The weighted average share price during the year for options exercised over the year was £2.86 per share (2006: £0.99). The total
charge for the year relating to employee share-based payments under the share option plans was £622,000 (2006: £495,000), 
all of which related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions. £106,000 of the 2007 charge has been classified as
exceptional as it related to accelerated charges due to early exercises as a result of the IPO.

(ii)  Share Purchase Plan 2007 (SPP)
The Group adopted the SPP during 2007, in which Executive Directors and certain members of senior management were invited
to participate. Under this scheme, set up in February 2007, an employee benefit trust loaned money to the participants in order 
to allow them to purchase class F shares in Xchanging BV at the market value at the time of £5.30 (Xchanging plc equivalent
value £1.33). These loans are non-interest bearing and the terms and conditions are described further in note 39. Participants 
may not normally sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of the shares awarded under the scheme for a period of 18 months from
issue. As the shares were granted at the fair market value at the time there was no share-based payment charge as a result of this
scheme. The share awards are subject to continued employment for a period of 18 months from the date of grant although the
employee benefit trust may repurchase any shares awarded at the current market value for good leavers.

28 Retained earnings

2007 2006
Note £’000 £’000

At 1 January (10,209) (15,696)
Retained profit for the financial year 15,336 10,718
Value of employee services attributable to share options 27 622 495
Value of employee services attributable to CEO’s share gift 8 1,969 –
Deferred and current income tax on share options recognised in equity 6,477 2,150
Recognition of put option to acquire minority interest 23 – (6,966)
Deferred tax on the put option 25 47 (910)
Other equity movements (581) –

At 31 December 13,661 (10,209)

29 Share premium account

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

At 1 January 82,589 68,163
Premium on shares issued on initial public offering 73,437 –
Premium on shares issued during the year under the share option schemes 6,488 1,606
Premium on shares issued under employee incentive schemes 6,544 –
Premium on shares issued during the year on exercise of warrants 1,546 1,480
Premium on exchange of convertible loan note into shares 13,679 11,665
Transactional costs of shares issued (4,664) (325)
IFRS 3 reverse acquisition conversion (105,904) –

At 31 December 73,715 82,589
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30 Other reserves

Shares to Warrant Revaluation Translation Other
be issued reserve reserve reserve reserves Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2006 794 690 (183) 506 (2,781) (974)
Transfer to issued share capital (794) (690) – – – (1,484)
Revaluation of investments – – (1,091) – – (1,091)
Actuarial gain on pensions – – – – 6,661 6,661
Deferred tax on pensions and revaluations taken to reserves – – 160 – (1,934) (1,774)
Convertible debt – equity element – – – – 206 206
Deferred tax on convertible debt – – – – 1,178 1,178
Exchange of convertible debt into shares – – – – (1,255) (1,255)
Currency translation differences – – – (216) – (216)

At 31 December 2006 – – (1,114) 290 2,075 1,251
Revaluation of investments – – 1,969 – – 1,969
Actuarial gain on pensions – – – – 9,294 9,294
Deferred tax on pensions and revaluations taken to reserves – – 48 – (2,680) (2,632)
Conversion of loan note into shares – – – – (249) (249)
Currency translation differences – – – 1,399 – 1,399

At 31 December 2007 – – 903 1,689 8,440 11,032

Shares to be issued and warrant reserve
The shares to be issued reserve and warrant reserve related to share warrants over preference shares issued as consideration for
£690,000 in consulting services provided to Xchanging UK Limited, a subsidiary of the Company. The warrants were exercisable
until 1 December 2003, or 180 days after any Public Offering, whichever was earlier, at a strike price of US$3.20. During 2004
and 2005 this exercise period was extended and the warrant was exercised in February 2005. 568,750 shares were issued during
2006 and amounts included within the warrant reserve and shares to be issued were transferred to the share capital and share
premium reserves.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve comprises the fair value adjustments and related tax on the available-for-sale assets held by the Group.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises the exchange adjustments arising from translating the results of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentational currency of Sterling.

Other reserves
The other reserves comprise the amounts taken to equity in respect of retirement benefit obligations and convertible debt.
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31 Movement in shareholders’ equity

Reverse
Share Share Merger acquisition Other Retained Minority Total

capital premium reserve reserve reserves earnings interests equity
Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2006 199 68,163 – – (974) (15,696) 17,226 68,918
Total recognised income 
and expense for the year – – – – 3,580 10,718 7,369 21,667
Share-based payments 27 – – – – – 495 – 495
Deferred and current 
income tax on share options – – – – – 2,150 – 2,150
Put option recognition 
(including tax) 23 – – – – – (7,876) – (7,876)
Minority interests on 
business combination – – – – – – 21 21
Shares issued

– employee share-
based payments 5 1,606 – – – – – 1,611

– exercise of 
warrants 4 1,480 – – (1,484) – – –

– exchange of 
convertible debt 13 11,665 – – (1,255) – – 10,423

Transactional costs of 
shares issued – (325) – – – – – (325)
Convertible debt – 
equity element – – – – 206 – – 206
Deferred tax on 
convertible debt – – – – 1,178 – – 1,178
Dividends paid – – – – – – (12,838) (12,838)

At 31 December 2006 221 82,589 – – 1,251 (10,209) 11,778 85,630
Total recognised income 
and expense for the year – – – – 10,030 15,336 8,691 34,057
Share-based payments

– share options 27 – – – – – 622 – 622
– CEO’s share gift 8 – – – – – 1,969 – 1,969

Deferred and current 
income tax on share options – – – – – 6,477 – 6,477
Buy out of minority interests 35 – – – – – – (3,165) (3,165)
Other equity movements – – – – – (534) 1,047 513
Shares issued

– initial public offering 1,563 73,437 – – – – – 75,000
– employee share-

based payments 472 13,032 – – – – – 13,504
– exercise of warrants 5 1,546 – – – – – 1,551
– conversion of 

loan note 9 13,679 – – (249) – – 13,439
Transactional costs 
of shares issued – (4,664) – – – – – (4,664)
Dividends payable – – – – – – (3,015) (3,015)
IFRS 3 reverse 
acquisition conversion 8,470 (105,904) 409,672 (312,238) – – – –

At 31 December 2007 10,740 73,715 409,672 (312,238) 11,032 13,661 15,336 221,918

Share capital
The balance classed as share capital is the nominal proceeds on issue of the Company’s equity share capital, comprising 5p
ordinary shares.

Share premium
The amount paid to the Company by shareholders over and above the nominal value of the shares issued to them, less the direct
costs of issuing the shares, is classified as share premium.
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31 Movement in shareholders’ equity (continued)
Merger reserve and reverse acquisition reserve
The merger and reverse acquisition reserves arise as a result of the share for share exchange undertaken in advance of the initial
public offering. The merger reserve comprises the excess of the market value of the Xchanging plc shares issued to the Xchanging
BV shareholders over the nominal value of those shares and arises as a result of the application of merger relief under s131 of the
Companies Act 1985. The reverse acquisition reserve consists of the difference between the market value of the Xchanging plc
shares issued to the Xchanging BV shareholders and the total share capital and share premium of the Xchanging BV shares.

Other reserves
Composition of the other reserves is described in note 30.

Retained earnings
These represent the accumulation of the Group’s net profits retained within the business, after the payment of any dividends.

Minority interests
These represent the minority interests’ share in the assets and liabilities of the Enterprise Partnerships.

32 Equity minority interests

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

At 1 January 11,778 17,226
Minority interests’ share of profit for the year 5,189 6,726
Minority interests’ share of net income directly recognised in equity 3,273 787
Other equity movements including currency translation differences 1,276 (144)
Minority interest on business combination – 21
Buy out of minority interests (3,165) –
Dividends payable to minority interests (3,015) (12,838)

At 31 December 15,336 11,778

The profits of the Xchanging Group companies in which the minorities have an interest are not necessarily shared in proportion to the
shareholding interest in that company as each of the individual Enterprise Partnerships has a distinct contractual method of profit share.

33 Financial commitments and contingent liabilities
At 31 December future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Within one year 9,758 10,091
Later than one year and less than five years 33,013 34,434
Later than five years 26,612 34,489

The Group’s most significant leases are those of the premises at Leadenhall Street, London and in Frankfurt. The London lease
expires in July 2021 and is subject to a rent review in July 2009. The German lease expires in May 2013.
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33 Financial commitments and contingent liabilities
The Group is contractually obligated to invest amounts, on behalf of the Enterprise Partnerships it has established, in technology
development and maintenance and in the development of new processes and systems. The total commitment outstanding at 31
December is presented below as analysed by the period in which the commitment falls due:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Within one year 1,015 2,319
One to two years 1,667 8,809
Two to five years 13,970 13,574

16,652 24,702

The Group has a contingent liability in respect of the acquisition of Landmark Business Consulting Limited in 2006, which included
an element of deferred contingent consideration, dependent on the performance of the business over the period to 31 December
2008. The fair value of the maximum contingent future amount payable is £1,501,000, of which £655,000 has been estimated as
probable based on budgeted 2008 performance and included as a non-current financial liability per note 23.

34 Cash generated from operations

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Profit before tax 32,471 24,920
Net finance income (note 11) (800) (763)

Operating profit 31,671 24,157
Adjustment for non-cash items:

– employee share-based payment charges 2,591 495
– depreciation 5,478 4,734
– amortisation of intangibles 8,299 7,541
– amortisation of pre-contract costs 1,216 881
– (profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (25) 45
– write-off of intangibles and pre-contract costs 230 10

49,460 37,863
Changes in working capital (excluding effects of business combinations):

– increase in trade and other receivables (12,610) (8,523)
– increase in payables 15,913 5,477
– (decrease)/increase in pensions (288) 909
– decrease in provisions (2,755) (6,293)

Cash generated from operations 49,720 29,433

35 Acquisition of minority interests
During the year, the Group acquired BAE Systems’ 50% interests in two of the Enterprise Partnerships giving the Group full
ownership of these.

(i)  Xchanging Procurement Services (Holdco) Limited
With effect from 1 January 2007, the Xchanging Group acquired the remaining 50% minority holding in the Xchanging
Procurement Services (Holdco) Limited Enterprise Partnership from BAE Systems plc. This 50% interest was acquired by XUK
Holdco (No. 2) Limited, a subsidiary of Xchanging plc.
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35 Acquisition of minority interests (continued)
Details of the minority interests’ share of the book value of the assets of Xchanging Procurement Services (Holdco) Limited
acquired, fair value of consideration paid and the resulting goodwill are set out below:

£’000

Costs of acquisition – consideration 46,651
Cost of acquisition – fees 459
Minority interests’ share of net assets acquired (2,791)

Goodwill 44,319

(ii)  HR Enterprise Limited
With effect from 1 January 2007, the Xchanging Group acquired the remaining 50% minority holding in the HR Enterprise Limited
Enterprise Partnership from BAE Systems plc. This 50% interest was acquired by HR Holdco Limited, a subsidiary of Xchanging plc.

Details of the minority interests’ share of the book value of the assets of HR Enterprise Limited acquired, fair value of
consideration paid and the resulting goodwill are set out below:

£’000

Costs of acquisition – consideration 10,085
Cost of acquisition – fees 97
Minority interests’ share of net assets acquired (374)

Goodwill 9,808

36 Business combinations
On 1 November 2007, the Group entered into an Enterprise Partnership by acquiring 51% of the equity of Fondsdepot Bank
GmbH, a German bank located in Hof, northern Bavaria. Fondsdepot Bank GmbH specialises in fund administration and provides
the Group with an entry point into this market.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Fair value
£’000

Purchase consideration:
– cash 9,688
– contingent consideration based on the Phoenix provision (see below) (1,281)
– put option liability 9,483
– costs of acquisition 467

Total purchase consideration 18,357
Fair value of net assets acquired (16,912)

Goodwill (note 15) 1,445

The Phoenix provision relates to future payments which Fondsdepot Bank GmbH has to make to the EdW, a federal special fund
aimed at protecting investors, as a result of a securities fraud committed by one of the EdW member companies. The sale and
purchase agreement contains a clause stipulating that Fondsdepot Bank GmbH’s liability regarding the payments to the EdW is
capped at £2,080,000. All other payments will be reimbursed by Allianz Global Investors. These repayments are considered to be
a deferred adjustment to the purchase price and are included within trade and other receivables.

The contingent consideration has been discounted using the effective interest rate at the time of acquisition, being a market rate
of 5.5% and is based on the Group’s estimate of the extent of the repayment from Allianz Global Investors in respect of the
Phoenix matter.

The purchase agreement contains a put option for Allianz Global Investors to sell their shareholding in Fondsdepot Bank GmbH to
the Group for a pre determined fixed amount of £9,483,000 at any time after the fourth anniversary of the contract. The fair
value of this put option liability is included in the purchase consideration.
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36 Business combinations (continued)
Due to the recent closure of the acquisition, the fair values of significant assets and liabilities are provisional and will be finalised within
the next 12 months. The book and estimated fair values of these assets and liabilities as at 1 November 2007 are set out below:

Acquiree’s
carrying amount Fair value

£’000 £’000

Intangible assets (note 16) 9,602 9,602
Property, plant and equipment (note 17) 646 646
Deferred income tax assets – 1,055
Held-for-trading financial assets 267 267
Trade and other receivables 5,728 5,728
Cash 8,498 8,498
Current tax receivables 121 121
Retirement benefit obligation (803) (1,060)
Trade and other payables (3,625) (3,625)
Provisions (524) (3,720)
Deferred income tax liabilities (600) (600)

Net assets acquired 19,310 16,912

The acquired business contributed revenues of £7,660,000 and a net loss after tax of £117,000 to the Group during 2007.

If the above business combination had been made at the beginning of 2007, total Group revenue would have been
£503,706,000 and net profit would have been £14,950,000. These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting
policies and including any finance charges that would have arisen on the put option assuming this was a liability from 1 January
2007, together with the consequential tax effects.

37 Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates a number of pension plans for its qualifying employees. The principal plans are three defined benefit schemes
in the UK and two defined benefit schemes in Germany. With the exception of one scheme in Germany, the defined benefit
schemes are funded and assets are held in separate trustee administered funds. For the Fondsdepot Bank scheme, there is no
separate Contractual Trust Agreement and so there are no assets which can be separately identified as specifically relating to this
pension scheme. The Group also participates in a number of multi-employer defined benefit schemes and operates a number of
defined contribution schemes.

(i)  Defined benefit schemes
The disclosures below relate to post-retirement benefit plans in the UK and Germany which are accounted for as defined benefit
plans in accordance with IAS 19. The valuations used for the IAS 19 disclosures are based on the most recent actuarial valuations
undertaken by independent qualified actuaries and updated to take account of the requirements of IAS19 in order to assess the
funding position of the plans at 31 December each year. Plan assets are shown at the bid value at 31 December each year.

Financial assumptions
The assumptions used by the actuaries are chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due to the long-term
nature of the schemes, may not necessarily be borne out in practice. These assumptions are as follows:

2007 2006

UK Germany UK Germany
% % % %

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries 4.10 2.50 3.80 2.50
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (RPI up to 5%) 3.00 n/a 2.75 n/a
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (fixed 5%) 5.00 n/a 5.00 n/a
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (RPI up to 2.5%) 2.10 n/a 1.95 n/a
Rate of increase in pensions in payment n/a 2.00 n/a 2.00
Rate of increase in deferred pensions 3.10 2.00 2.80 2.00
Discount rate 5.90 5.50 5.10 4.60
Inflation assumption 3.10 2.00 2.80 2.00
Long-term rate of return expected at 31 December n/a 5.00 n/a 5.00

– equities 8.00 n/a 8.00 n/a
– gilts 4.50 n/a 4.50 n/a
– bonds 5.90 n/a 5.10 n/a

Expected return on plan assets 5.50 – 6.58 5.00 6.19 – 6.76 5.00
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37 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Group considered the current level of expected
returns on risk free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other
asset classes in which the portfolio is invested and the expectations for future returns of each asset class. The expected return for
each asset class was then weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of return
assumption for the portfolio.

The post-retirement mortality tables used for the schemes are based on country specific mortality tables, namely the PA 00 series
in the UK (based on year of birth with a scaling factor of 130% and with allowance for medium cohort improvements) and
Richtaffeln 2005 G, Heubeck-Richtaffeln GmbH, Köln 2005 in Germany. The table below illustrates life expectancy assumptions 
at age 65 for current pensioners and future pensioners aged 65 at the accounting date:

2007 2006

UK Germany UK Germany
years years years years

Male current pensioner 19.7 17.4 19.4 17.2
Male future pensioner 20.9 23.7 20.5 23.6

Amounts recognised in the financial statements in respect of the defined benefit pension schemes
The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet is:

2007 2006

UK Germany Total UK Germany Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Equities 41,483 2,301 43,784 38,588 3,857 42,445
Bonds and gilts 33,135 38,409 71,544 29,144 32,423 61,567
Property 3,658 – 3,658 3,913 – 3,913
Cash 485 7,240 7,725 76 10,664 10,740
Other 484 – 484 494 792 1,286

Fair value of plan assets 79,245 47,950 127,195 72,215 47,736 119,951
Present value of funded obligations (85,573) (50,300) (135,873) (91,602) (50,250) (141,852)

Net deficit recognised in the balance sheet (6,328) (2,350) (8,678) (19,387) (2,514) (21,901)

The net deficit of £8,678,000 at 31 December 2007 comprises £6,158,000 retirement benefit asset in respect of one of the
schemes and £14,836,000 retirement benefit obligation.

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

2007 2006

UK Germany Total UK Germany Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current service cost (1,711) (1,018) (2,729) (1,837) (1,144) (2,981)
Interest cost (4,746) (2,398) (7,144) (4,617) (2,148) (6,765)
Expected return on plan assets 4,715 2,325 7,040 3,746 2,522 6,268

Total included within staff costs (note 10) (1,742) (1,091) (2,833) (2,708) (770) (3,478)

Included within:
– cost of sales (1,711) (1,018) (2,729) (1,837) (1,144) (2,981)
– finance costs (31) (73) (104) (871) 374 (497)

(1,742) (1,091) (2,833) (2,708) (770) (3,478)
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37 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
The total amounts for the defined benefit schemes credited/(charged) to the statement of recognised income and expense are 
as follows:

2007 2006

UK Germany Total UK Germany Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Actuarial gains/(losses) 11,541 2,560 14,101 9,173 (1,156) 8,017
Exchange adjustments – (245) (245) – 22 22

11,541 2,315 13,856 9,173 (1,134) 8,039

Cumulative amounts recognised 16,151 2,241 18,392 4,610 (74) 4,536

Analysis of the movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2007 2006

UK Germany Total UK Germany Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present value at 1 January (91,602) (50,250) (141,852) (93,260) (51,586) (144,846)
Acquired in the year – (1,060) (1,060) – – –
Current service cost (1,711) (1,018) (2,729) (1,837) (1,144) (2,981)
Interest cost (4,746) (2,398) (7,144) (4,617) (2,148) (6,765)
Actuarial gains/(losses) 11,699 7,016 18,715 7,180 2,206 9,386
Plan participants contributions paid (641) – (641) (534) 48 (486)
Benefits paid 1,428 1,853 3,281 1,466 1,232 2,698
Exchange adjustments – (4,443) (4,443) – 1,142 1,142

Present value at 31 December (85,573) (50,300) (135,873) (91,602) (50,250) (141,852)

Analysis of the movement in the fair value of the plan assets

2007 2006

UK Germany Total UK Germany Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present value at 1 January 72,215 47,736 119,951 65,406 50,928 116,334
Expected return on plan assets 4,715 2,325 7,040 3,746 2,522 6,268
Actuarial gains/(losses) (158) (4,456) (4,614) 1,993 (3,362) (1,369)
Employer contributions paid 3,260 – 3,260 2,002 – 2,002
Plan participants contributions paid 641 – 641 534 – 534
Benefits paid (1,428) (1,853) (3,281) (1,466) (1,232) (2,698)
Exchange adjustments – 4,198 4,198 – (1,120) (1,120)

Present value at 31 December 79,245 47,950 127,195 72,215 47,736 119,951

Actual return on plan assets 4,557 (2,131) 2,426 5,739 (840) 4,899
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37 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
Historical information of experience adjustments on plan assets and liabilities
The historical information below has been presented in relation to the schemes from the later of the Group’s date of transition to
IFRS, 1 January 2003, or the date the scheme was acquired by the Group.

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

UK
Fair value of scheme assets (£’000) 79,245 72,215 65,406 56,002 24,601
Present value of defined benefit obligation (£’000) (85,573) (91,602) (93,260) (83,460) (29,879)

Net liability recognised (£’000) (6,328) (19,387) (27,854) (27,458) (5,278)
Experience adjustments on plan assets:

– amount (£’000) (158) 1,993 4,943 1,851 1,938
– percentage of scheme assets 0% 3% 8% 3% 8%

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities:
– amount (£’000) 3,976 234 1,122 (237) (285)
– percentage of scheme liabilities 5% 0% 1% 0% (1%)

Germany
Fair value of scheme assets (£’000) 47,950 47,736 50,928 45,286 –
Present value of defined benefit obligation (£’000) (50,300) (50,250) (51,586) (45,713) –

Net liability recognised (£’000) (2,350) (2,514) (658) (427) –
Experience adjustments on plan assets:

– amount (£’000) (4,456) (3,362) 4,717 2,894 –
– percentage of scheme assets (9%) (7%) 9% 6% –

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities:
– amount (£’000) 1,752 200 – – –
– percentage of scheme liabilities 3% 0% – – –

Total
Fair value of scheme assets (£’000) 127,195 119,951 116,334 101,288 24,601
Present value of defined benefit obligation (£’000) (135,873) (141,852) (144,846) (129,173) (29,879)

Net liability recognised (£’000) (8,678) (21,901) (28,512) (27,885) (5,278)
Experience adjustments on plan assets:

– amount (£’000) (4,614) (1,369) 9,660 4,745 1,938
– percentage of scheme assets (4%) (1%) 8% 5% 8%

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities:
– amount (£’000) 5,728 434 1,122 (237) (285)
– percentage of scheme liabilities 4% 0% 1% 0% (1%)

It is expected that the contributions to the schemes during 2008 will be £3,726,000 for the UK schemes and £nil for the Germany
schemes. The actuarial valuations for two of the Group’s UK defined benefit schemes are currently in progress and future
contribution requirements to these schemes are due to be agreed some time in 2008.

(ii) BAE Systems defined benefit schemes
The Group also participates in a number of multi-employer defined benefit schemes run for the employees of BAE Systems.

The terms on which the Group participates in these schemes were set in commercial agreements reached with BAE Systems during
2006. Under the terms of these agreements, the contributions payable by the Group represent the cost of accrual of future service
benefits and the Group’s share of the deficit contributions made by BAE Systems to the schemes only (not including any one-off
contributions made by BAE Systems during 2006). The contributions are expressed as fixed percentages of pensionable payroll. The
Group’s contribution rates to the schemes are contractually fixed and will only be affected by changes to the cost of accrual of future
service benefits, as determined at the triennial valuations of the schemes. The Group’s contribution rates are not affected by any future
changes in the past service position of the schemes, relating to past service of its own employees or other members of the scheme.

It is not possible to identify the Group’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the schemes on a consistent and
reasonable basis. Accordingly, the Group accounts for contributions to the schemes as if they were defined contribution schemes
under IAS 19.
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37 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
The pension cost that was charged in the income statement
relating to current year contributions was £994,000 (2006:
£1,279,000).

(iii)  The Corporation of Lloyd’s pension schemes
Until 30 June 2007 the Group participated in a defined benefit
scheme operated by the Corporation of Lloyd’s (Lloyd’s). 
The terms on which the Group participated in the scheme 
were set in commercial agreements reached with Lloyd’s during
2001. The Group’s contribution rate was set in relation to the
cost of accrual of future service benefits only. No past service
costs were suffered by the Group as these were borne by
Lloyd’s. The Group’s contributions were not affected by any
surplus or deficit in the scheme relating to the past service of
its own employees or other members of the scheme.

Also, it was not possible to identify the Group’s share of the
underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent
and reasonable basis. Accordingly, the Group accounted for
contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution
scheme under IAS 19.

The Group’s participation in the Lloyd’s defined benefit scheme
ceased from 30 June 2007. No final payment to the Lloyd’s
scheme was required by the Group on exit. The Group has
implemented its own replacement defined benefit scheme with
effect from 1 July 2007 and the disclosures in relation to this
scheme are included in the disclosures for the UK defined
benefit schemes. There was no transfer of past service liabilities
into the new defined benefit scheme.

The Group also participates in defined contribution schemes
operated by Lloyd’s and contributions to these are still
continuing. The pension cost that was charged in the income
statement for the year relating to current year contributions to
the Lloyd’s pension schemes was £1,394,000 (2006:
£1,439,000).

(iv)  Xchanging Group defined contribution schemes
The Group also operates a number of defined contribution
schemes for the employees of various subsidiary companies of
Xchanging plc. Pension costs for the Group that were charged
to the income statement for the year relating to current year
contributions were £4,016,000 (2006: £2,366,000).

38 IFRS 7 sensitivity analysis
The Group has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures
the estimated change to the income statement and equity of
either an instantaneous increase or decrease of 1% (100 basis
points) in market interest rates or a 10% strengthening or
weakening in Sterling against all material currencies (Euro, US
Dollars and Rupees) for each class of financial instrument with 
all other variables remaining constant. The sensitivity analysis
excludes the impact of market risks on net post-employment
benefit obligations. This analysis is for illustrative purposes only, as
in practice market rates rarely change in isolation. The sensitivity
analysis is based on the following assumptions:

Interest rate risks
• Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income

or expense of variable interest financial instruments
• Changes in market interest rates only affect interest income

or expense in relation to financial instruments with fixed
interest rates if these are recognised at their fair value

Under these assumptions, a 1% increase or decrease in market
interest rates for all material currencies in which the Group had
cash, borrowings and derivative financial instruments would
increase or decrease profit before tax by approximately
£500,000 (2006: £600,000). The impact on equity before tax
would be £400,000 (2006: £300,000) if the rate increased or
£800,000 (2006: £300,000) if the rate decreased.

Foreign exchange risks
• Material entities reporting in foreign currencies and material

foreign currency financial instruments within Sterling
reporting entities have been included

With a 10% strengthening or weakening of Sterling against all
material currencies (Euro, US Dollars and Rupees), profit before
tax would have decreased by approximately £300,000 (2006:
£200,000) or increased by £400,000 (2006: £300,000),
respectively, and equity would have decreased by approximately
£3,000,000 (2006: £1,500,000) or increased by £3,700,000
(2006: £1,800,000), respectively.

Fair value sensitivity analysis
This fair value sensitivity analysis expresses information about
changes in fair values of financial instruments held at the year
end. The amounts generated from the sensitivity analysis are
forward-looking estimates of market risk assuming certain
adverse market conditions occur. Actual results in the future
may vary materially from those projected results due to
developments in the global financial markets which may cause
fluctuations in interest and exchange rates to vary from
hypothetical amounts disclosed in the following table, which
therefore should not be considered a projection of likely future
events and losses.
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38 IFRS 7 sensitivity analysis (continued)
The estimated changes in fair values of financial liabilities which affect equity are set out in the table below:

Fair value changes arising from:

Carrying value at 1% fall in 10% weakening
31 December interest rates in Sterling

£’000 £’000 £’000

2007
Borrowings (note 23) (1,511) – (47)
Non-current financial liabilities (note 23) (17,865) (777) (1,127)

2006
Borrowings (note 23) (3,270) – –
Non-current financial liabilities (note 23) (20,182) (317) –

Credit risk
Details of the Group’s credit risk policies and exposures are presented in note 3. An analysis of all debts which are past due is
included in note 20.

Price risk
The Group’s investments, classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are publicly traded. A 5% increase or decrease in the
market value of the Group’s investments would have a £1,200,000 impact on equity (2006: £1,000,000) and no impact on the
income statement.

39 Related party transactions
The following companies are considered to be related parties of the Group as they hold minority shareholdings in a number of 
the subsidiaries of Xchanging plc.

The Corporation of Lloyd’s held a 25% interest in Ins-sure Holdings Limited and a 50% interest in Xchanging Claims Services
Limited for the full year ended 31 December 2007. Some of the directors of Xchanging Claims Services Limited are employees 
of the Corporation of Lloyd’s. The emoluments of these directors were borne by the Corporation of Lloyd’s.

The International Underwriting Association held a 25% interest in Ins-sure Holdings Limited for the full year ended 31 December 2007.

Deutsche Bank AG held a 44% interest in Xchanging etb GmbH for the full year ended 31 December 2007. Some of the directors of
Xchanging etb GmbH are employees of Deutsche Bank AG. The emoluments of these directors were borne by Deutsche Bank AG.

Aon Limited held a 50% interest in Xchanging Broking Services Limited for the full year ended 31 December 2007. Some of the
directors of Xchanging Broking Services Limited are employees of Aon Limited. The emoluments of these directors were borne by
Aon Limited.

Allianz Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH held a 49% interest in Fondsdepot Bank GmbH from 1 November 2007. 

BAE Systems plc previously held a 50% interest in two of the Group’s Enterprise Partnerships, Xchanging Procurement Services
(Holdco) Limited and HR Enterprise Limited. These interests were bought by the Xchanging Group on 1 January 2007 and 
BAE Systems plc is no longer a related party of the Group. In 2006, the Group made sales to BAE Systems plc of £129,001,000,
with £6,181,000 receivables and £6,880,000 payables at 31 December 2006 and incurred costs of £1,259,000 with related
payables at the year end of £154,000.
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39 Related party transactions (continued)
A description of the nature of the services provided to/from these companies by/to the Group and the amount receivable /
(payable) in respect of each at 31 December, are set out in the table below:

Year end 
Sales/(purchases) receivables/(payables)

2007 2006 2007 2006
Services provided by/to the Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Securities processing services 68,684 66,330 6,103 1,141
Processing, expert and data services 35,642 13,160 1,929 363
Property charges 1,097 1,316 277 187
IT costs, premises, divisional corporate charges and other 
services in support of operating activities (27,654) (29,507) (3,318) (3,818)
Operating systems, development, premises and other 
services in support of operating activities (486) (1,117) (134) (319)
Desktop, hosting, telecommunications, accommodation 
and processing services (6,127) (2,802) (961) (2,202)
Current accounts – – 760 1,804

By virtue of a significant shareholding, giving right of representation on the Board, General Atlantic LLC is a related party of the
Group. Until 30 April 2007, General Atlantic LLC was the holder of a £15,000,000 non-interest bearing convertible loan note
issued following the acquisition of the RebusIS group. Further details of this loan are provided in note 23.

In the prior year, General Atlantic LLC had provided a £10,000,000 loan to the Group. This loan bore interest at 1.71% and was
exchanged for 1,895,020 Xchanging BV convertible preference class E shares in May 2006 at a price of £5.50 per share, which
was considered to be the fair value of the shares at the time.

Transactions with Directors and key management
The compensation disclosure below relates to the Xchanging plc Directors and other key senior managers within the Group, who
constitute the people having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the Group’s activities.

2007 2006
Key management compensation (including Directors) £’000 £’000

Short-term employee benefits 6,275 4,504
Post-employment benefits 82 83
Termination benefits – 410
Share-based payments 189 284

6,546 5,281

Further information regarding Xchanging plc Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on 
pages 44 to 52.

The total gains made by Directors during the year on the exercise of share options was £646,000 (2006: £429,000).

During the year loans were provided by the Xchanging BV Employee Benefit Trust to a number of employees including Directors
and key management personnel to enable them to purchase shares in Xchanging BV (these shares have been subsequently
exchanged for shares in Xchanging plc). The loans are non-interest bearing and become repayable on the earlier of the cessation
of employment, transfer or disposal of the shares, acceptance of another loan from the Group to refinance the shares and 
31 December 2011. The Xchanging BV Employee Benefit Trust has a call option over the shares until the loans are repaid in full.
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39 Related party transactions (continued)
The balances due from the Directors and key management and the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements are:

Balance Carrying
outstanding 2007 amount 2007

£’000 £’000

S Beard 1,590 1,531
S Bowen 265 255
A Browne 663 638
C Buesnel 530 510
R Houghton 663 638
M Margetts 398 383
M Pitt 424 408
D Rich-Jones 1,325 1,276
G Whitaker 199 191

6,057 5,830

40 Events after the balance sheet date
On 1 January 2008 a company within the Xchanging group, XUK Holdco (No. 2) Ltd, acquired 100% of the equity of Mercuris SA, 
a procurement services provider based in Paris. The total consideration for the acquisition was £5,201,000 with additional estimated
deferred contingent consideration to be paid in Euros of £1,376,000. Costs directly attributable to the acquisition were £318,000.

Details of the net assets acquired and the goodwill are as follows:

Fair value
£’000

Purchase consideration:
– cash 5,201
– contingent consideration 1,376
– costs of acquisition 318

Total purchase consideration 6,895
Fair value of net assets acquired (see below) (253)

Goodwill 6,642

Due to the recent closure of this acquisition, the fair values have been assumed to equal the book values of the significant assets
and liabilities. These fair values are provisional and will be subjected to formal reviews over the course of the year. At this stage
the fair values are as follows:

Book and
fair value

£’000

Property, plant and equipment 28
Trade and other receivables 533
Cash and cash equivalents 628
Trade and other payables (846)
Current income tax liabilities (90)

Net assets acquired 253
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Xchanging plc (Group)

We have audited the Group financial statements of Xchanging
plc for the year ended 31 December 2007 which comprise the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated balance
sheet, the consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated
statement of recognised income and expense and the related
notes. These Group financial statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial
statements of Xchanging plc for the year ended 31 December
2007 and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report that is described as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union are set out in the Statement of
Directors’ Responsibilities within the Directors’ Report.

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This
report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only
for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with
Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group
financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the
Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the Group financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit, or if information specified by law regarding
Director’s remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance statement
reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions 
of the Combined Code 2006 specified for our review by the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report
if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the
Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and 
control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group
financial statements. The other information comprises only 
the Directors’ Report, the Chairman’s statement, the Chief
Executive Officer’s review, the operating and financial review
and the Corporate Governance statement. We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
Group financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend
to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
Group financial statements. It also includes an assessment of
the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors
in the preparation of the Group financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements are
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud 
or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we 
also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the Group financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:
• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in

accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2007
and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

• the Group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the Group financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
25 February 2008
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Company balance sheet
as at 31 December 2007

2007 2006
Note £’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Investments 5 10,188 –

10,188 –

Current assets
Debtors due within one year 6 64,426 50
Cash at bank and in hand 30,252 –

94,678 50
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 7 (6,302) –

Net current assets 88,376 50

Net assets 98,564 50

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 8 10,740 50
Share premium account 9 73,715 –
Profit and loss reserve 9 14,109 –

Total shareholders’ funds 10 98,564 50

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 February 2008 and signed on its behalf by:

D W Andrews R A H Houghton
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer



106 C o m p a n y  c a s h  f l o w  s t a t e m e n t

X C H A N G I N G  P L C

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Net cash from operating activities 1,071 –

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of minority interests (47,710) –
Interest received 1,152 –

Net cash used in investing activities (46,558) –

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares 80,403 –
Transaction costs of shares issued (4,664) –

Net cash from financing activities 75,739 –

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 30,252 –
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January – –

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 30,252 –

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash inflow from operating activities

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Operating loss from continuing activities (2,575) –
Share-based payment expense 1,969 –
Increase in debtors (4,165) –
Increase in creditors 5,842 –

Net cash inflow from continuing operating activities 1,071 –

Analysis of net funds

At 1 January At 31 December
2007 Cash flow 2007
£’000 £’000 £’000

Cash – 30,252 30,252

Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007
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Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1 Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985 and applicable Accounting
Standards in the United Kingdom. A summary of the more
important accounting policies, which have been applied
consistently with the prior year, is set out below.

No profit and loss account or statement of total recognised
gains and losses has been presented by the Company as
permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available
to parent companies under paragraph 3C of FRS 25 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” not to provide the
information otherwise required by paragraphs 51 to 95 of the
standard, as the Group’s consolidated financial statements, in
which the Company is included, provides equivalent disclosures
under IFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures”.

(i)  Basis of accounting
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the
historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable
accounting standards.

(ii)  Going concern
The Directors believe that preparing the financial statements
on the going concern basis is appropriate based on projections
for the foreseeable future.

(iii)  Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less any provision for
impairment. Impairment reviews are conducted at the end of
the first full year following acquisition and thereafter where
indicators of impairment are present.

(iv)  Dividend income
Dividends receivable from the Company’s investments in
subsidiary undertakings are recognised when the Company’s
right to receive payment is established.

(v)  Debtors
Debtors are recognised at their nominal value less any
provision for impairment.

(vi)  Share-based payments
The Company operates a number of equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any 
non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and
sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected to

vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the profit and loss account, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

Equity settled share-based compensation plans that are made
available to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries are
treated as increases in equity over the vesting period of the
award, with a corresponding increase in the Company’s
investments in subsidiaries, based on an estimate of the
number of shares that will eventually vest.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and share premium when the options are exercised.

(vii)  Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available
in FRS 8 not to disclose transactions with related parties that
are more than 90% owned by the Group.

2 Directors’ emoluments
Disclosure of the Directors’ remuneration is contained in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 52 and in 
note 39 of the Group financial statements.

3 Auditors’ remuneration
The audit fees payable in relation to the audit of the financial
statements of the Company are £166,000 (2006: £nil). Fees paid
to the auditor and its associates for non-audit services to the
Company itself are not disclosed in the individual financial
statements of the Company because Group financial statements
are prepared which disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

4 Employees
The Company has no employees.

5 Investments
On 23 April 2007, the Company acquired the entire issued
share capital of Xchanging Holdings Ltd for £1. Xchanging
Holdings Ltd had not traded since its incorporation and the
Company acquired its shares at nominal value.

With effect from 30 April 2007, the Company acquired the entire
issued share capital of Xchanging BV in a share for share
exchange by issuing new shares in Xchanging plc. The investment
was recorded at the nominal value of the Xchanging plc shares as
issued to the Xchanging BV shareholders.

On 30 July 2007, Xchanging plc transferred the entire issued
share capital of Xchanging BV to Xchanging Holdings Ltd in
exchange for an issue of £400 million new ordinary shares in
Xchanging Holdings Ltd.
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Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007 – continued

5 Investments (continued)

£’000

At 1 January 2007 –
Group reconstructions 8,716
Increase in investments in subsidiaries – share-based payments 1,472

At 31 December 2007 10,188

Investments in Group undertakings are stated at cost. As permitted by section 133 of the Companies Act 1985, cost is the
aggregate of the nominal value of the relevant number of the company’s shares and the fair value of any other consideration
given to acquire the share capital of the subsidiary undertakings.

The Company has the following principal subsidiary undertakings:

Effective interest
and proportion

Name Country of incorporation Principal activity of equity held

Xchanging Holdings Limited* England and Wales Financing company 100%
Xchanging BV Netherlands Intermediate holding company 100%
Xchanging UK Limited England and Wales Management services to 100%

Group companies
Xchanging Claims Services Limited England and Wales Intermediate holding company 50%
Ins-sure Holdings Limited England and Wales Intermediate holding company 50%
Xchanging Procurement Services (Holdco) Limited England and Wales Intermediate holding company 100%
HR Enterprise Limited England and Wales Intermediate holding company 100%
Ins-sure Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
London Processing Centre Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
LPSO Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
LCO Non-Marine and Aviation Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
LCO Marine Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
Xchanging Procurement Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging HR Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging transaction bank GmbH Germany Business processing services 51%
Fondsdepot Bank GmbH Germany Business processing services 51%
Xchanging Broking Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
Xchanging Global Insurance Solutions Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Systems & Services Inc USA Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Technology Services India Private Limited India Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Insurance Professional Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Landmark Business Consulting Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Resourcing Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Ferguson Snell and Associates Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging GmbH Germany Management services 100%
Xchanging SAS France Management services 100%
Xchanging Pty Limited Australia Management services 100%

* Held directly

Entities in which the Company holds 50% of the equity share capital are treated as subsidiaries because the Company has overall
operational and financial control. 

6 Debtors due within one year

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 64,283 –
Amounts owed by related parties (note 12) – 50
Other debtors 141 –
Prepayments and accrued income 2 –

64,426 50
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6 Debtors due within one year (continued)
Included within amounts owed by Group undertakings above, is an unsecured loan to XUK Holdco (No. 2) Ltd of £47,690,000
which bears interest at 2.5% above LIBOR, with no fixed date of repayment.

All other amounts are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed dates of repayment.

7 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 5,468 –
Trade creditors 202 –
Corporate tax creditors 460 –
Accruals and deferred income 172 –

6,302 –

All amounts owed to Group undertakings included in the above balance are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed date 
of repayment.

8 Called up share capital

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Authorised
350,000,000 ordinary shares of 5p each
(2006: 50,000 ordinary shares of £1 each) 17,500 50
Nil redeemable preference shares of £1 each
(2006: 49,998 redeemable preference shares of £1 each) – 50

17,500 100

Allotted, called up and fully paid
214,799,304 ordinary shares of 5p each
(2006: 2 ordinary shares of £1 each) 10,740 –
Nil redeemable preference shares of £1 each
(2006: 49,998 redeemable preference shares of £1 each) – 50

10,740 50

Authorised share capital
At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 23 April 2007 the shareholders resolved that:
• each issued and unissued ordinary share of £1 each be subdivided into 20 ordinary shares of 5p each
• the authorised share capital of the Company be increased to £17,500,000 by the creation of an additional 349,000,000 ordinary

shares of 5p each and the cancellation of the redeemable preference shares of £1 each, subject to them being redeemed.

Issued share capital – ordinary shares
Following the resolutions at the Annual General Meeting on 23 April 2007, the 2 ordinary shares in issue were divided into 
40 shares of 5p each. 174,328,368 additional shares were issued in exchange for the entire share capital of Xchanging BV.
31,250,000 shares were issued for cash on the initial public offering. Subsequent to the initial public offering, share options were
exercised over 9,220,896 shares.

Issued share capital – redeemable preference shares
Prior to the initial public offering the 49,998 redeemable preference shares were redeemed at par.

Share rights
Prior to the cancellation of the redeemable preference shares, the ordinary shares were subordinate to the redeemable preference
shares in event of liquidation or winding up. The redeemable preference shares did not carry any rights to dividends or voting rights.
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9 Reserves

Profit and loss
Share premium reserve

£’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007 – –
Premium on shares issued under initial public offering 73,437 –
Premium on shares issued during the year under share option schemes 4,942 –
Transaction costs of shares issued (4,664) –
Profit for the year – 10,669
Value of employee services attributable to share options – 3,440

At 31 December 2007 73,715 14,109

The Company’s profit for the year was £10,669,000 (2006: £nil).

10 Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Opening equity shareholders’ funds 50 –
Issue of shares in exchange for cash 80,403 50
Issue of shares in exchange for Xchanging BV shares 8,716 –
Transaction costs of shares issued (4,664) –
Redemption of preference shares (50) –
Profit for the year 10,669 –
Value of employee services attributable to share options 3,440 –

Closing equity shareholders’ funds 98,564 50

11 Contingent liabilities
A subsidiary of the Company has a credit agreement of £35,000,000 with Lloyds TSB Bank plc, dated 1 March 2007 in respect 
of which Xchanging plc is a guarantor. This consists of a £25,000,000 multi-currency term loan facility, expiring on 30 June 2010
and a £10,000,000 multi-currency revolving credit facility, expiring at the earlier of 30 June 2011 or cancellation of all facilities by
the Company. Utilisations bear interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR, or in the case of drawings in Euro, EURIBOR, plus a
margin and any mandatory costs. As at the year end, £14,700,000 of the loan facility had been utilised by the Group.

12 Related party disclosures

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Amounts owed by related parties – 50

General Atlantic Partners (Bermuda) L.P., which was a related party in 2006 by virtue of its shareholdings in the Company,
provided an unconditional undertaking to pay up in full the amounts owed on its shares being £50,000. In advance of the initial
public offering the preference shares were redeemed and the debt extinguished.

Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007 – continued
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Xchanging plc (Company)

We have audited the parent company financial statements of
Xchanging plc for the year ended 31 December 2007 which
comprise the balance sheet, the cash flow statement and the
related notes. These parent company financial statements have
been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.
We have also audited the information in the Directors’
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements
of Xchanging plc for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual 
Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set 
out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities within 
the Directors’ Report.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared
for and only for the Company’s members as a body in
accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and
for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, 
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent
company financial statements give a true and fair view and
whether the parent company financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Directors' Report is consistent with
the parent company financial statements. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company
has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not
received all the information and explanations we require 
for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding
Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained within the Annual
Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited
parent company financial statements. The other information
comprises only the Chairman’s statement, the Chief Executive
Officer’s review, the operating and financial review, the

Corporate Governance statement, the unaudited part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Directors’ Report. 
We consider the implications for our report if we become
aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the parent company financial statements.
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
parent company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes
an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments
made by the Directors in the preparation of the parent
company financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:
• the financial statements give a true and fair view, in

accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, of the state of the Company’s affairs
as at 31 December 2007 and of the Company’s cash flows
for the year then ended;

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the parent company financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
25 February 2008
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Shareholder information

Share price information
The Company’s share price can be found on the Company’s
corporate website at www.xchanging.com within the Investor
Relations section.

Shares online
Equiniti provides a range of shareholder information online.
Shareholders can access their shareholdings and find advice 
on transferring shares and updating their details on
www.shareview.co.uk

ShareGift
Shareholders who only have a small number of shares whose
value makes it uneconomic to sell them may wish to consider
donating them to charity through ShareGift, the independent
charity share donation scheme (registered charity no. 1052686).
Further information about ShareGift may be obtained from
Equiniti or from ShareGift on +44 (0)20 7337 0501 or at

www.sharegift.org. There are no implications for capital gains
tax purposes (no gain or loss) on gifts of shares to charity and 
it is also possible to claim income tax relief.

Shareholder enquiries
For queries concerning shareholdings, contact Xchanging’s
registrars, Equiniti Registrars, on 0871 384 2030, or at the
address below.

Shareholders who have any questions about the Group’s 
business should contact Xchanging’s investor relations team on 
+44 (0) 20 7780 6999 or email investor.relations@xchanging.com

Shareholder fraud
Fraud is on the increase and many shareholders are targeted
every year. If you have any reason to believe that you may have
been the target of a fraud, or attempted fraud in relation to your
shareholding, please contact Equiniti Registrars immediately.

Registrars
Equiniti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex BN99 6DA
United Kingdom

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1 Embankment Place
London WC2N 6RH
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7583 5000
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7212 4176

Bankers
Lloyds TSB Bank plc
City Office Gillingham
PO Box 72
Bailey Drive
Gillingham Business Park
Kent ME8 0LS
United Kingdom

Solicitors
Clifford Chance LLP
10 Upper Bank Street
London E14 5JJ
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7006 1000
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7006 5555

Corporate brokers
Citigroup
Citigroup Centre
Canada Square
London E14 5LB
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7986 4000
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7986 2266

UBS
1 Finsbury Avenue
London EC2M 2PP
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7567 8000
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7568 4800

Financial public relations
Tulchan Communications Group Ltd
6th Floor, Kildare House
3 Dorset Rise
London EC4Y 8EN
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7353 4200
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7353 4201

Company registration number
5819018

Company’s Registered Office
Xchanging plc
13 Hanover Square
London W1S 1HN
United Kingdom

Financial calendar
30 April 2008 – Ex-dividend date
02 May 2008 – Record date
22 May 2008 – Annual General Meeting
30 May 2008 – Final dividend payment
30 June 2008 – Half year end
July/August 2008 – Announcement 
of half year results
31 December 2008 – Financial year end

You can find out more information
about Xchanging on our website
www.xchanging.com



Highlights of the year

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  &  A C C O U N T S  2 0 0 7X C H A N G I N G  P L C

H i g h l i g h t s  o f  t h e  y e a rH i g h l i g h t s  o f  t h e  y e a r

March 2007

Buy out of BAE Systems’ 50%
share in partnerships
Xchanging buys out BAE Systems’
share in the HR and procurement
business processing partnerships for
£57 million – proving the unique
Enterprise Partnership value 
creation lifecycle.

March 2007

The Oxford and Cambridge Boat Race
Xchanging renewed its commitment to
sponsor this world-class event for five 
more years. The intense rivalry and will 
to win captures the attention of millions
around the world.

November 2007

Xchanging Insurance Market Conference
Xchanging hosted the London Market’s
premier insurance conference for the seventh
consecutive year. Innovation to achieve 
world-class business processing is the
continuing theme.

April 2007

Xchanging floats and enters FTSE 250
Xchanging officially listed on the London Stock
Exchange in April 2007 and entered the 
FTSE 250 in June. Now we move forward with
the strength of public ownership backing us.

We have come a long way in eight years. Even in
our short history of rapid growth, 2007 has been
an exciting year for Xchanging…

November 2007

Partnership deal with Allianz Global
Investors
Xchanging won a €400 million, eight-year
contract to deliver business processing
services and cost savings to the German
business of one of the world’s top five asset
management groups.

This document is printed on Era Silk which contains 50% de-inked genuine
UK waste and 50% FSC certified virgin fibre which promotes the use of

timber/pulp from well-managed forests. The pulp is bleached using an ECF
(Elemental Chlorine Free) process, accordant with ISO 14001 standards.

CTD is an FSC and ISO 14001 certified printer that uses vegetable inks and
alcohol free printing processes.

Designed and produced by salterbaxter
Printed by CTD
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a fast growing, international, 
pure play BPO company with 
blue chip customers.
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